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AR tsE AHE

We are a leading equipment rental service company in Hong Kong with the capability of
providing a wide range of construction, E&M engineering and event and entertainment
equipment, equipment rental-related solutions and value-added services to our customers. We
serve a diverse range of customers including leading construction and E&M engineering
companies and large scale event and entertainment companies. Our rental equipment principally
covers power and energy equipment, high-reach equipment, material handling equipment and
other equipment (include lifting, earth moving, foundation, road and transportation, tunneling,
demolition and small equipment).
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CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT

Dear Shareholders,

On behalf of the board of Directors (the “Board”) of AP Rentals Holdings
Limited ("AP Rentals” or the "Company”), | hereby present the audited
consolidated annual results of the Company and its subsidiaries
(collectively the “Group”) for the year ended 31 March 2022 (the “Year” or
“FY2022").

For FY2022, the Group had a total revenue of approximately HK$134.8
million, representing a decrease of approximately 9.2% as compared to
that of approximately HK$148.5 million for the year ended 31 March 2021
("FY2021"). The Group’s loss for the Year decreased from approximately
HKS$5.7 million in FY2021 to loss for the Year of approximately HKS$4.5
million in FY2022. Please refer to the section headed “Management
Discussion and Analysis” (‘MD&A") for details of the Group’s business
performance for FY2022. The Environmental, Social and Governance
Report, which summarizes our effort and performance in promoting and
strengthening corporate social responsibility among the Group during the
Year, will be published separately before the end of August 2022.

It has been another challenging year for the Group as market sentiments
were still poor due to the outbreak of Covid-19 pandemic in Hong Kong
since January 2022. In FY2022, the overall market sentiment of the
construction industry in Hong Kong was still poor and price competition
was keen for the construction and its related businesses. Due to the
outbreak of Covid-19 pandemic in Hong Kong, the operating days of the
work sites of the customers in Hong Kong decreased. All the event business
in Hong Kong ceased in January 2022 and the Group lost those profitable
business.
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CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT
T EEE

On the other hand, the Covid-19 pandemic has also provided the Group
with new business orders in Hong Kong in relation to the construction and
the operation of the community isolation facilities, which are built and
operated by the Hong Kong government with the central government’s
support due to Covid-19 pandemic.

Other than the Covid-19 pandemic issue, the overall demand on leasing
equipment from construction industry decreased mainly due to the
decrease in demand of the third runway and the improvement works of
the Hong Kong International Airport (the “Third Runway &
Improvements’). However, the Group expected that it was only the
period of transition of the core parts of the construction work and the
demand from the Third Runway & Improvements will pick up again when
the major above ground work gradually commences in the year ending 31
March 2023 ("FY2023").

For the trading business and disposal of leasing equipment, the Group
continuously devoted more effort on selling of machinery and disposing of
the leasing equipment, which had increased the sale proceeds in FY2022.
The increase in sale proceeds has enabled the Group to make more
investment of leasing equipment in late FY2022, which will fit into the
market in the coming FY2023.

However, the Group still made investment in advanced and specific
equipment in FY2022, including but not limited to the generators for its
newly introduced Automatic Power System (“APS”) in the Smart System in
Mobile Electricity ("SSME"), in FY2022 (approximately HK$66.1 million). The
Group expected to continue its investment in SSME, the global positioning
system (the “GPS") and those equipment which has greater demand in the
market in FY2023. The Group will provide the ultimate solution to the
customers in power supplies that also address the increasing concerns
from the community on environmental protection and social
responsibilities aspects (the “EPSR”). For details, please refer to the MD&A
section.
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CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT

For the Group’s businesses in the PRC, the construction industry is still
affected by the debt crisis related to the property market and the Covid-19
pandemic. Due to the increase in business risk in the PRC, the Group will
increase the disposal of its equipment with lower utilization rates and then
re-invest some of the disposal proceeds for leasing equipment with higher
market demand and will continuously tighten the credit control over the
customers in the PRC in FY2023.

For the Group's business in Singapore, leasing demand continuously
improved due to the release of the lockdowns caused by the Covid-19
pandemic. As such, AP Equipment Rentals (Singapore) Pte. Limited (“AP
Singapore”) will introduce and launch new products in Singapore in
FY2023 and try its best to grasp any opportunities of the equipment leasing
and the trading businesses in FY2023.

Looking ahead, the Group will continue its investment in advanced
machines and focus on the business, which will provide better solutions for
the customers that not only cover the provision of leasing and related
services but also the solutions related to the EPSR, which means providing
the customers with a comprehensive solution in equipment usage in
FY2023. More importantly, the Group is ready to make quick and right
responses to any changes in the economy globally caused by (i) the
Covid-19 pandemic; and (ii) the Russia-Ukraine military conflict, either on
the positive or negative side.

Last but not least, | would like to express my gratitude to the Board for its
brilliant leadership, the entire staff for their untiring efforts during the Year,
as well as the strong support from our shareholders (the “Shareholders”). |
would also like to thank our investors, customers, suppliers and business
partners for their backing. We will continue to fortify AP Rental's leadership
in the equipment leasing industry and in acting as a comprehensive
solution provider for the customers and thus realize sustainable growth
and generate satisfactory returns for Shareholders.

The Board does not recommend the payment of a final dividend for the
year ended 31 March 2022.

By Order of the Board

Mr. Lau Pong Sing

Chairman and Executive Director
29 June 2022
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
EREHHEH T

GROUP OVERVIEW

The Group strives to serve our valuable customers better with the provision

of the equipment rental-related solutions and value-added services. For the
year ended 31 March 2022 (“FY2022"), the Group recorded a loss of
approximately HKS4.5 million when comparing to the loss amounting to
approximately HK$5.7 million for the year ended 31 March 2021
(“FY2021"). The reduction in loss was mainly due to the net effect of:

1.

increase in impairment losses under expected credit loss model
recognised on lease receivables and trade receivables, net for the
Group in FY2022 amounting to approximately HK$2.3 million was
recorded, when comparing to the reversal of impairment losses
under expected credit loss model recognised on lease receivables
and trade receivables, net for the Group in FY2021 amounting to
approximately HK$1.5 million, due to the increase of the expected
credit losses of the Group caused by (i) the Russia-Ukraine military
conflict; (ii) aggressiveness of monetary tightening in major
economies (except the People’s Republic of China (excluding Hong
Kong, the Macao Special Administrative Region of the PRC ("Macau”)
and Taiwan for the purpose of this report) (“PRC")); and (iii) the
outbreak of Covid-19 pandemic in Hong Kong since January 2022;

the Group only received the government subsidies amounting to
the equivalent of approximately HK$0.2 million, which represent the
wage subsidies provided by the government of Singapore, for
supporting the employment and helping business tide over financial
difficulties due to the Covid-19 pandemic and the subsidies under
ex-gratia payment scheme provided by the Hong Kong government
(FY2021: equivalent to approximately HK$5.7 million; being provided
by the governments of Hong Kong, Macau and Singapore). For
details, please refer to note 6 of this report;

increase in administrative expenses amounting to approximately
HKS$34.1 million in FY2022 (FY2021: approximately HK$31.4 million)
which was mainly due to the hiring of more management staff for
the Group and increase in compliance cost due to the change of
requirements on the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on The
Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Listing Rules”);

reversal of impairment losses recognised on property, plant and
equipment, net amounting to equivalent of approximately HK$2.4
million (FY2021: impairment losses recognised on property, plant
and equipment, net amounting to approximately HK$5.4 million) in
Hong Kong, Singapore and the PRC due to the increase of disposal
of leasing equipment during FY2022;
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

GROUP OVERVIEW (Continued)

5. increase in the gain on disposal of property, plant and equipment
amounting to approximately HK$8.7 million in FY2022 (FY2021:
approximately HK$5.4 million) as the Group has increased the
disposal of leasing equipment in FY2022; and

6. increase in gross profit in FY2022 to approximately HK$20.6 million
when comparing with the gross profit in FY2021 of approximately
HKS$18.5 million, which was mainly due to the decrease in
depreciation expenses in FY2022.

For FY2022, the Group recorded revenue of approximately HK$134.8
million, representing a decrease of approximately 9.2% as compared to
that of approximately HK$148.5 million for FY2021. For FY2022, the Group
recorded gross profit of approximately HK$20.6 million, representing an
increase of approximately 11.4% as compared to that of approximately
HK$18.5 million for FY2021. The gross profit margin for FY2022 increased to
approximately 15.3% (FY2021: approximately 12.5%). Please refer to the
section headed “Financial Review” of this report for further details of the
Group's performance in FY2022.

Loss attributable to owners of the Company was approximately HK$4.5
million in FY2022 (FY2021: approximately HK$5.7 million).

Basic loss per share attributable to owners of the Company for FY2022 was
HKO0.52 cents (FY2021: HK0.66 cents).
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

EREHHEH T

BUSINESS OVERVIEW

During FY2022, the demands from the third runway and the improvement
works of the Hong Kong International Airport (the “Third Runway &
Improvements”) and the Kai Tak Sports Park (the "KTS Park”) were the
main sources of leasing income but the demands from the Third Runway &
Improvements reduced materially in the second half of FY2022 due to the
completion of the reclamation work. During the period of transition of the
core parts of the construction work, the work will slow down for a while
before the commencement of the major above ground work . The
outbreak of Covid-19 pandemic in Hong Kong since January 2022 has
further affected the demands of the construction work for the leasing
equipment as the progress of most of the construction work sites was
delayed due to the lack of workers. All the event business in Hong Kong
ceased in January 2022 and the Group lost equipment leasing income from
the event related business. On the other hand, the Group got orders of
leasing equipment for the construction and operation of the community
isolation facilities, which were built and operated by the Hong Kong
government with the central government’s support due to the outbreak of
the Covid-19 pandemic in January 2022. For the generator business with
Automatic Power System (“APS”) in the Smart System in Mobile Electricity
("SSME"), the Group continuously devoted efforts to enhance its values to
the customers and made further promotion of the SSME solution to the
market, which had increased the leasing revenues of the Group in power
supply business in FY2022.

For the trading business and disposal of equipment, the Group has largely
increased the disposal of its equipment in Hong Kong and overseas, which
had led to increase in disposal proceeds and gain on disposal of property,
plant and equipment. However, the revenue generated from trading
business decreased to approximately HK$17.8 million in FY2022 (FY2021:
approximately HK$27.5 million) since the Group has devoted more effort
on the disposal of leasing equipment.

For Macau, in FY2022, the revenue of AP Equipment Leasing and
Engineering Limited ("AP Macau") increased to approximately HK$7.0
million (FY2021: approximately HK$5.8 million). Such increase was due to
the continuously shifting of AP Macau’s focus to government related work.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BUSINESS OVERVIEW (Continued)

For Singapore, due to the uplift of the lockdown, the demand of leasing of
equipment from construction industry was increased significantly (FY2022:
approximately HK$4.2 million whereas in FY2021: approximately HK$1.8
million).

For the PRC, due to the debt crisis triggered by some giant property
developers, the sentiment of the construction industry has been affected
and credit crunch was created. In early 2022, the outbreak of the Covid-19
pandemic in some of the provinces in the PRC has further damaged the
economic momentum in the PRC. ZeF& F 3 3% TR # M (L)) BR A
A] (AP Rentals (Shanghai) Limited®), ("AP Shanghai”), an indirect wholly-
owned subsidiary of the Company, also had concern with the recoverability
of the account receivables under such crisis. AP Shanghai is now leasing
the equipment to the customers mostly in cash basis and this might have
affected the demands as most of the customers are lack of cash. However,
the revenue from leasing of the equipment still recorded an increase. In
addition, AP Shanghai has disposed of its leasing equipment so that it can
generate the funding for changing its product types so as to keep abreast
of the market demands.

For details, please refer to the section headed “Financial Review” of this
report.

PROSPECT
The effect of the Covid-19 pandemic is still affecting the economy of each
of Hong Kong, Macau, Singapore and the PRC.

In Hong Kong, in the first quarter of the year ending 31 March 2023 (the
“FY2023"), the Group is still involved in the leasing of equipment for the
community isolation facilities, which were built and operated by the Hong
Kong government with the central government’s support due to the
outbreak of the Covid-19 pandemic in Hong Kong in January 2022.

In FY2023, the Group will continue to devote more effort in promoting its
business on mobile power supplies and its related services with SSME
concepts, which will be packaged as the ultimate solution for the
customers in power supplies that also address the increasing concerns
from the community on environmental protection and social
responsibilities aspects. The Group will also grasp every opportunity
regarding demands on leasing equipment in key projects, namely, the
Third Runway & Improvements and the KTS Park.

*  Foridentification purposes only
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

EREHHEH T

PROSPECT (Continued)

For machinery sales and disposal of the equipment, the Group will also
devote more effort so as to increase the machinery sale and disposal of the
equipment in Hong Kong and overseas in FY2023. The Group will increase
its investment on e-commerce so as to support the growth of trading
business. As such, the Group expects that it will be able to generate more
funds for financing advanced machines and new products so as to cater
market needs.

In Macau, AP Macau will continue to focus on government related work so
as to increase the leasing revenues in the coming months.

In the PRC, the Group will closely monitor the effect of the debt crisis
related to the construction industry and the effect of the Covid-19
pandemic in the PRC in the coming months. The Group will not expect
material improvement in the demand in leasing equipment in PRC in
FY2023. In order to improve the revenues and cash inflow of AP Shanghai,
the Group will try to increase the machinery sales and dispose more of its
leasing equipment. For leasing of equipment, the Group will try to re-invest
the disposal proceeds for other products, which are highly demanded in
the market in the PRC in FY2023.

In Singapore, the business of AP Singapore is expected to be continuously
picking up in FY2023 but at the same time, it would also increase its credit
control so as to ensure its profitability.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

FINANCIAL REVIEW

Revenue

For FY2022, the Group recorded a decrease in revenue of approximately
HK$13.7 million, with the total revenue amounting to approximately
HK$134.8 million for FY2022, representing a decrease of approximately
9.2% as compared to that of approximately HK$148.5 million for FY2021.
The decrease in revenue mainly resulted from the decrease in revenues in
leasing of equipment and its related operating services and machinery sale
of the Group.

(i) Lease of equipment
During the period under review, the Group’s leasing income from
rental services, which involved the rental of construction, electrical
and mechanical engineering and event and entertainment
equipment in Hong Kong, Macau, PRC and Singapore, decreased to
approximately HK$97.4 million in FY2022 as compared to that of
approximately HK$101.9 million in FY2021.

As mentioned above, the Group’s rental business in Hong Kong
dropped in FY2022 due to the reasons mentioned in the section
headed “Business Overview” above.

Leasing income of equipment accounted for approximately 72.3% of
the Group's total revenue for FY2022 (FY2021: approximately 68.6%).
The increase of the above percentage was due to the decrease in
the machinery sale.

(ii) Operating services income

The Group offers equipment operating services in Hong Kong and
Singapore by providing equipment operators to operate the
equipment at the job sites of its customers. For FY2022, revenue
from equipment operating services decreased by approximately
3.2% to approximately HK$12.4 million (FY2021: approximately
HK$12.8 million), and accounted for approximately 9.2% of the
Group's total revenue for FY2022 (FY2021: approximately 8.6%). The
decrease in operating services income for FY2022 was attributable to
the fact that the demand of leasing of equipment in Hong Kong
decreased and the demand for its related equipment operating
services in Hong Kong also decreased accordingly.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
SR E S sm B AT

FINANCIAL REVIEW (Continued)
Revenue (Continued)

(iii)

(iv)

Other service income

The Group’s other service income, which arises from rental
arrangements including repair and maintenance, delivery and
installation services during the rental period, recorded an increase
amounting to approximately HK$7.2 million for FY2022 (FY2021:
approximately HK$6.3 million). The Group’s other service income
accounted for approximately 5.4% of the Group's total revenue for
FY2022 (FY2021: approximately 4.2%). The increase mainly came
from the increase in delivery service of approximately HK$0.4 million
and the repair and maintenance service of approximately HK$0.5
million.

Sales of machinery and parts

The revenue from sales of machinery and parts decreased by
approximately 35.5% from approximately HK$27.5 million for FY2021
to approximately HK$17.8 million for FY2022 due to the net effect of
(i) the decrease in sales of machinery due to delay of delivery so as to
cope with customer’s working schedule (as requested by a
customer); (i) the Group has devoted more effort on disposal of its
leasing equipment; and (jii) an increase in sales of parts.

Cost of Sales and Services

The Group's cost of sales and services amounted to approximately
HKS$114.2 million for FY2022, representing a period-on-period decrease of
approximately 12.1% (FY2021: approximately HK$130.0 million). Cost of
sales and services mainly comprised machinery hiring expenses, staff costs

for the Group's equipment operators, technicians and truck drivers, costs
for machinery and parts for trading and depreciation.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

FINANCIAL REVIEW (Continued)

Cost of Sales and Services (Continued)

The Group recorded a decrease of approximately HK$0.9 million in
machinery hiring expenses during the period under review when
compared to that of FY2021 as the Group increased its net investment in
leasing equipment in FY2022. In FY2022, the Group disposed of equipment
with the costs of approximately HK$35.5 million (FY2021: approximately
HKS$15.0 million). Nevertheless, the Group has also increased its investment
on equipment and transferred from its inventories to equipment heavily,
especially in the second half of FY2022, which were used for leasing
purpose and met the market demands, amounting to approximately
HKS74.5 million in FY2022 (FY2021: approximately HK$28.7 million). Despite
the fact that the net effect of new investment on equipment, transferred
from its inventories to equipment and disposal of equipment at cost was
approximately HK$39.0 million (FY2021: approximately HK$13.7 million),
the depreciation of property, plant and equipment under the cost of sales
and services in FY2022 decreased by approximately HK$12.0 million. The
decrease in depreciation expenses was due to the fact that most of the
purchases of new equipment were made in late FY2022 but the disposal of
equipment was conducted since the outset of FY2022 and some of the
equipment had been fully depreciated in early FY2022. Staff costs under
the cost of sales and services increased by approximately HK$2.4 million
due to the hiring of more technician staff so as to strengthen the service
rendered to the customers. Cost of inventories recognised as expenses
decreased by approximately 50.4% when comparing with FY2021 due to
the decrease of sale of machinery in FY2022.

Gross Profit and Gross Profit Margin

The Group's overall gross profit increased by approximately 11.4% from
approximately HK$18.5 million for FY2021 to approximately HK$20.6 million
for FY2022 and the Group's gross profit margin increased to approximately
15.3% for FY2022 (FY2021: approximately 12.5%).

Other Income

The Group recorded other income amounting to approximately HK$0.8
million in FY2022 (FY2021: approximately HK$6.6 million), which
represented a decrease of approximately 88.1% from FY2021. The net
decrease was due to the decrease in the government grants received in
FY2022. For details, please refer to the section headed “Group Overview”
above.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

B E R E AT

FINANCIAL REVIEW (Continued)

Other Gains and Losses

Other gains and losses amounted to approximately HK$9.4 million in
FY2022 (FY2021: approximately HK$6.0 million), representing an increase of
approximately 58.3% over FY2021. The Group recorded an exchange gain,
net of approximately HK$0.7 million in FY2022 (FY2021: approximately
HK$0.6 million) and a gain on disposal of property, plant and equipment of
approximately HK$8.7 million in FY2022 (FY2021: approximately HKS$5.4
million).

An increase in Impairment Losses under Expected Credit
Loss Model Recognised on Lease Receivables and Trade
Receivables, Net and Reversal of the Impairment Losses
Recognised on Property, Plant and Equipment, Net

As at 31 March 2022, the Group has made impairment losses under
expected credit loss model recognised on lease receivables and trade
receivables, net of approximately HK$2.3 million while the Group made a
reversal of impairment losses under expected credit loss model recognised
on lease receivables and trade receivables, net amounting to
approximately HK$1.5 million in FY2021. For details, please refer to the
section headed "Group Overview" above.

On the other hand, the Group has made a reversal of impairment losses
recognised on property, plant and equipment, net amounting to
approximately HK$2.4 million in FY2022 (FY2021: it was an impairment
losses recognised on property, plant and equipment, net of approximately
HKS$5.4 million). For details, please refer to the section headed “Group
Overview" above.

Administrative Expenses

For FY2022, administrative expenses amounted to approximately HK$34.1
million (FY2021: approximately HK$31.4 million), representing an increase
of approximately 8.5% over FY2021. The increase in administrative
expenses was mainly due to (i) the hiring of more management staff and
the annual salary review of the staff and (i) increase in professional fees for
compliance purposes.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

FINANCIAL REVIEW (Continued)

Selling and Distribution Expenses

For FY2022, selling and distribution expenses amounted to approximately
HKS$0.7 million (FY2021: approximately HK$0.5 million). The increase was
mainly due to expenses incurred for market research amounting to
approximately HK$0.2 million in FY2022 (FY2021: nil).

Finance Costs

Finance costs comprised interest on the Group's borrowings and trade
payables to Kanamoto Co., Ltd ("Kanamoto Japan’), a shareholder of the
Company and strategic partner of the Group, which amounted to
approximately HK$1.2 million (FY2021: approximately HK$1.8 million). The
trade payables to Kanamoto Japan carried an interest rate of 3.6% per
annum and payable by 36 and 32 monthly instalments from 25 March 2020
and 25 June 2020 respectively, which amounted to approximately HK$0.4
million for FY2022 (FY2021: approximately HK$0.7 million). The decrease in
interest was mainly because the interest paid for the trade payables to
Kanamoto Japan decreased while the outstanding amount of the trade
payables to Kanamoto Japan decreased through each monthly repayment
made during FY2022.

Loss and Total Comprehensive Expenses for FY2022

The Group recorded loss attributable to owners of the Company of
approximately HK$4.5 million for FY2022 (FY2021: approximately HK$5.7
million), representing a loss margin of approximately 3.3% (FY2021:
approximately 3.8%). The reduction of the loss attributable to owners of
the Company in FY2022 was mainly due to those reasons stated under the
section headed “"Group Overview” above.

Capital Expenditure

The Group’s capital expenditures in FY2022 primarily comprised
expenditures on machinery, vehicle, leasehold improvement and office
equipment, amounting to a total of approximately HK$66.3 million (FY2021:
approximately HK$24.8 million). The vast majority of the capital
expenditures were used to fund the expansion of the Group’s owned
leasing fleet, which accounted for approximately 99.7% of the total capital
expenditure for FY2022.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

EREHHEH T

FINANCIAL REVIEW (Continued)

Liquidity and Financial Resources Review

The Group financed its operations through a combination of cash flow
from operations and borrowings. As at 31 March 2022, the Group had bank
balances and cash equivalents of approximately HK$55.7 million (as at 31
March 2021: approximately HK$38.4 million) that were mainly denominated
in Hong Kong Dollars, Japanese Yen, Macau Pataca (“MOP”), Singapore
Dollars, United States Dollars, Euro and Chinese Yuan, and had borrowings
of approximately HK$27.7 million (as at 31 March 2021: approximately
HKS$9.6 million) that were mainly denominated in Hong Kong Dollars and
in United States Dollars.

As at 31 March 2022, the Group had banking facilities of approximately
HKS$74.7 million (as at 31 March 2021: approximately HK$43.9 million), of
which approximately HK$27.7 million (as at 31 March 2021: approximately
HKS$23.4 million) had been drawn down, and approximately HK$47.0
million (as at 31 March 2021: approximately HK$20.5 million) were
unutilised.

As at 31 March 2022, the gearing ratio of the Group was nil (as at 31 March
2021: nil), which was calculated based on the net debt divided by total
equity. Net debt is defined as the sum of the interest bearing liabilities,
which include borrowings, loan from a related company, bank overdraft,
lease liabilities and trade payables carrying on an interest rate of 3.6% per
annum, minus the cash and cash equivalents.

Going forward, the Group expects to fund its future operations and
expansion plans primarily with cash generated from operations and
borrowings.

Foreign Exchange Risk

Certain transactions of the Group are denominated in currencies which are
different from the functional currencies of the Group, namely, Hong Kong
Dollars, and therefore the Group is exposed to foreign exchange risk.
Payments made by the Group for the settlement of its purchases from
suppliers are generally denominated in Hong Kong Dollars, Japanese Yen,
Euro, Singapore Dollars, Chinese Yuan and United States Dollars. Payments
received by the Group from its customers are mainly denominated in Hong
Kong Dollars, MOP, Singapore Dollars, Chinese Yuan and United States
Dollars.

The Group does not have a foreign currency hedging policy. However, the
Group will continue to monitor closely its exposure to currency movement
and take proactive measures.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

FINANCIAL REVIEW (Continued)
Contingent Liabilities
As at 31 March 2022, the Group had no material contingent liabilities.

Material Acquisitions and Disposals of Subsidiaries and
Associated Companies and Joint Ventures

There were no material acquisitions or disposals of subsidiaries, associated
companies and joint ventures during FY2022.

Significant Investments
As at 31 March 2022, the Group did not have any significant investments.

Capital Commitments and Future Plans for Material
Investments or Capital Assets

As at 31 March 2022, the Group had capital commitments of approximately
HK$22.5 million (as at 31 March 2021: approximately HK$1.8 million) to
acquire leasing equipment for the Group.

The acquisition of leasing equipment will be funded by the Group's internal
resources and the banking facilities.

Pledge of Assets

As at 31 March 2022, deposit placed for a life insurance policy of
approximately HK$2.9 million (as at 31 March 2021: approximately HK$2.8
million), leasing equipment of approximately HK$6.9 million as at 31 March
2022 (as at 31 March 2021: approximately HK$8.6 million), and bank
deposits of approximately HK$0.4 million (as at 31 March 2021:
approximately HK$0.4 million) have been pledged to secure the Group's
borrowings of approximately HK$23.6 million (as at 31 March 2021:
approximately HK$9.6 million).

Segmental Information
Segmental information is presented for the Group as disclosed in note 5(a)
and 5(b) of this report.

IR E e sm e o AT

Bt %5 B B8 ()
RAREE
M202F3A318  AEEWEERNAEE -

MEARRBEARUREEEENERR
BRHE

RONEFFHFE - HEBRR BERARRAE
CEMESAUBHHEE -

BEARE
K202 38318 AEBBETMNERKE -

BEXEAEREARESEFREENRRGE

R2022F 38318 REEMNERERIELH2S5
BEBIT(R2021F3A31H: #1888 BT)
A AARE B U N RE -

AEEFEBNBERIRITHEASBERES
R

EEEHR

R2022%F3 8318 #9298 BB T (R 202143
A31H: Y28EBABL)NESERREFTH RN
20223 A31 HH6. 9B EBIL(FR2021F3 8318 ¢
HWeoEBAL)MAERBERN4EESE LR
20138318 #J04BEBB L) WRITHERE
WA EAREBERL 236 BBE T (R 202143
A318 : 8996 B8ET) (R °

SEEH
24 85 8 2 1) ) 55 50 450 A 88 45 B 3 5() B2 500)
1 -

DEAESERER AT /2022 FERH




MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
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FINANCIAL REVIEW (Continued)

Human Resources and Employees’ Remuneration

As at 31 March 2022, the Group had 130 employees (as at 31 March 2021:
116 employees), of which 120 employees were in Hong Kong (as at 31
March 2021: 106 employees), 4 employees were in Macau (as at 31 March
2021: 4 employees), 3 employees were in Singapore (as at 31 March 2021: 3
employees) and 3 employees were in PRC (as at 31 March 2021: 3
employees). Employees’ remuneration packages are determined with
reference to the market information and individual performance and will
be reviewed on a regular basis. The remuneration policy will be reviewed
by the Board from time to time. In addition to basic remuneration, the
Group also provides medical insurance, makes contributions to provident
funds and provides other benefits to the employees. The total staff cost
including remuneration, other benefits and contributions to retirement
schemes for the directors of the Company and other staff of the Group
for FY2022 amounted to approximately HK$51.3 million (FY2021:
approximately HK$45.9 million). The increase in staff cost was mainly due
to the increase in headcount of technicians, operators and management
staff, and annual salary review of the staff as explained in the section
headed “Financial Review" above.

The Group's technical staff attend seminars jointly conducted by
manufacturers and the Group to acquire product knowledge to ensure
that they are equipped with the necessary skills and knowledge to perform
their duties. Such seminars include training regarding the equipment
structures, operational features, operator safety training and equipment
repair. In addition to the training jointly conducted by manufacturers and
the Group, the Group's technical staff also attend external training courses
and obtain relevant certificates.

Share Option Scheme

To attract and retain the most suitable personnel for development of the
Group, the Group has adopted the share option scheme (the “Scheme”)
on 17 March 2016. Share options may be granted to eligible employees of
the Group as a long-term incentive. From the date of the adoption of the
Scheme and up to 31 March 2022, no share option has been granted or
agreed to be granted under the Scheme.
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FIVE YEAR FINANCIAL SUMMARY

FIVE YEAR FINANCIAL SUMMARY

TEMBHRE

For the year ended 31 March

BE3ANALEE

DFHBHE

2022 2021 2020 2019 2018
2022 F 20214 20206 20194 2018F
HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TERT FHET FHT FET FHET
Revenue Wz
Leasing income of HERBEBA
equipment 97,436 101,873 101,691 112,086 144,383
Sales of machinery and MR T HiEE
parts 17,757 27,523 27,594 10,549 41,081
Operating service income BIERBUBA 12,365 12,777 8388 10,777 25,153
Other service income HoAh AR B A 7,240 6,277 8,114 12,698 14,644
134,798 148,450 145,787 146,110 225,261
Gross profit Sl 20,593 18,487 16,090 26,164 57,246
Other income HABA 784 6,576 2,508 4,193 3,863
Other gains and (losses) E s & (EiE) 9,443 5,966 4,965 5,250 8,363
Reversal of (impairment losses)  ©HERE - Heh )z
recognised on property, HERECREFSE)
plant and equipment 2,435 (5,363) (2,525) - -
(Impairment losses) reversal of — IRIETBEEEEBER
impairment losses under e A IR K
expected credit loss model B S W IBRERD
recognised on lease receivables  CR{EEE) HEEE
and trade receivables, net toqEDE (2,255) 1516% (5,600)* (1,181)% (1,210)
(Loss) profit before tax AT (B1R) &R (4,995) (6,536) (21,806) (2,382) 26,297
Income tax credit/(expense) iR e,/ () 540 852 2127 (141) (5216)
(Loss) profit for the year REE (EBE)&F (4,455) (5,684) (19,679) (2,523) 21,081
Per share data BRER
(Loss) earnings per share T (ER) BF
— basic (HK cents) — EARCGEW) (0.52) (0.66) (2.28) (0.29) 244
Financial ratios Bi#§Lh &
Gross profit margin ERME 15.3% 12.5% 11.0% 17.9% 25.4%
Net (loss) profit margin CREEE) M= (3.3%) (3.8%) (13.5%) (1.7%) 9.4%
Return on total assets BAERRE (1.4%) (1.8%) (5.7%) (0.8%) 6.3%
Return on equity IR (2.1%) (2.6%) (8.9%) (1.0%) 8.6%
Current ratio MENLL & 1.48 183 128 167 222
Assets and liabilities EENEE
Total assets BEE 318,670 310,689 344,909 332,056 333,666
Total liabilities BafrE (106,411) (94,556) (124,154) (91,511) (87,492)
Total equity Wi 212,259 216,133 220755 240,545 246,174
* The years ended 31 March, which the expected credit loss model was applied.

* BE3IANALEFE  CERAREEBHEES -
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FIVE YEAR FINANCIAL SUMMARY

IFHHHME

REVENUE (HKS Million)
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FINANCIAL RATIOS

GROSS PROFIT MARGIN (%)

FIVE YEAR FINANCIAL SUMMARY
DFHBHE

gt =

NET (LOSS) PROFIT MARGIN (%)
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The Directors submit herewith the annual report together with the audited
consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 March 2022.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The principal activity of the Company is investment holding. The Group is
principally engaged in the provision of equipment rental-related solutions
and value-added services to customers. The principal activities of the
Company's subsidiaries are set out in note 36 to the consolidated financial
statements.

RESERVES
Details of movement in the reserves of the Group during the year are set
out in the consolidated statement of changes in equity on page 88.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES OF THE COMPANY

As at 31 March 2022, distributable reserves of the Company amounted to
approximately HK$244.6 million (as at 2021: approximately HK$246.3
million).

RESULTS AND APPROPRIATIONS

The results of the Group for the year ended 31 March 2022 and the state of
affairs of the Company and the Group as at 31 March 2022 are set out in
the consolidated financial statements on pages 85 to 184 of this annual
report.

The Board does not recommend the payment of a final dividend for the
year ended 31 March 2022 (FY2021: nil).

BUSINESS REVIEW

A review of the business of the Group during the year and a discussion of
the Group's future business development are set out in the “Chairman’s
Statement’ and the "Management Discussion and Analysis” sections
on pages 8 to 11 and on pages 12 to 24 of this annual report respectively.
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RISKS RELATING TO OUR BUSINESS

The equipment rental industry is cyclical in general and its revenues are
tied to general economic conditions and to conditions in the construction
and electrical and mechanical engineering ('E&M" or "E&M engineering”)
industry in particular. Our products and services are used primarily in
construction projects which is cyclical and sensitive to changes in general
economic conditions. Weakness in our end-markets, such as a decline in
construction and E&M engineering activity, may decrease the demand for
the Group’s equipment or the rental rates or prices that the Group can
charge. Factors that may cause weakness in our end-markets include:

(i) economic recession due to the outbreak of Covid-19 in Hong Kong
since January 2022;

(i) increase in the cost of construction materials caused by the Russia-
Ukraine military conflict; and

(i) adverse changes in the government infrastructure spending.

Further description of possible capital risks and financial risks facing the
Group are set out in note 29 and note 30 to the audited consolidated
financial statements for the year ended 31 March 2022 and the section
headed “Management Discussion and Analysis — Foreign Exchange
Risk” on page 22 of this annual report.

An analysis of the Group’s performance during the year using financial key
performance indicators is set out in the Group's Five Year Financial
Summary and the section headed “"Management Discussion and
Analysis — Financial Review" on pages 25 to 27 and on pages 17 to 24
of this annual report respectively. Particulars of important events affecting
the Company that have occurred since the end of the financial year ended
31 March 2022, if any, can also be found in this section and the above
sections of this annual report and notes to the consolidated financial
statements.
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ENVIRONMENTAL PROTECTION AND COMPLIANCE
WITH LAWS AND REGULATIONS

The Group is committed to contributing to the sustainability of the
environment. In terms of environmental friendliness, we have obtained the
Quality Powered Mechanical Equipment ("“QPME") identification for most
of our rental equipment to which the QPME system is applicable, and we
have filed application for all our equipment which are subject to the Air
Pollution Control (Non-road Mobile Machinery) (Emission) Regulation
(Chapter 311Z of the Laws of Hong Kong) (the "NRMM" Regulation), and
have obtained the NRMM label for most of such equipment.

Further details on (i) the Group'’s environmental policies and performance;
and (ii) the Group's compliance with laws and regulations that have a
significant impact on the Group will be set out in the “Environmental,
Social and Governance Report’.

ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT
The Environmental, Social and Governance Report of the Company
prepared in accordance with Appendix 27 to the Rules Governing the
Listing of Securities on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the
“Listing Rules”) will be published separately before the end of August
2022.

RELATIONSHIP WITH KEY STAKEHOLDERS

The Group recognises that employees, customers and suppliers are keys to
its sustainable development. The Group is committed to establishing a
close and caring relationship with its employees, providing quality services
to its customers and enhancing cooperation with its business partners. The
Company provides a fair and safe workplace, promotes diversity to our
staff, provides competitive remuneration and benefits and career
development opportunities based on their merits and performance. The
Group also puts ongoing efforts to provide adequate trainings and
development resources to the employees so that they can keep abreast of
the latest development of the market and the industry and, at the same
time, improve their performance and self-fulfillment in their positions.
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RELATIONSHIP WITH KEY STAKEHOLDERS (Continued)

The Group provides a wide range of construction, E&M engineering and
event and entertainment equipment, equipment rental-related solutions
and value-added services to customers. The Group maintains good
working relationships between the Group and the customers. The Group
enhances the relationship by continuous interaction with customers to
gain insight on the changing market demand for different products so that
the Group can respond proactively.

The Group maintains sound business relationship with its suppliers and
service providers. In order to have better and close monitoring of suppliers’
performance, the Group’s management conducts performance review
regularly targeting on the Group's major suppliers and service providers,
and communicates with them for rectification and improvements.

FINANCIAL SUMMARY
A summary of the results and assets and liabilities of the Group for the last
5 financial years are set out on page 25 of this annual report.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Details of the movements in property, plant and equipment of the Group
during the year are set out in note 14 to the consolidated financial
statements.

SHARE CAPITAL
Details of the movements in share capital of the Company during the year
are set out in note 26 to the consolidated financial statements.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF THE COMPANY'S
LISTED SECURITIES

In FY2022, neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries purchased, sold
or redeemed any of the listed securities of the Company.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There is no provision for pre-emptive rights under the Company’s articles
of association (“Articles”) or the laws of the Cayman Islands, which would
oblige the Company to offer new shares on a pro-rata basis to existing
shareholders.
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CHARITABLE DONATIONS
Charitable donation made by the Group during the year was nil (FY2021:
HKS$500).

SHARE OPTION SCHEME

To attract and retain the most suitable personnel for development of the
Group, the Group has adopted the share option scheme (the “Share
Option Scheme”) on 17 March 2016. Share options may be granted to
eligible employees of the Group as a long-term incentive. From the date of
the adoption of the Share Option Scheme and up to 31 March 2022, no
share option has been granted or agreed to be granted under the Share
Option Scheme.

1. Purpose of the Share Option Scheme
(@)  The Share Option Scheme is a share incentive scheme and is
established to recognise and acknowledge the contributions
that Eligible Participants (as defined below) had made or may
make to the Group.

(b)  The Share Option Scheme will provide the Eligible Participants
with an opportunity to acquire proprietary interests in the
Company with the view to achieving the following principal
objectives:

(i) motivate the Eligible Participants to optimise their
performance and efficiency for the benefit of the Group;
and

(i) attract and retain or otherwise maintain ongoing
business relationship with the Eligible Participants
whose contributions are, will or expected to be
beneficial to the Group.

(c)  For the purpose of the Share Option Scheme, “Eligible
Participant” means any person who satisfies the eligibility
criteria in paragraph 2 below.
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SHARE OPTION SCHEME (Continued)
2.  Who may join and basis for determining eligibility

(a)

The Board may at its discretion grant options to: (i) any
director, employee, consultant, professional, customer,
supplier, agent, partner or adviser of or contractor to the
Group or a company in which the Group holds an interest or a
subsidiary of such company (“Affiliate”); or (i) the trustee of
any trust the beneficiary of which or any discretionary trust the
discretionary objects of which include any director, employee,
consultant, professional, customer, supplier, agent, partner or
adviser of or contractor to the Group or an Affiliate; or (iii) a
company beneficially owned by any director, employee,
consultant, professional, customer, supplier, agent, partner,
adviser of or contractor to the Group or an Affiliate.

In order for a person to satisfy the Board that he/she/it is
qualified to be (or, where applicable, continues to qualify to
be) an Eligible Participant, such person shall provide all such
information as the Board may request for the purpose of
assessing his/her/its eligibility (or continuing eligibility).

Each grant of options to a connected person (as defined in the
Listing Rules) of the Company, or any of his associates (as
defined in the Listing Rules), must be approved in accordance
with the requirements of the Listing Rules.

Should the Board resolve that a grantee fails/has failed or
otherwise is/has been unable to meet the continuing
eligibility criteria under the Share Option Scheme, the
Company would (subject to any relevant laws and regulations)
be entitled to deem any outstanding option or part thereof,
granted to such grantee and to the extent not already
exercised, as lapsed, subject to certain requirements (the
details of which are set out in the section headed “Share
Option Scheme” in Appendix IV of the prospectus of the
Company dated 24 March 2016 (the “Prospectus”)).

DIRECTORS” REPORT

HEGHE

BRETE(®
2. ZMERKREEERHNEE

(a)

EFEUHBERATIALREER
B OAEEINES BB %W
A BEALT BFP #EE K
B AR ARBERSARRIAEE
BERSHARRZAANKEAF]
([BBAL]) ¢ ki) AR EEEME
E-EE -FEHAA FEXALF
F - i - R AR AKERX
EBEREEA L /X EANEAE
AEHA LR E T REEZEANEM
EREENZEAN  HMNAKEE
MES B8 - #FRA FRXAL
BF - fER - K2 aBA - BE
FEEEHIBBALTESHEANR
7o

REZEEEEMRUALTEERR
(X WERA - BESERR)AER
SEE ZATREHEFSURE
KIERFHEEEAER(HRTHE
BER) BENAERBERM -

AARBBEAL(EER LRI
FWENEMBBA(EER TR
AR BB ERE EHRA
IRTEEHLE -

WEBSHFRERATFE BETR
RAEKEE B REFTE B2
THFESEREZE  AIRARE(X
FAREBEERERBER) BREE
BT AR AR TR & RITEER
RS E D (A HARITEEABR)E
BRY EESBETRE(BEFHE
BAARARHEA2016F3 82488
BERER(EBRER] WD [BR
FESTE —F0)RR -

TEAESERER AT /2022 FERH




DIRECTORS’ REPORT

.|I|n|

RS

SHARE OPTION SCHEME (Continued)

Maximum number of shares of the Company (“Shares”)

available for issue

(@ The maximum number of Shares which may be issued upon
exercise of all outstanding options granted and yet to be
exercised under the Share Option Scheme and any other
schemes must not, in aggregate, exceed 30% of the issued
share capital of the Company from time to time. No options
may be granted under any schemes of the Company
(including the Share Option Scheme) if this will result in the
said 30% limit being exceeded.

(b)  The maximum number of Shares in respect of which options
may be granted under the Share Option Scheme and any
other share option schemes involving the issue or grant of
options or similar rights over Shares or other securities by the
Company shall not, in aggregate, exceed 10% of the issued
share capital of the Company as at 8 April 2016 (the “Listing
Date”), and such 10% limit represents 86,400,000 Shares.
86,400,000 Shares represents 10% of the total Shares in issue
as at the date of this annual report.

The maximum entitlement of each participant under
the Share Option Scheme

No option may be granted to any Eligible Participant which, if
exercised in full, would result in the total number of Shares issued
and to be issued upon exercise of the options already granted or to
be granted to such Eligible Participant under the Share Option
Scheme (including exercised, cancelled and outstanding share
options) in the twelve-month period up to and including the date of
such new grant exceeding 1% in aggregate of the issued share
capital of the Company as at the date of such grant. Any grant of
further share options above this limit shall be subject to certain
requirements provided under the Listing Rules.

Time of exercise of option

(@)  Subject to certain restrictions contained in the Share Option
Scheme, an option may be exercised in accordance with the
terms of the Share Option Scheme and the terms of grant
thereof at any time during the applicable option period, which
is not more than ten years from the date of grant of option.
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SHARE OPTION SCHEME (Continued)

Time of exercise of option (Continued)

(b)  There is no general requirement on the minimum period for
which an option must be held or the performance targets
which must be achieved before an option can be exercised
under the terms of the Share Option Scheme. However, at the
time of granting any option, the Board may, on a case by case
basis, make such grant subject to such conditions, restrictions
or limitations including (without limitation) those in relation to
the minimum period of the options to be held and/or the
performance targets to be achieved as the Board may
determine in its absolute discretion.

Consideration for share options and the exercise price
On and subject to the terms of the Share Option Scheme, the Board
shall be entitled at any time on a business day within ten years
commencing on the effective date of the Share Option Scheme to
offer the grant of an option to any Eligible Participant as the Board
may in its absolute discretion select in accordance with the eligibility
criteria set out in the Share Option Scheme. An offer shall be
accepted when the Company receives the duly signed offer letter
together with a non-refundable payment of HK$1.00 (or such other
sum in any currency as the Board may determine).

The exercise price for any Share under the Share Option Scheme
shall be a price determined by the Board and notified to each
grantee and shall be not less than the highest of (i) the closing price
of a Share as stated in the Stock Exchange's daily quotations sheet
on the date of grant of the relevant option, which must be a business
day, (i) an amount equivalent to the average closing price of a Share
as stated in the Stock Exchange's daily quotation sheets for the five
business days immediately preceding the date of grant of the
relevant option and (i) the nominal value of a Share on the date of
grant. The exercise price shall also be subject to certain adjustments
(the details of which are set out in the section headed “Share
Option Scheme” in Appendix IV of the Prospectus).
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SHARE OPTION SCHEME (Continued)

7. Remaining life of the Share Option Scheme
Options may be granted to Eligible Participants under the Share
Option Scheme during the period of ten years commencing on the
effective date of the Share Option Scheme. The remaining life of the
Share Option Scheme is approximately three years and eight months
as at the date of this annual report.

For further details of the Share Option Scheme, please refer to the section
headed “Share Option Scheme’ on pages IV-12 to IV-22 in Appendix IV to
the Prospectus.

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS
For the year ended 31 March 2022, the aggregate amount of revenue
attributable to the Group's five largest customers are as follows:

10.2%
31.1%

The largest customer
The five largest customers in aggregate

The percentages of total purchases (defined as the sum of (i) the Group’s
total cost of sales less staff cost and depreciation and (i) purchases of the
Group's owned rental equipment) for the year attributable to the Group's
major suppliers are as follows:

13.7%
48.2%

The largest supplier
The five largest suppliers in aggregate

At no time during the year did the Directors, their close associates or any
shareholders of the Company, which to the best knowledge of the Directors,
owned more than 5% of the Company's issued share capital, have any
interest in any of the Group's five largest customers and suppliers.
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DIRECTORS
The Directors during the year under review and up to the date of this
annual report were:

Executive Directors
Lau Pong Sing (Chairman)
Chan Kit Mui, Lina

Non-executive Director
Nakazawa Tomokatsu

Independent non-executive Directors
Ho Chung Tai, Raymond

Siu Chak Yu

Li Ping Chi

Pursuant to Article 84 of the Articles, at each annual general meeting, one-
third of the Directors for the time being shall retire from office by rotation
provided that every Director shall be subject to retirement at an annual
general meeting at least once every three years.

By virtue of Article 84 of the Articles, 2 Directors, namely Mr. Siu Chak Yu and
Mr. Nakazawa Tomokatsu, will retire from office at the 2022 AGM and, being
eligible, will offer themselves for re-election.

DIRECTORS’ AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT’S
BIOGRAPHIES

Biographical details of the Directors and the senior management of the
Group are set out on pages 66 to 76 of this annual report.

DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

No director proposed for re-election at the AGM has an unexpired service
contract which is not determinable by the Company within one year
without payment of compensation, other than statutory compensation.
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DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS IN
SHARES, UNDERLYING SHARES AND DEBENTURES

As at 31 March 2022, the interests or short positions of the Directors in the
shares, underlying shares and debentures of the Company and any of its
associated corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the Securities
and Future Ordinance (the “SFQ")), which were required to be notified to
the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part
XV of the SFO (including interests and short positions which the directors
and chief executive were deemed or taken to have under such provisions
of the SFO) or which were required, pursuant to section 352 of the SFO, to
be recorded in the register therein, or were required to be notified to the
Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model Code for
Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers contained in Appendix
10 of the Listing Rules (the “Model Code”) are as follows:

EERRG  HEROCREEZEDHE
mRAE

7 2022F 3 A31 B » EERARA) K E (A 5
FEE(EERFHFLBEGEN([BHERBEEMRM))
EXVED) ARG - RN REREPEERE
BENEEGRIIEXVEE 7 ReD HAME AR
AN ERSOAE (BRIEREZS ME
EOIZEGRRASEIEREFRERITRAE
FEEMRRIAR)  REBEFHFRBEKROE
352 G 7B AL ER N RZ AR Tl B il T A AE 25 B B
SRR E AR AUKTER 10 FTEl E T BT AE BT
BHERSHZAETA([ZEFR ) BHNS AR
MR TR SOA B AT ¢

Approximate

Percentage of
Number of Total Issued
Name of Director Nature of Interest Shares Shares (%)
HERITROEAH
R s RGBEE BB DL (%)
Mr. Lau Pong Sing (Note 1, 2) Interest in a controlled corporation 363,528,000 (L) 42.08%
I A (MHEET ~ 2) R EE R
Interest of spouse 284,471,352 (L) 32.92%
EER
Ms. Chan Kit Mui, Lina (Note 3, 4) Interest in a controlled corporation 284,471,352 (L) 32.92%
BRZ2Mg 22+ (HI7E3 - 4) R EE R
Interest of spouse 363,528,000 (L) 42.08%
[N £
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DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS IN
SHARES, UNDERLYING SHARES AND DEBENTURES
(Continued)

Note 1:

Note 2:

Note 3:

Note 4:

The Company was directly owned as to 42.08% by New Club House
International Holdings Limited (“New Club House"). By virtue of his 100%
shareholding in New Club House, Mr. Lau Pong Sing (“Mr. Lau") is
deemed to be interested in the same number of Shares held by New Club
House.

Mr. Lau is the spouse of Ms. Chan Kit Mui, Lina ("Ms. Chan”). Under the
SFO, Mr. Lau is deemed to be interested in the same number of Shares in
which Ms. Chan is interested.

The Company was directly owned as to 32.92% by Great Club House
Holdings Limited (“Great Club House"). By virtue of her 100%
shareholding in Great Club House, Ms. Chan is deemed to be interested in
the same number of Shares held by Great Club House.

Ms. Chan is the spouse of Mr. Lau. Under the SFO, Ms. Chan is deemed to
be interested in the same number of Shares in which Mr. Lau is interested.

Save as disclosed above, to the best knowledge of the Directors, as at 31
March 2022, none of the Directors or chief executives of the Company had

any interests or short positions in the Shares, underlying Shares or

debentures of the Company or its associated corporations (within the
meaning of Part XV of the SFO) which were required to be notified to the
Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV
of the SFO (including interests or short positions which they were taken or

deemed to have under such provisions of the SFO) or which were required,
pursuant to Section 352 of the SFO, to be entered in the register referred to
therein, or which were required to be notified to the Company and the
Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model Code.
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SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS’ INTERESTS AND SHORT
POSITIONS IN SHARES AND UNDERLYING SHARES

As at 31 March 2022, so far as the Directors are aware, the following
persons (other than the directors or chief executive of the Company) were,
directly or indirectly, interested in 5% or more of the shares or short
positions in the shares and the underlying shares of the Company, which

FERRRRG RABEKRGPHOERSR

379}
R2022F3R318  BEEMAM - U TAL(CK
PEIEEXERITHRABRIN AERHERA

REIRE S RAB RN B RS %&%ﬁ%’iﬂwu
EXVERE 2 K30 EAESCUEME L B BRI 7E

are required to be disclosed under provisions of Divisions 2 and 3 of Part K HA & 61 55 336 {578 50 A 5% 16 A it 2 22 R &9 5%
XV of the SFO, or which will be required, pursuant to Section 336 of the  8tJA_FRIIMDHERSABE T ¢
SFO, to be entered in the register referred to therein, were as follows:
Approximate
Percentage of
Total Number the Issued
Name of Shareholders Nature of Interest of Shares Held Share Capital
HEBTRA
BRRERB ERME PR BHAED
New Club House' (Note 1) Beneficial interest 363,528,000 (L) 42.08%
New Club House' (Ffi&E 1) Em i
Great Club House? (Note 2) Beneficial interest 284,471,352 (L) 32.92%
Great Club House? (Ffi 5% 2) BEmiEn
Kanamoto Japan® (Note 3) Beneficial interest 64,800,648 (L) 7.50%

AR (HFE3) BafEn
Note 1: It is directly wholly-owned by Mr. Lau Pong Sing. It is a controlling

shareholder holding 363,528,000 shares of the Company.

Note 2: It is directly wholly-owned by Ms. Chan Kit Mui, Lina. It is a controlling
shareholder holding 284,471,352 shares of the Company.
Note 3:  Itis a shareholder holding 64,800,648 shares of the Company.

L): Long position

! “New Club House": New Club House International Holdings Limited, a
company incorporated in the British Virgin Islands with limited liability on 8
June 2015.

2 “Great Club House": Great Club House Holdings Limited, a company
incorporated in the British Virgin Islands with limited liability on 8 June 2015.

3 "Kanamoto Japan’: Kanamoto Co, Ltd* (tf =, £ %&£ 77 7 £ I), a company
incorporated in Japan on 24 September 1937.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 March 2022, the Directors were not aware
of any other corporation or individual (other than the Directors or chief
executives of the Company) who had an interest or a short position in the
Shares or underlying Shares of the Company as recorded in the register of
interests required to be kept pursuant to Section 336 of the SFO.

* For identification purposes only

k1. HAZIBKEEEEZEHEES - EABER
A7) 363,528,000 B A7) O FZE AR AR BR. -

MiE2: HAMRZELTEE2EHA - HABEXR
A7) 284,471,352 AR A0 HIE AR AR R -

W3 HAREARAR 64800648 R HIALE o

L: B

! [New Club House | : New Club House International
Holdings Limited + 7420154 6 A 8 A 1 2 & 52 22 B¥
SHMKIHEREERT

? [ Great Club House] : Great Club House Holdings
Limited * 720156 A8 HE R B R Z ¥ &1
A BREERA °

3 [€Z B 7 | : Kanamoto Co, Ltd* (#k X &4 5
) - 1937479 A24 BIE A A A I B A F] o

M EXCET#EEESN  R2022F3 8318 1
REBEAEA DA KEA (KRB EEHKITR
BHBRIN AR IABBAR G P B
SOA R M ALSENIRIEE 5 R B 150 5336 1§
GFEMEREZMA -

* EXaS]
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PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISION

Article 164 of the Articles of Association of the Company provides, among
other things, that the Directors and other officers shall be indemnified and
secured harmless out of the assets and profits of the Company from and
against all actions, costs, charges, losses, damages and expenses as a result
of any act or failure to act in carrying out his/her functions. The Company
has arranged appropriate Directors and officers liability insurance.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

No contracts concerning the management and administration of the
whole or any substantial part of the business of the Company were entered
into or existed during the year.

EQUITY-LINKED AGREEMENTS

Save for the Share Option Scheme as set out in this annual report, no
equity-linked agreements were entered into by the Group, or subsisted
during the year ended 31 March 2022.

DIRECTORS’ RIGHTS TO ACQUIRE SHARES OR
DEBENTURES

Other than the section headed “Share Option Scheme’ disclosed above,
at no time during the year, the Company, its holding company or any of its
subsidiaries was a party to any arrangements which would enable the
Directors to acquire benefits by means of the acquisition of shares in, or
debentures of, the Company or its subsidiaries. Save as disclosed in this
report, none of the Directors or any of their spouses or children under the
age of 18 was granted any right to subscribe for the shares or debentures
of the Company or its subsidiaries or had exercised any such right during
the year.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN COMPETING BUSINESS

As at 31 March 2022, the Directors were not aware of any business or
interest of the Directors and their respective associates that had competed
or might compete with the business of the Group and any other conflicts
of interests which any such person had or might have with the Group
except those disclosed under the section headed “Non-Competition
Undertaking by Controlling Shareholders".

REMUNERATION POLICY

As at 31 March 2022, the Group employed a total of 130 employees (as at
31 March 2021: 116 employees). For the year ended 31 March 2022, the
staff costs of the Group amounted to approximately HK$51.3 million
(FY2021: approximately HK$45.9 million).

The remuneration policy of the employees of the Group is set up by the
Board on the basis of their performance, qualifications, competence and
job nature.

DIRECTORS’ REPORT
EE )

BAERERZ
RARVHBERMAUE 4GB E (P aiE)E
EREMEABETREBITERESNEAR
TMEABBRMMBFA KA - B - 18X B
ERHATHAR RN E E RR M ESTHE REE
REZEE - KRR AEE RS AR BIRE]
BEETRR -

AIE El\/]
RAFEIL BT LR FES RARA
BERBOEBHNERRITRNAL -

A

% P 9 1h

MRS RUR AR A RIS - R EIE 202243 A
31 AR - AN B30 4 5T 37 o7 A9 £ A
i -

EXWEROIEERNER

BEXEBRETS] —BmREEIN RAFE
EAERE > AR RERARSEEANER

ABERI AL FEFENERBREAR

A EM B R RN L EREBERN - RARE
BREEN AEEHRBEEEHEMRENEBHK
18ERA T FREREMENARBARR A
B QR X EREXCITERIEMZEREN -

EENGRERNER

K202 3 A31 8 - B [ERBRN T 5 F R

—HEEEN EERTNBFEEREESEN

B ARE MmN R E BT

&‘Ja HERERSE &Eﬂ%ﬁi/\iéﬁw;‘%lr&
BETFAT (] B Ath M) 25 BT 28

HMBUR

MR202F3A318 AEEEAE H£1302(R
202153 A31H 116K )EE - BIE202F3 A
JNELEFE AEEMNEIXNANASIIEED
L2021 FHHEE : £9459FEBT) °

EFESRAKEREMNKRET  BIE B
T I TE R R -

HEIE

TEAESERER AT /2022 FERH




DIRECTORS” REPORT

= =5 & R A=
E'ngdﬁpz

2

Al

REMUNERATION POLICY (Continued)

The remuneration of the Directors are recommended by the Remuneration
Committee and are decided by the Board, having regard to the Group's
operating results, individual performance and comparing with market
conditions. The Company has adopted the Share Option Scheme as an
incentive to eligible employees.

RETIREMENT SCHEME

The Group has established a Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme (the “MPF
Scheme’) for its Hong Kong employees. The assets of the scheme are held
separately in funds which are under the control of independent trustees.
The retirement benefit scheme contributions charged to profit or loss
represent contributions paid or payable by the Group to the scheme at 5%
of each of the employees’ monthly relevant income capped at HK$30,000
per month.

The total costs charged to loss for the year of approximately HK$1,561,000
(FY2021: approximately HK$1,504,000), comprised approximately
HK$66,000 and HK$1,495,000 (FY2021: approximately HK$72,000 and
HKS$1,432,000) in directors’ emoluments and other staff costs respectively,
and represented contributions paid or payable to the schemes by the
Group in respect of the current accounting period. At the end of the
reporting period, there were no forfeited contributions available to reduce
future obligations.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT
Based on the information that is publicly available to the Company and
within the knowledge of the Directors as at the date of this annual report,
at least 25% of the Company’s total issued share capital is held by the
public as required under the Listing Rules.

CONFIRMATION OF INDEPENDENCE

The Company has received from each of the independent non-executive
Directors an annual confirmation of independence pursuant to Rule 3.13 of
the Listing Rules and considers all the independent non-executive
Directors to be independent.

DIRECTORS'/CONTROLLING SHAREHOLDERS’
INTERESTS IN CONTRACTS OF SIGNIFICANCE

Save as disclosed in this annual report, no contracts of significance to
which the Company or any of its subsidiaries was a party and in which any
Director or Controlling Shareholders of the Company had a material
interest, whether directly or indirectly, subsisted as at 31 March 2022 or
during the year.
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USE OF NET PROCEEDS FROM IPO BRARBERSEHEFERE

The Company’s shares have been listed on the Main Board of the Stock AN BIR%D B 20169 4 B 8 B 7B 22 F = 1R £
Exchange since 8 April 2016. The net proceeds from IPO of the Company T« AR BB X AHBEMEREFEHERE
(after deducting underwriting fee and relevant expenses) were $58 RIHBHXE)HAEI8HEE T - K 2022
approximately HK$81.8 million. On 16 June 2022, the Board approved the %6 16 B » BE & 153 R E A T3 308
extension of the expected timeline to 31 March 2023 for utilising the — JF%8 LA 2 AN 52 B 3% 1R 25 o4 2 2% s 1) 78 2 5 7S
unutilised net proceeds for the improvement of facility for maintenance of ~ RIEKRE2023F 3 A31H  TRFHIR 202243
the Group’s equipment. The following table sets forth the status of the use A 31 BB X AFE SRS HIAFBIER LB A
of proceeds from IPO as at 31 March 2022 and the expected timeline for KRBT FIE FREM BRI K ¢

utilising the unutilised net proceeds:

Expected
Utilised Unutilised timeline for
up to asat utilising the
Net proceeds 31 March 31 March unutilised
from IPO 2022 2022 net proceeds

BEF2022F R2022F BRAXREH
BXRAMBE 3A31HL 3A318 MEREFEN
FIBRIEFE CHAXE ARHAFKE FEHEEX

HKS'000 HKS$'000 HK$'000
T FHIT FHIT
Investment in rental equipment  HHRERE 58,242 58,242 -
Development of GPS equipment 3% fg 2 EkFT 2 8,507 8,507 - Bytheendof
monitoring system TE L35 1 BE 5T 31 March 2022
ES 7202243 A31H
ERET
Investment in transportation B RIERE 5,808 5,808 -
equipment
Improvement of facility TAEERE 3517 2,366 1,151 Bytheend of
for maintenance of the RERZHXE 31 March 2023
Group's equipment 20233 H31H
ERET
General working capital —MREEEE 5,726 5,726 -
81,800 80,649 1,151

The unutilised amounts of the net proceeds from IPO will be applied in B X RAFZEEFSRIB FEN A B ZIEE LA
such manner consistent with that mentioned in the Prospectus. =AM ER -
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CONTINUING CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

1.

Asoem Framework Agreement

The Company entered into a framework agreement with Asoem
(Int'l) Investment Company Limited ("Asoem”) on 1 April 2021 (the
"Asoem Framework Agreement’) governing the transactions
between Asoem and members of the Group in connection with (i)
the sales of equipment and vehicles and their peripheral and spare
parts and provision of related services from Asoem to the Group
("Asoem Type A Transactions’); and (ii) the sales of equipment
and vehicles and their peripheral and spare parts and provision of
related services from the Group to Asoem (“Asoem Type B
Transactions”). At any time during the term of the Asoem
Framework Agreement, the relevant members of the Group and
Asoem may from time to time enter into definitive agreement(s) in
relation to any Asoem Type A Transactions and Asoem Type B
Transactions. All definitive agreements shall:

(@)  bein writing and set out the terms and conditions on which
the transactions shall be undertaken;

(b)  beinthe ordinary and usual course of business of the Group;

(©)  be on normal commercial terms (as defined in the Listing
Rules) or more favorable to the Group;

(d)  (in the case of Asoem Type A Transactions) reflect the then
prevailing market rates and no less favorable than the terms
and conditions offered by an independent third party;

(e)  (in the case of Asoem Type B Transactions) reflect the then
prevailing market rates and no more favorable than the terms
and conditions offered to an independent third party;

() have a fixed term period not exceeding three years (or if over
three years, must be confirmed by an independent financial
adviser (as defined in the Listing Rules) that it is normal
business practice for agreements of this type to be of such
duration);

BFEBRERS

1.

Asoem HE R 173
KA A FR2021%F 4818 B Asoem (Intl)
Investment Company Limited (TAsoemJ) %T

SHEZR 755 ([Asoem iE 2B 15 5% |) -
Asoem B AR E B MK E QA aﬁﬁﬁTﬁlJ%Iﬁ
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J/}USZ?E*MCF 3 42 £ 46 B AR 75 ([ Asoem A
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CONTINUING CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS (Continued) HEREERS (8)
1. Asoem Framework Agreement (Continued) 1.  AsoemEZR{HE (&)

(@  set out the basis for calculating the payments to be made (@ HFIFERIELFE(BEETRR
(including, without limitation, the sales costs and service fees HEKAN R RBKAR(ER)) B E
(where applicable)); £

(h)  set out the other terms for the individual transactions which (h  BIIFE Asoem IEZR 5 &K B9 18 7
shall comply with the terms of the Asoem Framework R SHIEMIETR
Agreement;

() be fair and reasonable and in the interests of the Company () BAFEEBEREAEARARERED
and its shareholders as a whole; and BENE &

()  bein compliance with all applicable laws and regulations () FEMBERAEREZR(BEETR
(including, without limitation, the Listing Rules), all relevant REMRA - MBEHEBEREHR
constitutional documents and the Asoem Framework Asoem HEZR 1775 ©
Agreement.

As Asoem is owned as to 100% by Lau Pong Man, the brother of Lau 1 74 Asoem £ 2 A B ST 28 B FROR A 9 /N

Pong Sing and the brother-in-law of Chan Kit Mui Lina, each being a TRIF R FEH 100% 2 - 0 2IFR KRR

director and a controlling shareholder of the Company, Asoem is BEAARBES RIEREE - EHitiRE

therefore their associate and a connected person of the Company FTRAIZE 14AE © Asoem BIEEMBE A

under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules. RARNFRBEEANL -

The annual cap amounts for the transactions contemplated under B £22022%F3A31H 2023F3A31H &

the Asoem Framework Agreement for each of the years ending 31 2024F3 A3 B IE & EFE - Asoem iE B2

March 2022, 31 March 2023 and 31 March 2024 shall not exceed MHEENERETHRINFE LFREEDN

HK$2,990,000. 157838 2,990,000 & TT ©

As all the applicable percentage ratios in respect of annual cap for A B Asocem ER B EITE THEEITHRZ

the transactions contemplated under the Asoem Framework SMFELRMMABEMAE DL EER %

Agreement are less than 5% and the annual cap is less than N _ER 453,000,000/ 7T + i Asoem

HK$3,000,000, the transactions contemplated under the Asoem EEMRE TEETHIR S ELZHARE

Framework Agreement are fully exempt from shareholders’ approval, FTEMRAUEUAZE THRELE - F

annual review and all disclosure requirements under Chapter 14A of EEERMBERERT

the Listing Rules.
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CONTINUING CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS (Continued)

2.

A-One Pong Framework Agreement

The Company entered into a framework agreement with A-One
Pong Construction Equipment Limited (“A-One Pong") on 1 April
2021 (the "A-One Pong Framework Agreement’) governing the
transactions between A-One Pong and members of the Group in
connection with (i) the sales of equipment and vehicles and their
peripheral and spare parts and rental of equipment and vehicles and
provision of related services from A-One Pong to the Group (“A-One
Pong Type A Transactions’); and (i) the sales of equipment and
vehicles and their peripheral and spare parts and rental of
equipment and vehicles and provision of related services from the
Group to A-One Pong (“A-One Pong Type B Transactions”). At any
time during the term of the A-One-Pong Agreement, the relevant
members of the Group and A-One Pong may from time to time
enter into definitive agreement(s) in relation to any A-One Pong
Type A Transactions and A-One Pong Type B Transactions. All
definitive agreements shall:

(@)  bein writing and set out the terms and conditions on which
the transactions shall be undertaken;

(b)  beinthe ordinary and usual course of business of the Group;

() be on normal commercial terms (as defined in the Listing
Rules) or more favorable to the Group;

(d)  (in the case of A-One Pong Type A Transactions) reflect the
then prevailing market rates and no less favorable than the
terms and conditions offered by an independent third party;

(e)  (in the case of A-One Pong Type B Transactions) reflect the
then prevailing market rates and no more favorable than the
terms and conditions offered to an independent third party;

) have a fixed term period not exceeding three years (or if over
three years, must be confirmed by an independent financial
adviser (as defined in the Listing Rules) that it is normal
business practice for agreements of this type to be of such
duration);

(@) set out the basis for calculating the payments to be made
(including, without limitation, the sales costs and service fees
(where applicable));
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CONTINUING CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS (Continued)
2. A-OnePong Framework Agreement (Continued)
(h)  set out the other terms for the individual transactions which
shall comply with the terms of the A-One-Pong Framework
Agreement;

(i) be fair and reasonable and in the interests of the Company
and its shareholders as a whole; and

() be in compliance with all applicable laws and regulations
(including, without limitation, the Listing Rules), all relevant
constitutional documents and the A-One-Pong Framework
Agreement.

As A-One Pong is wholly-owned by Lau Pong Ming, brother of Lau
Pong Sing and the brother-in-law of Chan Kit Mui Lina, each being a
director and a controlling shareholder of the Company, A-One Pong
is therefore their associate and a connected person of the Company
under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.

The annual cap amounts for the transactions contemplated under
the A-One Pong Framework Agreement for each of the years ending
31 March 2022, 31 March 2023 and 31 March 2024 shall not exceed
HK$2,990,000.

As all the applicable percentage ratios in respect of annual cap for
the transactions contemplated under the A-One Pong Framework
Agreement are less than 5% and the annual cap is less than
HK$3,000,000, the transactions contemplated under the A-One Pong
Framework Agreement are fully exempt from shareholders’ approval,
annual review and all disclosure requirements under Chapter 14A of
the Listing Rules.

EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD
There is no material subsequent event undertaken by the Company or by
the Group after 31 March 2022 and up to the date of this annual report.

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

A summary of the significant related party transactions which were
conducted in the ordinary course of business are set out in Note 34 to the
consolidated financial statements.
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RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (Continued)

Save as disclosed above, none of the related party transactions set out in
Note 34 to the consolidated financial statements constituted connected
transactions/continuing connected transactions, or they constituted
connected transactions/continuing connected transactions but were
exempted from all disclosure and independent Shareholders’ approval
requirements under the Listing Rules.

DIVIDEND
The Board does not recommend the payment of final dividend for the year
ended 31 March 2022.

DIVIDEND POLICY
On 29 January 2019, the dividend policy was approved by the Board with
details as set out below.

Provided that the Group is profitable and without affecting the normal
operations of the Group, the Company may consider to declare and pay
dividends to the Shareholders.

In deciding whether to propose a dividend and in determining the
dividend amount, the Board shall take into account various factors
including but not limited to, (i) the cashflow of the Group, whether it is
adequate for the Group to operate its daily operation; (ii) capital
requirements of the Group; (iii) operating results and performance of the
Group; (iv) the indebtedness of the Group; (v) the economic outlook; (vi)
the compliance of any signed financial covenants of the Group; and (vii)
the future prospects of the Group, as well as the interests of the
Shareholders.

Declaration and payment of dividend by the Company are also subject to
the laws of the Cayman Islands, the memorandum and articles of
association of the Company and any applicable laws, rules and regulations
(including but not limited to the Listing Rules).

For the avoidance of doubt, there can be no assurance that a dividend will
be proposed or declared in any specific period.
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CLOSURE OF REGISTER OF MEMBERS

For determining the entitlement to attend and vote at the annual general
meeting ("AGM”") of the Company to be held on 31 August 2022, the
register of members of the Company will be closed from 25 August 2022
to 31 August 2022 (both days inclusive), during which period no transfer of
shares of the Company will be registered. In order to be eligible to attend
and vote at the AGM, all transfer forms accompanied by the relevant share
certificates must be lodged with the Company’s registrar, Computershare
Hong Kong Investor Services Limited, Shops 1712-1716, 17th Floor,
Hopewell Centre 183 Queen’s Road East, Wan Chai, Hong Kong, for
registration no later than 4:30 p.m. on 24 August 2022.

AUDITORS

The consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 March 2022
have been audited by Messrs. Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu who will retire
and, being eligible, offer themselves for re-appointment. A resolution for
the re-appointment of Messrs. Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu as auditors of the
Company is to be proposed at the 2022 AGM.

TAX RELIEF AND EXEMPTION OF HOLDERS OF LISTED
SECURITIES

The Company is not aware of any tax relief or exemption available to the
Shareholders by reason of their holding of the Company’s securities.

By order of the Board

LAU Pong Sing
Chairman and Executive Director
Hong Kong, 29 June 2022
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EXE

The Board is pleased to present the corporate governance report of the
Company for the year ended 31 March 2022.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES

The Company recognises the importance of corporate transparency and
accountability. The Company is committed to achieving a high standard of
corporate governance and leading the Group to attain better results and
improve its corporate image with effective corporate governance
procedures.

During the year ended 31 March 2022, the Company has engaged an
international consulting firm (the “Consultant”) to review and recommend
appropriate actions so as to ensure that the Company is complying with
the requirement of the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on The
Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Listing Rules”) in relation to
internal controls assessment, enterprise risk management and corporate
governance advising services. A review on the Company’s internal controls,
enterprise risk management and corporate governance practices were
conducted by the Consultant for FY2022, and the Company has been
improving its internal controls, enterprise risk management and corporate
governance practices continuously with reference to the Consultant’s
recommendations. Moreover, the Company has adopted its corporate
governance practices which are reproduced from the code provisions in
the Corporate Governance Code and Corporate Governance Report as set
out in Appendix 14 of the Listing Rules.

During the year ended 31 March 2022, the Company has complied with
the code provisions of the Corporate Governance Code as set out in
Appendix 14 to the Listing Rules ("CG Code”"), save and except for the
deviation from code provision A.2.1 (which has been re-arranged as code
provision C.2.1 since 1 January 2022).

Code provision A.2.1 (which has been re-arranged as code provision C.2.1
since 1 January 2022) of the CG Code stipulates that the roles of chairman
and chief executive should be separate and should not be performed by
the same individual. The roles of chairman and chief executive officer of
the Company are both performed by Mr. Lau Pong Sing. The Board believes
that vesting of the roles of both chairman and chief executive officer in the
same individual provides the Company with strong and consistent
leadership, efficient usage of resources and allows for effective planning,
formulation and implementation of the Company’s business strategies
which will enable the Company to sustain the development of its business
efficiently.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

COMPLIANCE WITH THE MODEL CODE FOR
SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS

The Company has adopted The Model Code for Securities Transactions by
Directors of Listed Issuers (the “Model Code”) set out in Appendix 10 to
the Listing Rules as its own code of conduct regarding securities
transactions by the directors of the Company. The Company has made
specific enquiries to all directors of the Company regarding any non-
compliance with the Model Code. All the directors of the Company
confirmed that they have complied with the required standard set out in
the Model Code in FY2022.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF AND DELEGATION BY THE
BOARD

The Board provides leadership and guidance to the Group's activities and is
responsible for formulating the overall strategies and determining the
direction of future development of the Group. The Board oversees the
Group's operation and financial performance. The Board has delegated its
powers to the management for the Group’s daily management and
operations.

BOARD COMPOSITION

Currently, the Board comprises two executive Directors, one non-executive
Director and three independent non-executive Directors. Since there are
three independent non-executive Directors and at least one of the
independent non-executive Directors possesses the appropriate
professional accounting qualifications and financial management expertise,
the Company has complied with the requirements under Rule 3.10 of the
Listing Rules. Furthermore, the Company has complied with Rule 3.10A of
the Listing Rules. The number of independent non-executive Directors
represents more than one-third of the Board. As such, there exists a strong
independent element in the Board, which can effectively exercise
independent judgement. The Board comprises the following Directors:
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EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS
Mr. Lau Pong Sing (2IF8X ) (Chairman; Chief Executive Officer)
Ms. Chan Kit Mui, Lina (BR218) (Chief Operating Officer)

NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR
Mr. Nakazawa Tomokatsu (£ & 52)

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS
Ir Dr. Ho Chung Tai, Raymond (fA]$£%%)

Mr. Siu Chak Yu (B2 F)

Mr. Li Ping Chi (Z1R7)

The Chairman and executive Director, Mr. Lau Pong Sing, is the spouse of
Ms. Chan Kit Mui, Lina, an executive Director. The executive Directors,
namely Mr. Lau Pong Sing and Ms. Chan Kit Mui, Lina, are interested in the
shares of the Company through their interest in New Club House
International Holdings Limited (‘New Club House") and Great Club House
Holdings Limited ("Great Club House") respectively (for details, please
refer to the Prospectus). Instances of actual or potential conflict have been
identified and minimised. Please refer to the “Directors and Senior
Management’, ‘Directors’ Report — Directors’ Interests and Short
Positions in Shares, Underlying Shares and Debentures” and
"Directors’ Report — Continuing Connected Transactions, Related
Party Transactions’ on pages 66 to 76, pages 38 to 39, pages 44 to 48 in
this annual report respectively for more details. Save as disclosed above,
the Directors have no other financial, business, family or other material/
relevant relationships with one another as at the date of this annual report.

Non-executive Director and Independent non-executive
Directors

Coming from diverse business and professional backgrounds, the non-
executive Director and the independent non-executive Directors of the
Company have shared their valuable experiences to the Board for
promoting the best interests of the Company and its shareholders. The
appointment of each of the non-executive Director and the independent
non-executive Directors is for an initial term of three years and shall
thereafter continue on a month to month basis unless otherwise agreed
between the director and the Company in writing or terminated in
accordance with the terms of the letter of appointment. Each of them is
also subject to retirement by rotation in accordance with the articles of
association of the Company (the “Articles”).
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

INDEPENDENCE OF INDEPENDENT

NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

The Company has received from each independent non-executive
Directors, a written confirmation of his independence to the Company
pursuant to the requirements of the Listing Rules. The Company considers
all independent non-executive Directors to be independent in accordance
with the relevant guidelines set out in Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules.

DIRECTORS’ CONTINUING PROFESSIONAL
DEVELOPMENT

Each newly appointed Director was provided with the necessary induction,
training and information to ensure that he/she has proper understanding
of his/her responsibilities under the Listing Rules and the applicable laws,
rules and regulations prior to his/her appointment. The Directors are
encouraged to participate in continuous professional development courses
and seminars to develop and refresh their knowledge and skills. The
Company will continue to arrange and fund suitable training and regular
seminars to provide Directors with updates on the latest developments
and changes in the Listing Rules and other relevant legal and regulatory
requirements from time to time.

During the year ended 31 March 2022, all Directors have attended training
in connection with their responsibilities as a director of the Company, and
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the attendance of each of the Directors is set out in the table below: BEEHELHINTEX

Name of Director Attendance

EENA HE

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS HITES

Mr. Lau Pong Sing (2 FBAK ) UFBRK 5 A v
(Chairman; Chief Executive Officer) (E/E  7TIEAAE)

Ms. Chan Kit Mui, Lina (FR3218) fRZMgZ v
(Chief Operating Officer) (EERE)

NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR FHITES

Mr. Nakazawa Tomokatsu (32 % 52.) FIER A v

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS BYFHITES

Ir Dr. Ho Chung Tai, Raymond ({A]$&%x) 4B ZR - T 260 v

Mr. Siu Chak Yu (BE/Z2F) BEFLE v

Mr. Li Ping Chi (Z=/A) FREXE v

v Attended
v BiE

X Not attended
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APPOINTMENT, RE-ELECTION AND REMOVAL OF
DIRECTORS

In April 2019, each of the executive Directors has entered into a service
agreement with the Company with no fixed term but may be terminated
pursuant to the respective terms of the service agreement (including the
termination by 3 months’ prior notice in writing by either party to the
service agreement). The basic directors’ emoluments for Mr. Lau Pong Sing
and Ms. Chan Kit Mui, Lina are HK$2,808,000 for 12 months and
HK$2,304,000 for 12 months, respectively. Mr. Nakazawa Tomokatsu, a non-
executive Director, entered into a letter of appointment dated 14
December 2018 with the Company, pursuant to which his appointment
would be for an initial term of three years, and shall thereafter continue on
a month to month basis unless otherwise agreed between the director and
the Company in writing or terminated in accordance with the terms of the
letter of appointment. Mr. Nakazawa Tomokatsu is not entitled to any
remuneration according to the letter of appointment. In addition, each of
the independent non-executive Directors, namely Mr. Li Ping Chi, Mr. Siu
Chak Yu and Mr. Ho Chung Tai, Raymond, has entered into a letter of
appointment dated 8 April 2019 with the Company, pursuant to which his
appointment would be for an initial term of three years, and shall thereafter
continue on a month to month basis unless otherwise agreed between the
director and the Company in writing or terminated in accordance with the
terms of the letter of appointment. Each of Mr. Siu Chak Yu and Mr. Li Ping
Chi, is entitled to a remuneration in the sum of HK$21,000 per month. Mr.
Ho Chung Tai, Raymond, is entitled to a remuneration in the sum of
HK$52,500 per month.

The procedures and process of appointment, re-election and removal of
the Directors are governed by the Articles. Article 83(3) of the Articles
provides that any director appointed by the Board to fill a casual vacancy
on the Board shall hold office only until the first general meeting of the
Company after his appointment and be subject to re-election at such
meeting and any Director appointed by the Board as an addition to the
existing Board shall hold office only until the next following annual general
meeting of the Company ("“AGM") and shall then be eligible for re-election.

In accordance with Article 84 of the Articles, at each AGM, one-third of the
Directors for the time being (or, if their number is not a multiple of three,
the number nearest to, but not less than one-third) shall retire from office
by rotation provided that every Director shall be subject to retirement at
AGM at least once every three years. A retiring Director shall be eligible for
re-election. The Directors to retire by rotation shall include (so far as
necessary to ascertain the number of directors to retire by rotation) any
Director who wishes to retire and not to offer himself for re-election. Any
further Directors so to retire shall be those of the other Directors subject to
retirement by rotation who have been longest in office since their last re-
election or appointment and so that as between persons who became or
were last re-elected Directors on the same day those to retire shall (unless
they otherwise agree among themselves) be determined by lot.
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At the last AGM held on Thursday, 26 August 2021, Mr. Lau Pong Sing and
Mr. Ho Chung Tai, Raymond have retired. Both of them have been
re-elected as Directors of the Company at the last AGM.

BOARD MEETING

Pursuant to the CG Code provision A.1.1 (which has been re-arranged as
code provision C.5.1 since 1 January 2022), the Board should meet regularly
and Board meetings should be held at least four times a year. The Board
meets regularly to discuss and formulate the overall strategies as well as
the operation and financial performance of the Group. Directors may
participate in Board meetings either in person or through electronic means
of communications.

If a director has a conflict of interest in a matter to be considered by the
Board which the Board has determined to be material, the Director shall
abstain from voting on the relevant resolutions and he/she shall not be
counted in the quorum in the Board meeting discussing the matter
concerned.

ATTENDANCE RECORD OF MEETINGS

During the year ended 31 March 2022, 15 Board meetings were held and 1
general meeting of the Company were held. Set out below are details of
the attendance record of each Director at the Board meetings, committee
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meetings and general meetings held during the year ended 31 March EZ&€&# -  ZE8e 83 LREASHLHT
2022: 1%
Meetings attended/Held
/e
Audit Nomination ~ Remuneration General

Board Committee Committee Committee Meeting of
Name of Director Meeting Meeting Meeting Meeting the Company

-4 EX RE 230 YN
s - ZEEEH ZE8ER ZEgEE REAE
EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS HTES
Mr. Lau Pong Sing (21 385X ) (Chairman) BIRREE(ER) 15/15 N/ATEA 2/2 11 11
Ms. Chan Kit Mui, Lina (B248) Rt 15/15 NA TR NATER NATER n
NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR FHTES
Mr. Nakazawa Tomokatsu (P E & 77.) RERRELE 15/15 N/A R E A N/A TR N/A R iE 0/1
INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS BIFHTES
Ir Dr.Ho Chung Tai, Raymond ({718 %%) WERELIEM 14/15 8/8 N/A NER N/ATER 0/1
Mr. Siu Chak Yu (B/2F) RETRL 15/15 8/8 22 " 1/1
Mr.Li Ping Chi (Z7) TRELE 15/15 8/8 2 1 1/1
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THE ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING

An AGM is an important forum in which the management of the Company
can communicate with the shareholders. The last AGM was held on 26
August 2021 and the upcoming AGM will be held on 31 August 2022.

BOARD COMMITTEES

The Board has established the Audit Committee, the Nomination
Committee and the Remuneration Committee (collectively the “Board
Committees’). The Audit Committee, the Nomination Committee and the
Remuneration Committee perform their distinct roles in accordance with
their respective terms of reference which are available to shareholders on
the websites of the Company and the Stock Exchange. The Board
Committees are provided with sufficient resources to discharge their duties
and, upon reasonable request, are able to seek independent professional
advice in appropriate circumstances, at the Company's expense.

AUDIT COMMITTEE

The Audit Committee was established on 17 March 2016, with specific
written terms of reference in compliance with Rule 3.22 of the Listing Rules
and paragraph C.3.3 of the CG Code (which has been re-arranged as
paragraph D.3.3 since 1 January 2022). The Audit Committee comprises
three members, all being independent non-executive Directors, namely,
Dr. Ho Chung Tai, Raymond, Mr. Siu Chak Yu and Mr. Li Ping Chi (Chairman).

The primary responsibilities of the Audit Committee include, among others,
making recommendations to the Board on the appointment and removal
of the external auditor, reviewing the financial statements and material
advice in respect of financial reporting and overseeing the internal control
procedures of the Company.

The Company has complied with Rule 3.21 of the Listing Rules in that the
Audit Committee must comprise a minimum of three members, at least
one of whom is an independent non-executive Director who possesses
appropriate professional qualifications or accounting or related financial
management expertise as required in Rule 3.10(2) of the Listing Rules. The
Audit Committee must be chaired by an independent non-executive
director.

During the year ended 31 March 2022, 8 meetings of the Audit Committee
were held to make recommendations to the Board as follows: (i) on the re-
appointment of the auditor and to approve the engagement letter of the
auditor; (i) advise the Board to engage the Consultant to provide advisory
services about the internal controls assessment, enterprise risk
management and corporate governance advising services for FY2022; (iii)
review reports on continuing connected transactions for every six months:
and (iv) review the unaudited interim results of the Group for the six
months ended 30 September 2021 and audited annual results of the
Group for the year ended 31 March 2021.
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On 29 June 2022, a meeting was held to review the Group’s financial
statements for the year ended 31 March 2022. The Audit Committee is of
the opinion that the financial statements of the Group for the year ended
31 March 2022 complied with the applicable accounting standards and the
Listing Rules.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE FUNCTION

The Audit Committee oversees the corporate governance functions of the
Company. The responsibilities of the Audit Committee in relation to
corporate governance functions are set out in the terms of reference of the
Audit Committee. Upon the listing of the Company, the Audit Committee
appointed the Consultant to perform a CG Code compliance review. The
review covered the Company’s terms of reference of Board Committees,
corporate governance policies and practices, training and continuous
professional development of the Directors and the senior management
and disclosures in the Corporate Governance Report. The Consultant has
provided certain recommendations on improving the Company'’s
corporate governance practices, which the Company has adopted
accordingly to ensure sound corporate governance practices.

NOMINATION COMMITTEE

The Nomination Committee was established on 17 March 2016, with
specific written terms of reference in compliance with paragraph A.5.2 of
the CG Code (which has been re-arranged as paragraph B.3.1
January 2022). The Nomination Committee comprises three members,
being one executive Director, namely, Mr. Lau Pong Sing (Chairman), and
two independent non-executive Directors, namely, Mr. Siu Chak Yu and Mr.

since 1

Li Ping Chi. Accordingly, a majority of the members are independent non-
executive Directors.

The primary responsibilities of the Nomination Committee include
reviewing the structure, size and composition (including the skills,
knowledge and experience) of the Board and making recommendations
on any proposed changes to the Board to complement the Company’s
corporate strategy and assessing the independence of independent non-
executive Directors.

During the year ended 31 March 2022, 2 meetings of the Nomination
Committee were held to review composition of board members.
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REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

The Remuneration Committee was established on 17 March 2016, with
specific written terms of reference in compliance with Rule 3.26 of the
Listing Rules and paragraph B.1.2 of the CG Code (which has been
re-arranged as paragraph E.1.2 since 1 January 2022). The Remuneration
Committee comprises three members, being one executive Director,
namely, Mr. Lau Pong Sing, and two independent non-executive Directors,
namely, Mr. Siu Chak Yu (Chairman) and Mr. Li Ping Chi. Accordingly, a
majority of the members are independent non-executive Directors.

The primary responsibilities of the Remuneration Committee include,
among others, (i) making recommendations to the Board on the policy and
structure for all remuneration of the Directors and senior management and
on the establishment of a set of formal and transparent procedures for
developing policies on such remuneration; (ii) reviewing and approving
the management'’s remuneration proposals with reference to the Board's
corporate goals and objectives; and (iii) making recommendations to the
Board on the remuneration packages of executive Directors and members
of senior management.

During the year ended 31 March 2022, 1 meeting of the Remuneration
Committee was held to review the remuneration package of the staff of
the Group and to make recommendations to the Board on such
remuneration packages.

REMUNERATION OF THE MEMBERS OF THE SENIOR
MANAGEMENT BY BAND

Details of the annual remuneration of the senior management of the
Company then in office by band for the year ended 31 March 2022 are as
follows:
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Remuneration band individuals
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Nil to HK$1,000,000 Z % 1,000,000 7 7T 1
HK$1,000,001 to HKS$ 1,500,000 1,000,001 7T 1,500,000 7 7T 2
HK$2,500,001 to HK$3,000,000 2,500,001 78 JT & 3,000,000 7 7T 2
Total 1zt 5

Details of the remuneration of each Director for the year ended 31 March
2022 are set out in note 11 to the consolidated financial statements.
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OTHER COMMITTEES

A Risk Management Committee under the management of the Company
has been established. The Risk Management Committee comprises three
members, being two executive Directors, namely, Mr. Lau Pong Sing and
Ms. Chan Kit Mui, Lina, and one senior staff member of the Company,
namely Mr. Wong Cheuk Man. The primary responsibilities of the Risk
Management Committee are to deliberate risk management related
policies and procedures, review the effectiveness of risk management
activities and handle issues of emergency.

During the year ended 31 March 2022, 2 meetings were held to (i) review
the risks of the Company due to the outbreak of the Covid-19; (ii) the
Russia-Ukraine military conflict; and (iii) work with the Consultant to identify
risk events, establishing the risk inventory, performing risk assessment and
formulating risk mitigation plans for preparing the risk management report
for the Group. The Group has then implemented a series of policies to
protect the staff, including working from home and provision of necessary
sanitizing products.

BOARD DIVERSITY POLICY

The Board has a board diversity policy (which was revised on 29 January
2019). The Company recognises and embraces the benefits of having a
diverse Board to enhance the quality of its performance. Diversity of Board
members can be achieved through consideration of a number of factors,
including but not limited to gender, age, cultural background and
ethnicity, in addition to educational background, professional
qualifications, industry and regional experience, skills, knowledge and
length of service. All the Board appointments will be based on meritocracy,
and candidates will be considered against appropriate criteria, having due
regard for the benefits of diversity on the Board.
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DIRECTOR NOMINATION POLICY

Purpose and objectives

On 29 January 2019, the director nomination policy (the “Policy”)
was approved by the Board with details as set out below:

1.

1.1

The Policy sets out the procedures and criteria to be adopted
by the Nomination Committee of the Company in relation to
the selection, appointment and reappointment of the
Directors.

The Policy aims at ensuring that the Board has a balance of
skills, experience and diversity of perspectives appropriate to
the requirements of the Company’s business.

Selection criteria

The Nomination Committee shall consider the following factors
("Selection Criteria”) when nominating potential candidates for the
appointment and reappointment of Directors:

whether the individual’'s educational background and
qualification, skills and experience are relevant to the
Company's business model and specific needs;

the individual’s character and reputation for integrity;

whether the individual would be able to devote sufficient time
to the Board;

(in respect of appointment and reappointment of
independent non-executive Directors) independence of the
individual with reference to the independence criteria set out
in Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules;

how the individual would be able to contribute to the diversity
of the Board with reference to the factors set out in the Board
Diversity Policy of the Company from time to time in force;
and

Board succession planning considerations.
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3. Procedures and process for nomination of Directors
3.1 The Board or the Nomination Committee shall deploy such
channel(s) for identifying suitable director candidates as it
deems appropriate, including but not limited to referrals from
existing Directors, Shareholders, advisers and third party
agency firms and advertisements.

3.2 The Nomination Committee shall adopt such process as it
deems appropriate in evaluating the suitability of the potential
candidates, such as interviews, background checks and third
party reference checks, and select or make recommendations
to the Board on the selection of individuals to be nominated
for directorships based on the Selection Criteria.

3.3 The ultimate responsibility for the selection and appointment
of Directors shall rest with the Board.

NON-COMPETITION UNDERTAKING BY CONTROLLING
SHAREHOLDERS

Mr. Lau Pong Sing, Ms. Chan Kit Mui, Lina, New Club House and Great Club
House (collectively the “Controlling Shareholders”), have entered into a
deed of non-competition dated 18 March 2016 (“Deed of Non-
competition”) with the Company, pursuant to which the Controlling
Shareholders of the Company have irrevocably undertaken to the
Company that he/she/it would not, and would procure that his/her/its
close associates (except any members of the Group) would not, during the
restricted period, directly or indirectly, either on his/her/its own account or
in conjunction with or on behalf of any person, firm or company, among
other things, carry on, participate or be interested or engaged in or acquire
or hold (in each case whether as shareholder, director, partner, agent,
employee or otherwise, and whether for profit, reward or otherwise) any
business which is or may be in competition with the business currently
carried on or contemplated to be carried on by any member of the Group
(save and except for certain residual contracts of which shall be terminated
upon their respective expiry dates (the details of which are set out in the
Prospectus)). Details of the Deed of Non-competition are set out in the
section headed “Relationship with Controlling Shareholders” of the
Prospectus. The Company entered into the supplemental deed on 10 May
2019 ("Supplemental Deed’) with the Controlling Shareholders to amend
the Deed of Non-competition. Pursuant to the Supplemental Deed, the
geographic coverage under the definition of “Restricted Business” (as
defined in the Deed of Non-competition) and the undertaking given by the
Controlling Shareholders will be expanded to include the PRC. The details
of the transaction were set out in the announcement of the Company
dated 10 May 2019 and the circular of the Company dated 3 June 2019,
respectively.
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The Supplemental Deed and the rights and obligations thereunder are
conditional upon (i) the independent shareholders of the Company having
approved the Supplemental Deed and the rights and obligations
thereunder at a general meeting of the Company as required by and in
accordance with the Listing Rules; and (ii) the completion of the
transactions contemplated under the Equity Transfer Agreement (as
defined in the circular of the Company dated 3 June 2019). The
Supplemental Deed and the transactions contemplated thereunder were
approved at an extraordinary general meeting of the Company on 25 June
2019. Completion of the acquisition took place on 20 September 2019.

Each of the Controlling Shareholders has provided confirmation(s) in
respect of compliance with his/her/its undertaking under the Deed of Non-
competition (as amended and supplemented by the Supplemental Deed)
during the year ended 31 March 2022.

The independent non-executive Directors have reviewed the status of
compliance by each of the Controlling Shareholders of the terms of the
Deed of Non-competition (as amended and supplemented by the
Supplemental Deed) and were satisfied that each of the Controlling
Shareholders has complied with his/her/its undertaking during the year
ended 31 March 2022.

EXTERNAL AUDITORS’ REMUNERATION

For the year ended 31 March 2022, the remunerations paid or payable to
the external auditors in respect of its audit services and non-audit services
provided to the Group were approximately HK$1.7 million and HK$0.5
million, respectively. The non-audit services consist of taxation, internal
controls assessment, enterprise risk management, corporate governance
advising services and other services.

DIRECTORS’ AND AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITY IN
RESPECT OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The Directors acknowledge their responsibility for preparing the financial
statements of the Company and of the Group for the year ended 31 March
2022. The Directors are not aware of any material uncertainties relating to
events or conditions that may cast significant doubt upon the Company’s
ability to continue as a going concern. The statement of the independent
auditor of the Company about their reporting responsibilities on the
financial statements is set out in the Independent Auditor's Report on
pages 77 to 84.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROL
SYSTEMS

The Group has established a risk management framework, which consists
of the Board of Directors, the Audit Committee and the Risk Management
Committee. The Board of Directors determines the nature and extent of
risks that shall be taken in achieving the Group's strategic objectives, and
has the overall responsibility for monitoring the design, implementation
and the overall effectiveness of risk management and internal control
systems.

The Group has formulated and adopted Risk Management Policy in
providing direction in identifying, evaluating and managing significant
risks. At least on an annual basis, the Risk Management Committee
identifies risks that would adversely affect the achievement of the Group’s
objectives, and assesses and prioritizes the identified risks according to a
set of standard criteria. Risk mitigation plans and risk owners are then
established and assigned for those risks considered to be significant.

The Board is responsible for maintaining and reviewing the effectiveness of
the Group's internal control system. The internal controls are designed to
meet the Group's particular needs and to minimise the risks to which the
Group is exposed, and are designed to manage rather than eliminate the
risks to achieve business objectives of the Group, and can only provide
reasonable but not absolute assurance against misstatements or losses.

The Company does not have an internal audit function. During the year
ended 31 March 2022, the Company engaged the Consultant to review the
effectiveness of certain of the Group's internal controls assessment,
enterprise risk management and corporate governance matters.
Deficiencies in the design and implementation of internal controls are
identified and recommendations are proposed for improvement.
Significant internal control deficiencies are reported to the Audit
Committee and the Board of Directors on a timely basis to ensure prompt
remedial actions are taken. Results of internal controls review are reported
to the Audit Committee and the Board at least once a year. During the year
under review, the Consultant has issued the internal controls report (“IC
Report’), enterprise risk management report ('ERM Report’) and the
Corporate Governance report (“CG Report”) to the Audit Committee and
the Board. The Board has adopted the advice made in the IC Report, the
ERM Report and the CG Report and has continuously improving its
corporate governance practices and risk management with reference to
the Consultant’s recommendations.

As a result of the above review, the Board confirms that the Group's risk
management and internal control systems are adequate and effective and
have complied with the CG Code provisions on risk management and
internal control throughout the year ended 31 March 2022.
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TEBERAME

PROCEDURES AND INTERNAL CONTROLS FOR THE
HANDLING AND DISSEMINATION OF INSIDE
INFORMATION

The Group complies with requirements of the Securities & Futures
Ordinance (“SFO”) and the Listing Rules. The Group discloses inside
information to the public as soon as reasonably practicable unless the
information falls within any of the safe harbours as provided in the SFO.
Before the information is fully disclosed to the public, the Group ensures
the information is kept strictly confidential. If the Group believes that the
necessary degree of confidentiality cannot be maintained or that
confidentiality may have been breached, the Group would immediately
disclose the information to the public. The Group is committed to ensure
that information contained in announcements are not false or misleading
as to a material fact, or false or misleading through the omission of a
material fact. The Group is committed to ensure that information contained
in announcements is presented in a clear and balanced way, which
requires equal disclosure of both positive and negative facts.

COMPANY SECRETARY

The role of the company secretary of the Company (“Company
Secretary’) is performed by Mr. Wong Cheuk Man. The Company Secretary
is responsible for facilitating the Board's processes and communications
among Board members, shareholders and the management of the
Company. The Company Secretary undertakes at least 15 hours of relevant
professional training annually to update his skills and knowledge.

SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHTS

The general meetings of the Company provide an opportunity for
communications between the shareholders and the Board. An AGM of the
Company shall be held in each year and at the place as may be determined
by the Board.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

SHAREHOLDERS TO CONVENE AN EXTRAORDINARY
GENERAL MEETING (“EGM")

Pursuant to Article 58 of the Articles, any one or more shareholders of the
Company holding, at the date of deposit of the requisition, not less than
one-tenth of the paid up capital of the Company carrying the right of
voting at general meetings of the Company shall at all times have the right,
by written requisition to the Board or the company secretary, to require an
EGM to be called by the Board for the transaction of any business specified
in such requisition; and such meeting shall be held within two months
after the deposit of such requisition. Such requisition shall be made in
writing to the Board or the company secretary at the head office of the
Company in Hong Kong, which is presently situated at Unit 806A, 8th Floor,
Tower lI, South Seas Centre, No. 75 Mody Road, Kowloon, Hong Kong. If
within 21 days of such deposit, the Board fails to proceed to convene such
meeting, the requisitionist(s) himself/herself (themselves) may do so in the
same manner, and all reasonable expenses incurred by the requisitionist(s)
as a result of the failure of the Board shall be reimbursed to the
requisitionist(s) by the Company.

PUTTING ENQUIRIES BY SHAREHOLDERS TO THE
BOARD

Shareholders may send written enquiries to the Company for the attention
of the Company Secretary at the Company’s head office in Hong Kong.

PROCEDURES FOR PUTTING FORWARD PROPOSALS BY
SHAREHOLDERS AT SHAREHOLDERS' MEETING
Shareholders are requested to follow Article 58 of the Articles for putting
forward a resolution at an EGM. The requirements and procedures are set
out above in the paragraph headed “Shareholders to Convene an
Extraordinary General Meeting'.

CONSTITUTIONAL DOCUMENTS

The Company has adopted, on 17 March 2016, the amended and restated
memorandum and articles of association of the Company which took
effect from 8 April 2016. There was no change in the constitutional
documents of the Company during the year ended 31 March 2022.

By order of the Board

Lau Pong Sing
Chairman and Executive Director
29 June 2022
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DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT
EFRARRERE

OVERVIEW BmE
The table below contains certain information about our Directors and ~ FEREINETEHRES RS REEBHNER -
senior management.
Date of
appointment
Date of joining to the current Responsibilities
Name Age Position the Group position in the Group
MAEER EZEE AR
BnE Fike B #9 B # #9 B #8 RASEHNHE
Mr. Lau Pong Sing 65 Executive Director; 22 December 2004 11 June 2015 Our overall management
(BIFBAK) Chairman; Chief and business development;
executive officer setting business strategies,
direction and goals
BIFRELE 65  HBTES:ER:  2004F12ANB 2015F6ANA BMANEBEEREBER:
TR, HIEEBRE -~ ARk
ERES
Ms. Chan Kit Mui, Lina 64 Executive Director; 22 December 2004 11 June 2015 Overseeing our
(FRZ4) Chief operating administration, financial
officer control and human
resources
R L 64  HITES: 2004128228 2015F6 A1 A EBRMNITE - FHEH
EiEMmE RANER
Mr. Nakazawa Tomokatsu 49 Non-executive 14 December 2018 14 December 2018  Supervising the management
(PERR) Director of the Company
FERRELE 49 FRTEEF 2018 128148 2018F 12148 EEARANER
Ir Dr. Ho Chung Tai, 83 Independent 17 March 2016 17 March 2016 Supervising the management
Raymond ({i]§£2%) Non-executive of the Company
Director
fIEZRE L T2 83  BUIIFWTEEF 201638178 2016638178 EHEEAQRNER
Mr. Siu Chak Yu 61 Independent 17 March 2016 17 March 2016 Supervising the management
(BEF) Non-executive of the Company
Director
BETEE 61 BN TES 016F3R17H 20163178 EEARANER
Mr. Li Ping Chi 62 Independent 17 March 2016 17 March 2016 Supervising the management
(FRE) Non-executive of the Company
Director
FRELE 62  BUIFWTEZF 016F3A17H 20163178 EEARANER
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DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT
T2 NEREIEE

OVERVIEW (Continued) BE )
Date of
appointment
Date of joining to the current Responsibilities
Name Age Position the Group position in the Group
MAEER EZEA BT
e e B B 5 #H RASENHE
Mr. Shinji Mitsuya 68 Director of 3 March 2017 3 March 2017 Oversee the operations
(ZXRfED) AP Singapore business in AP Singapore,
a subsidiary of the
Company in Singapore
—REZRE 68 AP Singapore B % 20173838 2017F3A38 EBARFRIIMEN
B} 72 ] AP Singapore
O —)E
Mr. Lau Tsz Fung 36 Vice president — 1 April 2009 1 April 2014 Overseeing our sales and
(B174%) sales and marketing marketing affairs
BFigxnE 36 BlEB(HEREE) 2000F4818  2014F4/18  EERFNBEEREHEER
Mr. Wong Cheuk Man 56 Financial controller 1 January 2010 1 January 2010 Overseeing our financial
(FE8) & Company Secretary management and company
secretarial matters
IT=EgnE 56 HIBMERARWE 2010081818 2001818 EERMANMBERER
RAWEEH
Notes: 5T
(1) Mr. Lauis the spouse of Ms. Chan and father of Mr. TF Lau. (1) 2 E BRI BRI TFEREENLE -
(2)  Ms.Chanis the spouse of Mr. Lau and mother of Mr. TF Lau. ) Rt BRI EENEBRETEEENTE -
(3)  Mr.LauTsz Fung (“Mr. TF Lau’) is the son of Mr. Lau and Ms. Chan. ?3) 27 A ([BFEEE ) BRIGTENRLZ T

2T

PERREERSABANEES - RN2018F 12
R4 RBERERKARIENTES -

(4) Mr. Nakazawa Tomokatsu is an employee of Kanamoto Japan, and was 4)
appointed as a non-executive Director of the Company on 14 December
2018.

BEENERERENES I AT B NETE
7550 — B8 HE806A = ©

The business address of our Directors and senior management is Unit 806A,
8th Floor, Tower Il, South Seas Centre, No. 75 Mody Road, Kowloon, Hong
Kong.

TEAESERER AT /2022 FERH




DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

EFRARRERE

DIRECTORS

The Board currently consists of six Directors, comprising two executive
Directors, one non-executive Director and three independent non-
executive Directors. The following table sets forth information regarding
our Directors. The functions and duties of the Board include convening
shareholders’ meetings, reporting on the Board’s work at these meetings,
implementing the resolutions passed at these meetings, determining
business and investment plans, formulating our annual budget and final
accounts, and formulating our proposals for profit distributions and for the
increase or reduction of registered capital. In addition, the Board is
responsible for exercising other powers, functions and duties in accordance
with the Articles of Association of the Company.

Executive Directors

Mr. LAU Pong Sing 2385

Executive Director, chairman and chief executive officer

Mr. Lau, aged 65, was appointed as our executive Director and Chairman of
June 2015 and concurrently serves as our chief executive
officer and is one of the authorised representatives of the Company. Mr.
Lau is primarily responsible for the Group’s overall management and
business development, as well setting our business strategies, direction
and goals. Mr. Lau is the chairman of our Nomination Committee and the
Risk Management Committee and a member of the Remuneration
Committee. Mr. Lau is the director of New Club House and Great Club
House.

the Board on 11

Prior to joining the Group in 2004 as one of the founders, Mr. Lau had
accumulated over 20 years of experience in the construction equipment
industry through his directorship in and management of Ajax Pong
Construction Equipment Limited from September 1983 to March 1992 and
Ajax Pong (Holdings) Limited from April 1992 to December 2014. Mr. Lau
had in the past managed or oversight various aspects of the Group,
including business development and strategies, financial management and
management of training to be given to our employees. Under the
leadership of Mr. Lau and Ms. Chan, the Group has entered into strategic
partnership agreements with reputable construction equipment suppliers,
and participated in a number of landmark construction projects.

Mr. Lau is the spouse of Ms. Chan and father of Mr. Lau Tsz Fung.
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DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

DIRECTORS (Continued)

Executive Directors (Continued)

Ms. CHAN Kit Mui, Lina fR 21§

Executive Director and chief operating officer

Ms. Chan, aged 64, has been our executive Director since 11 June 2015 and
also serves as our chief operating officer. She is in charge of the Group's
administration, financial control and human resources. Ms. Chan is also a
member of the Risk Management Committee. Ms. Chan is the director of
Great Club House and New Club House.

Prior to joining the Group in 2004 as one of the founders, Ms. Chan has
acquired over 20 years of experience in the construction equipment
industry. She was principally responsible for corporate reorganisation,
business management control, as well as setting up corporate
administration systems and finance systems, during her positions as deputy
managing director of Ajax Pong Construction Equipment Limited from
April 1989 to March 1992, and deputy managing director of Ajax Pong
(Holdings) Limited from April 1992 to December 2014.

Since joining the Group, she has worked closely with Mr. Lau to expand the
Group's business in Hong Kong and Macau and assisted in the set up of our
current operation system and staff welfare scheme.

Ms. Chan obtained a Secretarial Diploma from the Chinese Young Men's
Christian Association of Hong Kong in May 1978 and an Intermediate Stage
Certificate in Book-keeping from the London Chamber of Commerce and
Industry in Spring 1978. She also completed the Computerized Accounting
System for Commerce and Industry Training Course given by the Hong Kong
Productivity Council in October 1986.

Ms. Chan is the spouse of Mr. Lau and mother of Mr. Lau Tsz Fung.
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DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

EFRARRERE

DIRECTORS (Continued)

Non-executive Director

Mr. NAKAZAWA Tomokatsu F/2X 72

Mr. Nakazawa Tomokatsu (FR 2/ 52 ), aged 49, is the Deputy General Manager
of Overseas Business Division of Kanamoto Japan. He has over 25 years of
relevant working experience in Kanamoto Japan and its subsidiaries (the
"Kanamoto Group”), and is familiar with business operations, overseas
business development plan, and company policy of Kanamoto Group.

He graduated from Tohoku Gakuin University in Japan in 1996 and
obtained a Bachelor degree of Arts in Economics.

Mr. Nakazawa started to develop his career in construction machinery
business with Kanamoto Japan immediately after his graduation. He was
assigned to Sendai Sales Branch responsible for all-round sales and
marketing activities of rental, leasing and sale of construction machineries
and equipment. He was then promoted to Chief and Deputy Associate
Director of Sendai Sales Branch in 1999 and 2001 respectively.

Since 2002, Mr. Nakazawa has been transferred to various branches and
divisions accountable for sales and marketing management, business
strategy planning, budget control, customer management and internal
management for construction machinery business of Kanamoto Group. He
was then transferred to Kyokuto Lease Co,, Ltd. ("Kyokuto”), a subsidiary of
Kanamoto Japan and was promoted to Managing Director & Sales General
Manager in 2008. His job duties included total management of Kyokuto
from internal management to business development. Since 2014, he has
been Deputy General Manager of Overseas Business Division responsible
for general management of overseas businesses of Kanamoto Group.

In 2018, Mr. Nakazawa has been transferred to Kanamoto (HK) Co., Ltd.
("Kanamoto HK"), a wholly-owned subsidiary of Kanamoto Japan in Hong
Kong, which enriched his experience in the Hong Kong market. He has
been the Director and the Chief Operating Officer of Kanamoto HK and was
responsible for the business management, development, and planning.
Since 2021, he was then transferred to Kanamoto Australia Holdings Pty
Ltd. ("'Kanamoto Australia”) and was promoted to Director of Kanamoto
Australia and Deputy Managing Director of Kanamoto Australia’s
subsidiaries. His job duties included total management of Kanamoto
Australia and its subsidiaries from internal management to business
development as well as strategic business planning of Oceania region.

Throughout Mr. Nakazawa's long career in Kanamoto Group, he has been
engaging in the full spectrum of general management from business
management to internal management. Through such job duties, he
acquired a clear picture of the business operations, business network and
overseas business development plan. He is familiar with the business trend
of the industry and market trends of construction machinery in Asian
regions.
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DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

DIRECTORS (Continued)

Independent Non-executive Directors

Ir Dr. HO Chung Tai, Raymond A& %

Independent non-executive Director

Ir Dr. Ho Chung Tai, Raymond, SBS, MBE, S.B. St. J,, JP, aged 83, was
appointed as our independent non-executive Director on 17 March 2016.
He is a member of our Audit Committee.

Dr. Ho has over 50 years of experience in civil, structural, environmental
and geotechnical engineering industries and has directly managed a
number of mega-sized engineering projects.

Dr. Ho received his degree of doctor of philosophy in Civil Engineering
from the City University of London in June 1971, an Honorary Doctor of
Laws from the University of Manchester in September 2001 and an
Honorary degree of Doctor of Business Administration from the City
University of Hong Kong in November 1999. He graduated from the
University of Hong Kong in November 1963 with a Bachelor of Science in
Engineering and obtained his diploma for advanced studies in engineering,
soil mechanics from the University of Manchester in July 1964.
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DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT
EFRARRERE

DIRECTORS (Continued)

Independent Non-executive Directors (Continued)
Ir Dr. HO Chung Tai, Raymond {i$& %= (Continued)
Independent non-executive Director (Continued)

As at the date of the annual report, Dr. Ho served or is currently serving as

director of the following listed public companies in Hong Kong:

Period

i

Office
B 7%

BEEw®)

BIYFHTEEE)

MERE+ TR (48)

BUIHTEE (E)

REBRBE BT YRBEEETNES LT
ABAFNES

Listed public company on the Stock Exchange
B ETARDT

Since 16 June 2020
B 2020F6 A 16 B

Since 22 January 2020 to

1 October 2021

BH20205F1 A2 BH#ER

202110 H1H

From September 2018
to 16 June 2020

B20185F9 A#EE
20206 A 16 ALk

Since December 2013

H2013F 12 A
Since September 2007

B 2007 9 A

From June 2005 to
3 June 2019

2005 6 AEE
20196 A3H

Since September 1993

B 199349 A

Other current appointments and offices of Dr. Ho are further set out below:

Current appointments and offices

B ATt as R Bi%

Independent non-executive director
BIUFHITES

Independent non-executive director
B IERITES
Chairman and Non-executive director

EFEIFATESR

Independent non-executive director

BYIFNITES

Independent non-executive director

BUIRAITES

Independent non-executive director

BUIRATES

Independent non-executive director

BIUFATES

Superland Group Holdings Limited (stock code: 368)
EeEEEZERARAE (R : 368)

Fu Shek Financial Holdings Limited (stock code: 2263)

EOSBZERARAT (B : 2263)

Veson Holdings Limited (Formerly known as
SCUD Group Limited) (stock code: 1399)
HIEERAERAR (AIERREREEFRLA)
(B An 5% : 1399)

ChinLink International Holdings Limited
(stock code: 997)
e e BRI RA R A R (R H5% - 997)

GCL Technology Holdings Limited (Formerly known as
GCL-Poly Energy Holdings Limited)
(stock code: 3800)
ERIERAR A
(RITRE BRI Hh 28 e )?E’% RERAFE)
(AR H5% ¢ 3800)
China State Construction International Holdings
Limited (stock code: 3311)
PEREERBREB AR AR (B - 3311)

Deson Development International Holdings Limited
(stock code: 262)
EHREREEER AR (B : 262)

gL B AR AL o R E—SEIN T

Honorary Chairman (since April 2019) and Chairman (from February 2005 to April
2019) of the Guangdong Daya Bay Nuclear Plant and Ling Ao Nuclear Plant Safety
Consultative Committee

BRAEARGEZEURBRRBUR L2 HAZESGRELE(B2019F
4 A%8) REE (H20054F2 A E 201954 A)

Professional advisor to the Office of the Ombudsman of Hong Kong (for the periods
1 July 1995 to 31 March 2013 and 1 October 2015 to 30 September 2021)
BERFREEREEEEM(1995F7 A1 BEE 201343 A31 BHRE & 2015
F10A1BRE2021F9A308)
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DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

DIRECTORS (Continued)

Independent Non-executive Directors (Continued)

Mr. SIU Chak Yu #)2F

Independent non-executive Director

Mr. Siu, BBS, JP, aged 61, was appointed as our independent non- executive
Director on 17 March 2016. Mr. Siu is the chairman of our Remuneration
Committee and a member of each of the Audit Committee and the
Nomination Committee.

Mr. Siu has gained experience in legal practice in Hong Kong. He obtained
a Bachelor of Laws degree and a Postgraduate Certificate in Laws from the
University of Hong Kong in November 1983 and July 1984, respectively. He
was admitted as a solicitor in Hong Kong in September 1986, England and
Wales in June 1990, Australian Capital Territory in February 1991, and in
Singapore in September 1992; and as a barrister in Australia in February
1991. Mr. Siu was appointed as a Notary Public in April 1997, a China-
Appointed Attesting Officer in January 2000, and currently a partner of
Hastings & Co.

He is currently the vice-chairman of the Estate Agents Authority and a
board member of the Guardianship Board.
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DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

EFRARRERE

DIRECTORS (Continued)

Independent Non-executive Directors (Continued)

Mr. LI Ping Chi Z/R&

Independent non-executive Director

Mr. Li, aged 62, was appointed as our independent non-executive Director
17 March 2016. Mr. Li is the chairman of our Audit Committee and a

member of each of the Remuneration Committee and Nomination

Committee.

Mr. Li has over 30 years of experience in accounting and auditing. He was
an assistant assessor for the Hong Kong Inland Revenue Department from
August 1982 to February 1985. He joined Touche Ross Hong Kong in March
1985 and was promoted to the position of audit manager in August 1989.
He later joined Deloitte China in April 1990 as a result of its merger with
Touche Ross Hong Kong and had been a partner from June 1996 to May
2013.

Mr. Li received a higher diploma in accountancy with distinction from the
Hong Kong Polytechnic University in November 1982. He is a member of
the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants and a fellow of the
Association of Chartered Certified Accountants.

SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Our senior management members are responsible for the day-to-day
management of the Company’s business. None of the members of our
senior management has been a director of a public company the securities
of which are listed on any securities market in Hong Kong or overseas.

Mr. MITSUYA Shinji =& 5=

Director of AP Singapore

Mr. Mitsuya, aged 68, has been the consultant of a subsidiary of the
Company, AP Rentals Limited, since 1st of January, 2017. In the wake of
establishment of a new company under the Group in Singapore, AP
Singapore, he was appointed and assigned as Director of AP Singapore on
3 March 2017

Mr. Mitsuya’s main roles are to launch an equipment rental business in
Singapore capitalizing the Group's experience and know-how as a solution
provider, to develop a new market in the South Pacific Ocean and to
establish a closer relationship and communications with Japanese partners
based on long term strategy.
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DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

SENIOR MANAGEMENT (Continued)

Mr. MITSUYA Shinji =% {§ = (Continued)

Director of AP Singapore (Continued)

Prior to joining the Group, he has been in Europe from 2007 to 2012, three
years in Lyon, France and three years in Utrecht, Holland as a general
manager of local company of Furukawa Unic Corporation, establishing new
sales channels in EU countries.

He has been engaged in overseas marketing since early 1980th at
Hokuetsu Industries Co., Ltd., known as Airman air-compressor until 2006.

Having been working for a long time for Japanese construction machinery
manufacturers, he expanded sales opportunities through new dealers
including commencement of local production in the global market. He
obtained Bachelor's degree in Mechanical Engineering from Kanto Gakuin
University in March 1977.

Mr. LAU Tsz Fung (2|7 $%), aged 36, is our vice president and oversees the
sales and marketing department of the Company. He is principally
responsible for encouraging sustainable development through the delivery
of updated market analysis and information, and works closely with the
sales team in attracting potential customers and contracts. His roles and
duties include maintaining a high volume of rental transactions and good
relationships with worldwide manufacturers and suppliers. Mr. TF Lau has
completed training sessions on construction equipment given by
Donaldson Company, Inc., Nippon Sharyo, Ltd., Furukawa UNIC Corporation
and Denyo Co,, Ltd..

Mr. TF Lau received his Bachelor's degree in Business Economics from the
University of California Santa Barbara in September 2008. Prior to joining
the Group as a sales and marketing officer in April 2009, he was a marketing
officer assistant at Ajax Pong (Holdings) Limited from April 2008 to June
2008, where he was responsible for managing relationship with potential
customers and overseas buyers.

Mr. TF Lau is the son of Mr. Lau and Ms. Chan.
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DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

EFRARRERE

SENIOR MANAGEMENT (Continued)

Mr. WONG Cheuk Man (E &£ #), aged 56, is the financial controller,
company secretary and one of the authorised representatives of the
Company. He is also a member of the Risk Management Committee. He is
primarily responsible for the Group’s accounting, internal control, financial
reporting, resource management and information technology affairs.

Mr. Wong graduated from the University of Western Sydney Nepean with a
Bachelor's degree in Business Administration in September 1999 and
obtained a Master's degree in International Accounting from the City
University of Hong Kong in November 2001. Mr. Wong has over 29 years of
experience in accounting. He was an assistant accountant at Sanyo Electric
(Hong Kong) Ltd. from July 1987 to April 1990, cost accountant and later
assistant finance manager of STD Holding Ltd. from August 1990 to
September 1994. He served as accounting manager and subsequently
financial controller of Ajax Pong (Holdings) Limited from September 1994
prior to joining the Group in January 2010

Mr. Wong is a member of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants and a fellow member of the Association of Chartered Certified
Accountants.

Each of our senior management did not hold any other directorship in
listed public companies in the three years prior to the date of this annual
report.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

Deloitte

TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF AP RENTALS HOLDINGS LIMITED
CRAEEERARAA

(incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of AP Rentals
Holdings Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries (collectively referred
to as “the Group”) set out on pages 85 to 184, which comprise the
consolidated statement of financial position as at 31 March 2022, and the
consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income,
consolidated statement of changes in equity and consolidated statement
of cash flows for the year then ended, and notes to the consolidated
financial statements, including a summary of significant accounting
policies.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and fair
view of the consolidated financial position of the Group as at 31 March
2022, and of its consolidated financial performance and its consolidated
cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with Hong Kong
Financial Reporting Standards ("HKFRSs") issued by the Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants ("HKICPA") and have been
properly prepared in compliance with the disclosure requirements of the
Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on
Auditing ("HKSAs") issued by the HKICPA. Our responsibilities under those
standards are further described in the Auditor's Responsibilities for the
Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements section of our report. We
are independent of the Group in accordance with the HKICPA's Code of
Ethics for Professional Accountants (“the Code”), and we have fulfilled our
other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Code. We believe that
the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to
provide a basis for our opinion.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

VR GRS

KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgement,

FARETER

RREFSFARRERMANIERHE - RAEYA

were of most significance in our audit of the consolidated financial HIRAMBRRANBHSAETENZIE - ZLF

statements of the current period. These matters were addressed in the
context of our audit of the consolidated financial statements as a whole,
and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate

opinion on these matters.

Key audit matters

ARAERMETBEBSFAMBERRLAZRR
ETREN - RUITSHELEHRREHEBNE
H o

How our audit addressed the key audit matters

BRETER

Impairment assessment of plant and machinery

Has R Bl E T 1

We identified the impairment assessment of plant and
machinery as a key audit matter due to the significance of the
carrying value of plant and machinery to the consolidated
financial statements as a whole and the judgements associated
with the assessment of the recoverable amount of plant and
machinery by the management of the Group.

P RS BREEH BB G M IEHRRMEZ LI
K BEBETEEFAHEE R AT U@ £ BB ATE L A
FUET - AR =S RO AR RRRET FE -

As disclosed in the note 14 to the consolidated financial
statements, the carrying value of plant and machinery reported
under property, plant and equipment as at 31 March 2022 was
HK$188,339,000. The Group’s accumulated impairment losses of
plant and machinery as at 31 March 2022 was HK$5,461,000. A
reversal of impairment losses of HK$2,435,000 has been
recognised in the profit or loss for the current year.
MR E BRI 14 FTHER - M2026F3A31H -
R B RREE T 2R SR REER
188,339,000 75 ° AN 5 B2 2022 4F 3 A 31 A A 28 R ML
B RETRE 518 55,461,000 78 7T © 2,435,000 78 7T K6 (B 5
BREEBENRAEEERRTHER

As detailed in note 14 to the consolidated financial statements,
the determination of the recoverable amounts of the assets is
based on the higher of:

MINGEE MR T 4P - BEFROI SR IR
BUATEENRSEETE

Value in use, based on the estimation on the future
profitability from leasing the assets, future utilisation and
future lease rates; and

AR RRAER e D AT EREE - mERE
BREEEMNHEE  REMEAE  RARARNHEE
%R

Fair value less cost of disposal, based on the estimation
on resale values, with reference to the historical disposal
values and cost of disposal, or market transactions.
ERNEEBERAERNAABERELERA - kA
ARERELHEXNRNARLEEEE  BEXA @ X
TSR HIELE -

BRNWESTNMUHERETSRETREE

Our procedures in relation to management’s impairment
assessment of plant and machinery included:

B E IR E R as MR EE TR P B M2 P
BiE

Obtaining an understanding of management’s process
of reviewing and evaluating impairment assessment of
plant and equipment;

TRRE B B R R E R E N e E R R E
WwAg

Assessing the reasonableness of the management's key
assumptions used to estimate the value in use of the
plant and machinery by evaluating the estimated
future income generated from the assets with
reference to the confirmed leasing contracts; and
BBSECHERAL  FAEEEELNMBFTRR
WA - HE T T (il & IR 8 R R (i S 28 M et 2 13
BENEIEZRR  KESEBEW: &

Assessing the reasonableness of the fair value less cost
of disposal estimated by the management by checking,
on a sample basis, to the recent disposal values, third
parties’ quotations or transaction prices of similar assets
in the market.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

Key audit matters

RV GRS

How our audit addressed the key audit matters

BRANESTNMHERETSRETEE

HEETER

Impairment assessment of lease receivables and trade
receivables

FERHE R E R B 5 B R b E A

We identified impairment assessment of lease receivables and
trade receivables as a key audit matter due to the significance of
lease receivables and trade receivables to the Group’s
consolidated financial position and the involvement of
subjective judgement and management estimates in evaluating
the expected credit losses (“ECL") of the Group’s lease
receivables and trade receivables at the end of the reporting
period.

EREWEEFERE HERWFIESE BEEBEES TR
ROBEMARGTE BEXRENREHRNEKESHRIE
RESRERRKFANTAREEFER(AREFEBR]) PR
THHEREREMSS  BMBNEREETRERE SR
WORIRR (B AT R RASE | AT R I8 o

As at 31 March 2022, the Group'’s aggregate amounts of lease
receivables and trade receivables amounted to HK$32,275,000,
and out of which HK$25,632,000 were past due.

M2022%F3A31H EEENEREEFIERESEK
FIRAEFE/332,275000/8 7T + EA125,632,000 BT E BH

Our procedures in relation to the impairment assessment of
lease receivables and trade receivables included:

Bt YA E IR R B 5 WK IBRE R (4 P B M A
B -

Understanding how the management estimates the
credit loss allowance for lease receivables and trade
receivables;

BARE IR i (hEt FE R E R IB R B 5 FEUGK
HMEEEBREE

Challenging management’s basis and judgement in
determining credit loss allowance on lease receivables
and trade receivables as at 31 March 2022, including
the basis of individual assessment, the reasonableness
of management’s grouping of lease receivables and
trade receivables into different categories, and the
basis of estimated loss rate applied in each category
(with reference to historical default rates and forward-
looking information);
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

T N 2 B AN R S

Key audit matters

How our audit addressed the key audit matters

BRANESTNMUHERETSRETEE

HREETER

As disclosed in notes 4 and 30 to the consolidated financial
statements, the management of the Group estimates the
amount of lifetime ECL of lease receivables and trade
receivables based on individual assessment or by grouping of
various debtors that have similar risk exposure, after considering
internal credit ratings of lease receivables and trade receivables,
ageing, repayment history and/or past due status and forward-
looking information of respective lease receivables and trade
receivables that is reasonable and supportable available without
undue costs or effort. Estimated losses are based on historical
observed default rates over the expected life of the lease
receivables and trade receivables and are adjusted for forward-
looking information.

WINGRE B HRERM T4 RI0HEE - EEEEEER
B8 U EF0E & B 5 WA FT#ET R B RIRT L - 1l
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ENE ARG N AR ESEE R E IR R E 5 R
BENAERAREANEEENE - HAFRUERMA
BHRUIRFETHE - BB REBERIKEERIAR
BHRIMHKIEN A FHANBERRINENXAES
o WRLATRE M E R EL TR -

As disclosed in notes 18 and 30 to the consolidated financial
statements, the Group's lifetime ECL on lease receivables and
trade receivables as at 31 March 2022 amounted to
HK$13,054,000. An impairment loss of HK$2,255,000 has been
recognised in the profit or loss for the current year.

WUNARE SR MIE 18 R30FTHE © BEEBMN 2022F
3A3AMEKRAERIERE FRERKRIEN 2 REREE
J&5 18 4% 13,054,000 7T © JEl 1B B8 2,255,000 8 TTE X A
EEBEPHER -

Checking calculation and basis of default rates adopted
by the management for the impairment assessment to
the underlying information used by management, on a
sample basis, with reference to the historical settlement
analysis of lease receivables and trade receivables; and
K2EZRKEAEFIERE HRKHIBNBERE
DT - TR E T IR B DORE 5T & B P ER A AO
izi\’j?éﬁﬁﬁiﬁ&%ﬁ A RE IR E B A RO AE
SR MY : &

Checking the information used by management for
developing the impairment assessment for lease
receivables and trade receivables, including aged
analysis as at 31 March 2022, on a sample basis, by
comparing individual items in the analysis with the
relevant sales invoices and other supporting
documents.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

OTHER INFORMATION

The directors of the Company are responsible for the other information.
The other information comprises the information included in the annual
report, but does not include the consolidated financial statements and our
auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover the
other information and we do not express any form of assurance conclusion
thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements, our
responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so, consider
whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the
consolidated financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit
or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If, based on the work we
have performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this
other information, we are required to report that fact. We have nothing to
report in this regard.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF DIRECTORS AND THOSE
CHARGED WITH GOVERNANCE FOR THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of the
consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view in
accordance with HKFRSs and the disclosure requirements of the Hong
Kong Companies Ordinance, and for such internal control as the directors
determine is necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated financial
statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud
or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors are
responsible for assessing the Group's ability to continue as a going
concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and
using the going concern basis of accounting unless the directors either
intend to liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or have no realistic
alternative but to do so.

Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the Group's
financial reporting process.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
RV T =S

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the
consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s
report that includes our opinion solely to you, as a body, in accordance
with our agreed terms of engagement, and for no other purpose. We do
not assume responsibility towards or accept liability to any other person for
the contents of this report. Reasonable assurance is a high level of
assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance
with HKSAs will always detect a material misstatement when it exists.
Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if,
individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to
influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these
consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise professional
judgement and maintain professional skepticism throughout the audit. We
also:

Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the
consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or error,
design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and
obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a
basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material
misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting
from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional
omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.

Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in
order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the
circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on
the effectiveness of the Group's internal control.

Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the
reasonableness of accounting estimates and related disclosures
made by the directors.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the going
concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit evidence
obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or
conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Group's ability to
continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material
uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s
report to the related disclosures in the consolidated financial
statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our
opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained
up to the date of our auditor’s report. However, future events or
conditions may cause the Group to cease to continue as a going
concern.

Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the
consolidated financial statements, including the disclosures, and
whether the consolidated financial statements represent the
underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair
presentation.

Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial
information of the entities or business activities within the Group to
express an opinion on the consolidated financial statements. We are
responsible for the direction, supervision and performance of the
group audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among
other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant
audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that
we identify during our audit.

We also provide those charged with governance with a statement that we
have complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding
independence, and to communicate with them all relationships and other
matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our independence,
and where applicable, actions taken to eliminate threats or safeguards
applied.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
RV T =S

From the matters communicated with those charged with governance, we
determine those matters that were of most significance in the audit of the
consolidated financial statements of the current period and are therefore
the key audit matters. We describe these matters in our auditor’s report
unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter or
when, in extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a matter should
not be communicated in our report because the adverse consequences of
doing so would reasonably be expected to outweigh the public interest
benefits of such communication.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in the independent
auditor's report is Cheung Chung Yin Lawrence.

Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu
Certified Public Accountants
Hong Kong

29 June 2022
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND
OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

AR Em L EA R E WS

For the year ended 31 March 2022 & 2022 %3 A31 BIEFE

2022 2021
2022 % 20214
NOTES HK$’000 HKS'000
M= THET FAET
Revenue Wz 5
Goods and services &M ARTE 37,362 46,577
Leasing of equipment THE A 97,436 101,873
Total revenue BUTES 134,798 148,450
Cost of sales and services $HE KRS A AR (114,205) (129,963)
Gross profit EF 20,593 18,487
Other income E A 6 784 6,576
Other gains and losses Hilwz=s R ER 7 9,443 5,966
Reversal of (impairment losses) recognised 2 HERHIEE Mt N 2% 1
on property, plant and equipment, net ORE R 1E) B EF5E 14 2,435 (5,363)
(Impairment losses) reversal of impairment 18 #5578 HA{2 & 518 18 =X i fE U Fl
losses under expected credit loss EFIBERE S ERFIERER
model recognised on lease CREEE) BEE BRI F5E
receivables and trade receivables, net 30 (2,255) 1,516
Administrative expenses THAX (34,088) (31,412)
Selling and distribution expenses HE R HAX (720) (483)
Finance costs A& KR 8 (1,187) (1,823)
Loss before tax BB RIEE (4,995) (6,536)
Income tax credit FriSfiE e 9 540 852
Loss for the year KREEEE 10 (4,455) (5,684)

Other comprehensive income for the year R4 E E 2 E U5 (FIsX)
Item that may be reclassified subsequently ~— H &R EF B EE B -

to profit or loss:
Exchange differences arising on BREGINETSE £ EE S Z 58
translation of foreign operations 581 1,062
Total comprehensive expense for the year N4 [E 2 M X 4858 (3,874) (4,622)
Loss per share — basic (HK cents) FIREE — ZEARGEN) 13 (0.52) (0.66)




CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

ARe MR

At 31 March 2022 72202243 A 31 H

NOTES
B aE

Non-current Assets FEREBEE
Property, plant and equipment LER NS ] 14
Right-of-use assets EREEE 15
Prepayments and deposits paid for TLUEE I ZE ~ M N AR

acquisition of property, BB TR IR KR ®

plant and equipment 18
Rental deposits Hekse 18
Deposit placed for a life insurance policy  ER R E1Z 16
Deferred tax assets RIERIEE B 23
Current Assets REEE
Inventories FE 17
Trade and other receivables, B 5 R HMEWRIE

deposits and prepayments B& RIENRIE 18
Pledged bank deposit EEMRITIFR 19
Bank balances and cash RITHEBRRIRS 19
Current Liabilities REBAEE
Trade and other payables and B 5 I HAth FE T 5RIE &

accrued charges FEETE A 20
Contract liabilities aRaRE 21
Receipts in advance TEUARK
Tax liabilities MIBBE
Borrowings — due within one year Bk — —FAEEH 22
Loans from a related company RKE—RHBEBATZER 24
Lease liabilities HEBE 25

Net Current Assets

REEEFE

Total Assets less Current Liabilities

REERRBRME

2022 2021
2022 & 2021 4
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHET FHET
193,812 189,467
3,348 5,663
2,455 421
650 650
2,919 2,835
138 138
203,322 199,174
22,308 30,672
36,963 42,089
360 360
55,717 38,394
115,348 111,515
34,839 31,158
7,965 10,583
4,663 655
1,097 2,225
25,213 9,630
2,829 3,032
2,509 3,525
79,115 60,808
36,233 50,707
239,555 249,881
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

ARe MR

At 31 March 2022 72202243 A31 H

2022
2022 F
NOTES HK$’000
M= THET
Non-current Liabilities kRBERE
Trade payable B S RIE 20 =
Borrowings (B 22 2,482
Deferred tax liabilities EERIAEE 23 23,885
Lease liabilities HEEE 25 929
27,296
Net Assets EEFE 212,259
Capital and Reserves EXR#E
Issued capital BETRA 26 864
Reserves & 211,395
Total Equity mrER 212,259

The consolidated financial statements on pages 85 to 184 were approved
and authorised for issue by the Board of Directors on 29 June 2022 and are

signed on its behalf by:

LAU PONG SING

BIFRL

Director

EF

HRESGHEFI14AZEA

2021
2021 4F
HK$'000
FET

7,029

24,845
1,874

B 76 R 2% B 1R 2022

FoAWABE=SHERTETE L H T

EEREREZ

CHAN KIT MUI, LINA
RN

Director

EF
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CONSOUDATEDSTATEMENT(N:CHANGESINEQUHV

n\/T\

AEEEBE

For the year ended 31 March 2022 &= 202263 A31 HILFE

Issued
capital
BET
S
HK$'000
T

Share
premium

BHRE
HKS'000
87

Merger
reserve

(]
reserve

BOHRE
HKS'000

EERE

HK$'000
THT TARL
(Note i) (Notefi)
(e (BsE

Translation

Retained
profits

reserve

Eifdt REEHN
HKS000  HK$'000
TRT  TER

Total

veA n—l_
HK$'000
FAT

At 1 April 2020 R2020F481H 864 232,345 (102,443) 12 (243) 90,220 220,755
Loss for the year rEEER = = = = = (5,684) (5,684)
Exchange differences arisingon  HREFINERSELR

translation of foreign operations ~ [E ¥ %8 = = = - 1,062 - 1,062
Total comprehensive income AEE2ENE (FX)

(expense) for the year kS = = - - 1,062 (5,684) 4622)

At 31 March 2021

R2021E3A31H

Loss for the year AEEERE

Exchange differences arisingon  #REGINERSELR
translation of foreign operations B} Z5

Total comprehensive income AFE2ERE (FX)
(expense) for the year g

At 31 March 2022

R202%F3A31H

Notes:

Merger reserve represents the difference between the amount of share .
capital and share premium of the Company issued, and the issued share
capital of AP Rentals Limited exchanged in connection with the group

reorganisation on 21 July 2015.

ii. In accordance with Article 377 of the Commercial Code of Macau Special ii.
Administrative Region, the subsidiary registered in Macau is required to
transfer part of its profits of each accounting period of not less than 25% as

232,345

232,345

legal reserve, until it reaches an amount equal to half of the capital.

(102,443)

(102,443)

fiE

MEHE -

84,536

(4,455)

581 (4,455)

1,400 80,081

216,133

(4,455)

581

(3,874)

212,259

AOHEBIEARARIEBITRASE R EER
AR 2015F7 21 H#EST
HEBRARIBEBITRAZZ5E -

SEEMAMRIREBEA

HRIBOR PR B 1T R [ P A 5 377 15 - IORPTEE
e BT 2 B8 S EL R & 5t BRI T R 25% AR

NEBRBLTRHE  EEEIREREEL—F
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
AeRTRER

For the year ended 31 March 2022 #ZE 2022F 3 A31 HILFE

2022 2021
2022 20214
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FAT
Operating activities R
Loss before tax BRA% A& 18 (6,536)
Adjustments for; MIATIER EL A% :
(Reversal of) impairment losses recognised ERERYE - R &%
on property, plant and equipment HERAERBE (EE) 5,363
Write-down on inventories WoR AT & -
Impairment losses (reversal of impairment losses) 1R IETBEI= B E 18 2 R
under expected credit losses recognised on JEWAEEFIE R E 5 W
lease receivables and trade receivables, net RIBREEE (B ERE
E18) F AR (1516)
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment Y% - B RS EITE 66,295
Depreciation of right-of-use assets TREEERE 3,027
Finance costs BE A 1,823
Gain on disposal of property, plant and LEYIZE - B B
equipment (5,385)
Interest income FLE WA (100)
Operating cash flows before movements EEBESEHATN
in working capital REFERE 62,971
Increase in inventories FEILM (10,332)
Decrease in trade and other receivables, B 5 K H b EWGRIE
deposits and prepayments E& RIBHARER D 2,889
Increase (decrease) in trade and other payables B 5 N EMERRIER
and accrued charges FEETE RE N OF ) (3.719)
Decrease in contract liabilities aHaERd (2,721)
Increase in receipts in advance TE U AR FRE AN 242
Cash generated from operations EEMEHS 49,330
Income tax (paid) refunded (B8 BRBIFTSH 1,936
Net cash from operating activities REEBABREFHE 51,266
Investing activities BEEE
Interest received B FIE 146
Increase in prepayment and deposits for WRE I ZE - M R Y
acquisition of property, plant and equipment TE I8 MR & 380 =
Purchase of property, plant and equipment BEYE - MW RRE (24,788)
Proceeds from disposal of property, HEMFE - B REE
plant and equipment FriS k1R 10,093
Net cash used in investing activities RETEFMARESFE (14,549)
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

I\‘/_.]_\/\EE/ N7 ;ﬁiﬁ

For the year ended 31 March 2022 #{Z= 2022 F3 A31 HILFE

2022 2021
2022 2021 4F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FAT
Financing activities REEE
Interest paid BFE (1,646)
New borrowings raised FTILER
Repayments of borrowings EEE (13,534)
Repayments of loan from a related company BERE —HEB AR CER (1,554)
Repayments of lease liabilities EEHEEARE (3,565)
Repayment of trade payables EEE ZENNIE (7,787)
Net cash from (used in) financing activities BMETHRE (AR REER (28,086)
Net increase in cash and cash equivalents RERBESEEYILMNFE 8,631
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning FENREREESZEEY
of the year 29,955
Effect of foreign exchange rate changes HNERE R B H) 2 B (192)
Cash and cash equivalents at end of theyear FREBEEREESEEY 38,394
Analysis of the balances of cash and ReRASEEYEHRIN
cash equivalents
Bank balances and cash RITHER IR ® 38394
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

=N RS ey

For the year ended 31 March 2022 #ZE 2022F 3 A31 HILFE

GENERAL INFORMATION

AP Rentals Holdings Limited (the “Company”) was incorporated as
an exempted company and registered in the Cayman Islands with
limited liability under the Companies Law, Cap 22 (Law 3 of 1961, as
consolidated and revised) of the Cayman Islands on 11 June 2015.
The shares of the Company have been listed on The Stock Exchange
of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”) with effect from 8
April 2016. The addresses of the registered office of the Company is
Cricket Square, Hutchins Drive, P.O. Box 2681, Grand Cayman KY1-
1111, Cayman Islands and its principal place of business is Unit 806A,
8th Floor, Tower II, South Seas Centre, No. 75 Mody Road, Kowloon,
Hong Kong.

The Company acts as an investment holding company. Details of the
principal activities of the subsidiaries are set out in note 36.

The consolidated financial statements are presented in Hong Kong
dollars ("HKS"), which is also the functional currency of the Company.

APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS TO
HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
(“HKFRSs")
Amendments to HKFRSs that are mandatorily effective
for the current year
In the current year, the Company and its subsidiaries (collectively
referred to as the “Group”) has applied the following amendments
to HKFRSs issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants (“"HKICPA”) for the first time, which are mandatorily
effective for the Group’s annual period beginning on or after 1 April
2021 for the preparation of the consolidated financial statements:
Amendment to HKFRS 16 Covid-19-Related Rent
Concessions
Amendment to HKFRS 16 Covid-19-Related Rent
Concessions beyond
30 June 2021

Interest Rate Benchmark Reform
— Phase 2

Amendments to HKFRS 9,
HKAS 39, HKFRS 7, HKFRS 4
and HKFRS 16

In addition, the Group applied the agenda decision (“Agenda
Decision”) of the IFRS Interpretations Committee of the International
Accounting Standards Board issued in June 2021 which clarified the
costs an entity should include as “estimated costs necessary to make
the sale” when determining the net realisable value of inventories.

—REH
DHEAHAEZERERARTAAT DR
015F6 ANBREMEHEDTESE
ZH=E (1961 FEIFAD - Kira RiE
) ERSESHEMK L RERRERAA
WHRRSHSEM - RRFMRM B 201645
1RsHRERBHERZHAARRAR ([H
R £ e KRR G SRR MR
Cricket Square, Hutchins Drive, P.O. Box 2681,
Grand Cayman KY1-1111, Cayman Islands + £
FTELEMB AT ENERDEEMETS
SRR F AR 2 FE 8 I B0BA ZE o

ARBNREERARITE - B RAR
T EXBHIEHNMIE6

BAMBEE ST (BT 25 K
TRBAA TR -

FER ] RAMER] B R M B RERE
AT EEBMBHREZER )

RAFEEHERNRIETERBUE
2R

RAEE  RNARREKBARR (58 4
SEEDBRRUGLEVBREERERBRD
BEMAS((EEEHEAY]) BMHIL
7202144 A1 B k2 &M rFE AR
HEBE T BB ISRE ERAETA -

B 15 AE R B Covid-19
ERIE A ERIRN MBS ER
AR 15 S AE R 72021
ERE A ERIRN 6 A30 B

A 48 Covid-19

MBS ER
BB RELERF W - FIREENE —
BAEGRERIFE 399 FREER
BB RELERE 75
BBE 15 2R

FARRBBUBRE
ERIE165RMIERT A

BEoh - 75 B FE B R 2021 B 6 A A8 5 A9 Y
Berr LR EeHRMEREELRE
ZESERAT((BERE]  BEEE
EEFEASRFERANIEIETHE
Fes Z AdaT B AN | BB o

DEAESERERAGE /2022 FEH




NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AR B IE R R M

For the year ended 31 March 2022 # % 2022F 3 A31 HILFE

APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS TO
HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
(“HKFRSs") (Continued)

Amendments to HKFRSs that are mandatorily effective
for the current year (Continued)

Except as described below, the application of the amendments to
HKFRSs and Agenda Decision in the current year has had no material
impact on the Group's financial positions and performance for the
current and prior years and/or on the disclosures set out in these
consolidated financial statements.

Impacts on application of Amendments to HKFRS 9,
HKAS 39, HKFRS 7, HKFRS 4 and HKFRS 16 Interest Rate
Benchmark Reform — Phase 2

The Group has applied the amendments for the first time in the
current year. The amendments relate to changes in the basis for
determining the contractual cash flows of financial assets, financial
liabilities and lease liabilities as a result of interest rate benchmark
reform, specific hedge accounting requirements and the related
disclosure requirements applying HKFRS 7 Financial Instruments:
Disclosures ("HKFRS 7”).

The amendments have had no impact on the consolidated financial
statements as none of the relevant contracts has been transitioned
to the relevant replacement rates during the year. The Group will
apply the practical expedient in relation to the changes in
contractual cash flows resulting from the interest rate benchmark
reform for borrowings measured at amortised cost. Additional
disclosures as required by HKFRS 7 are set out in note 30.
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NOTESTOEDNSOUDATEDFWNANGALSTATEMENTS

AR TSR M 5t

For the year ended 31 March 2022 &%= 202243 31 HItFE

APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS TO
HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
(“HKFRSs") (Continued)

Impacts on application of the agenda decision of the
Committee — Cost necessary to sell inventories (HKAS
2 Inventories)

In June 2021, the Committee, through its agenda decision, clarified
the costs an entity should include as “estimated costs necessary to
make the sale” when determining the net realisable value of
inventories. In particular, whether such costs should be limited to
those that are incremental to the sale. The Committee concluded
that the estimated costs necessary to make the sale should not be
limited to those that are incremental but should also include costs
that an entity must incur to sell its inventories including those that
are not incremental to a particular sale.

The Group's accounting policy prior to the Committee’s agenda
decision was to determine the net realisable value of inventories
taking into consideration incremental costs only. Upon application
of the Committee’s agenda decision, the Group changed its
accounting policy to determine the net realisable value of
inventories taking into consideration both incremental costs and
other cost necessary to sell inventories. The new accounting policy
has been applied retrospectively.

The application of the Committee’s agenda decision has had no
material impact on the Group's financial positions and performance.

A RS0 B R
S G

ERZEGERRE — HEFEMRT
ZERA(BRETREUE2REE) 2

=
=

M221F6 R  ZEEFEBERERTE
BEERECFENSEFERAYIE
[EITHERH 2 AETA ] AR o 55
Bl & BB L FE A AN 2 T FE (PR A 8K & 18
ENKRN - ZEERE ETHEMS
ZE%WKTJ@E@N EXA - NER
RERBHEETEVARENKE 8
FEIERFEHEIBERMA o

REZEBSIFHBERRAEZA  A5REE
AABREZEREERAANEEFERA
BRFE EAZEGHRERER A
SENBHEHHR  EEEFENH
BRFERTERLEFEMRZIIEE
PRAFMEALRA - S @ HRE BB
FER -

[ERZEeNZEATTEHAEERN
FERR MRIRERNERTE -

DEAESERERAGE /2022 FEH




NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AR B IE R R M

For the year ended 31 March 2022 #{Z= 2022 F3 A31 HILFE

2. APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS TO 2.
HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
(“HKFRSs") (Continued)

A RS0 B R
BI ([ &8 B SR8 |)

New and amendments to HKFRSs in issue but not yet

effective

The Group has not early applied the following new and amendments
to HKFRSs that have been issued but are not yet effective:

HKFRS 17

Amendments to HKFRS 3

Amendments to HKFRS 10
and HKAS 28

Amendments to HKAS 1

Amendments to HKAS 1 and
HKFRS Practice Statement 2

Amendments to HKAS 8

Amendments to HKAS 12

Amendments to HKAS 16

Amendments to HKAS 37

Amendments to HKFRSs

Insurance Contracts and the related
Amendments’
Reference to the Conceptual Framework’

Sale or Contribution of Assets between an
Investor and its Associate or Joint Venture?

Classification of Liabilities as Current or
Non-current and related amendments to

Hong Kong Interpretation 5 (2020)?

Disclosure of Accounting Policies?

Definition of Accounting Estimates?

Deferred Tax related to Assets and Liabilities
arising from a Single Transaction?

Property, Plant and Equipment — Proceeds
before Intended Use!

Onerous Contracts — Cost of Fulfilling
a Contract'
Annual Improvements to HKFRSs 2018 - 2020

! Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2022

2 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2023

= Effective for annual periods beginning on or after a date to be determined

Except for the amendment to HKFRSs mentioned below, the
directors of the Company anticipate that the application of all other
new and amendments to HKFRSs will have no material impact on
the consolidated financial statements in the foreseeable future.
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NOTESTOEDNSOUDATEDFWNANOALSTATEMENTS

AR TSR M 5t

For the year ended 31 March 2022 #ZE 2022F 3 A31 HILFE

APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS TO
HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
(“HKFRSs") (Continued)

New and amendments to HKFRSs in issue but not yet
effective (Continued)

Amendments to HKAS 1 and HKFRS Practice Statement 2
Disclosure of Accounting Policies

HKAS 1 is amended to replace all instances of the term “significant
accounting policies” with “material accounting policy information”.
Accounting policy information is material if, when considered
together with other information included in an entity’s financial
statements, it can reasonably be expected to influence decisions
that the primary users of general purpose financial statements make
on the basis of those financial statements.

The amendments also clarify that accounting policy information may
be material because of the nature of the related transactions, other
events or conditions, even if the amounts are immaterial. However,
not all accounting policy information relating to material
transactions, other events or conditions is itself material. If an entity
chooses to disclose immaterial accounting policy information, such
information must not obscure material accounting policy
information.

HKFRS Practice Statement 2 Making Materiality Judgements (the
“Practice Statement”) is also amended to illustrate how an entity
applies the “four-step materiality process” to accounting policy
disclosures and to judge whether information about an accounting
policy is material to its financial statements. Guidance and examples
are added to the Practice Statement.

The application of the amendments is not expected to have
significant impact on the financial position or performance of the
Group but may affect the disclosures of the Group's significant
accounting policies. The impacts of application, if any, will be
disclosed in the Group's future consolidated financial statements.
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APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS TO
HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
(“HKFRSs") (Continued)

New and amendments to HKFRSs in issue but not yet
effective (Continued)

Amendments to HKAS 8 Definition of Accounting Estimates

The amendments define accounting estimates as “monetary
amounts in financial statements that are subject to measurement
uncertainty”. An accounting policy may require items in financial
statements to be measured in a way that involves measurement
uncertainty — that is, the accounting policy may require such items
to be measured at monetary amounts that cannot be observed
directly and must instead be estimated. In such a case, an entity
develops an accounting estimate to achieve the objective set out by
the accounting policy. Developing accounting estimates involves
the use of judgements or assumptions based on the latest available,
reliable information.

In addition, the concept of changes in accounting estimates in HKAS
8 is retained with additional clarifications.

The application of the amendments is not expected to have
significant impact on the Group's consolidated financial statements.
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 March 2022 #ZE 2022F 3 A31 HILFE

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES

3.1

Basis of preparation of consolidated financial
statements

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared in
accordance with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA. For the
purpose of preparation of the consolidated financial
statements, information is considered material if such
information is reasonably expected to influence decisions
made by primary users. In addition, the consolidated financial
statements include applicable disclosures required by the
Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on the Stock
Exchange and by the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared on
the historical cost basis except for the deposit placed for a life
insurance policy that is measured at fair values at the end of
each reporting period, as explained in the accounting policies
set out below.

Historical cost is generally based on the fair value of the
consideration given in exchange for goods and services.

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or
paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between
market participants at the measurement date, regardless of
whether that price is directly observable or estimated using
another valuation technique. In estimating the fair value of an
asset or a liability, the Group takes into account the
characteristics of the asset or liability if market participants
would take those characteristics into account when pricing
the asset or liability at the measurement date. Fair value for
measurement and/or disclosure purposes in consolidated
financial statements is determined on such a basis, except for
share-based payment transactions that are within the scope of
HKFRS 2 Share-based Payment ("HKFRS 2"), leasing
transactions that are within the scope of HKFRS 16 Leases
("HKFRS 16"), and measurements that have some similarities
to fair value but are not fair value, such as net realisable value
in HKAS 2 Inventories or value in use in HKAS 36 Impairment of
Assets.

For financial instruments which are transacted at fair value and
a valuation technique that unobservable inputs is to be used
to measure fair value in subsequent periods, the valuation
technique is calibrated so that at initial recognition the results
of the valuation technique equals the transaction price.
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3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

3.1

3.2

Basis of preparation of consolidated financial
statements (Continued)

In addition, for financial reporting purposes, fair value
measurements are categorised into Level 1, 2 or 3 based on
the degree to which the inputs to the fair value measurements
are observable and the significance of the inputs to the fair
value measurement in its entirety, which are described as
follows:

Level 1 inputs are quoted prices (unadjusted) in active
markets for identical assets or liabilities that the entity
can access at the measurement date;

Level 2 inputs are inputs, other than quoted prices
included within Level
or liability, either directly or indirectly; and

1, that are observable for the asset

Level 3 inputs are unobservable inputs for the asset or
liability.

Significant accounting policies

Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements incorporate the financial
statements of the Company and entities controlled by the
Company and its subsidiaries. Control is achieved when the
Company:

has power over the investee;

is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from its
involvement with the investee; and

has the ability to use its power to affect its returns.
The Group reassesses whether or not it controls an investee if

facts and circumstances indicate that there are changes to
one or more of the three elements of control listed above.
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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GENKEBRRNEREEREAS
HBUGR (8)

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED 3.
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (Continued) 3.2

EFREFEEE)

Basis of consolidation (Continued)

Consolidation of a subsidiary begins when the Group obtains
control over the subsidiary and ceases when the Group loses
control of the subsidiary. Specifically, income and expenses of
subsidiaries acquired or disposed of during the year are
included in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and
other comprehensive income from the date the Group gains
control until the date when the Group ceases to control the
subsidiary.

When necessary, adjustments are made to the financial
statements of subsidiaries to bring their accounting policies in
line with the Group’s accounting policies.

All intra-group assets, liabilities, equity, income, expenses and
cash flows relating to transactions between members of the
Group are eliminated in full on consolidation.

Business combination

Acquisitions of businesses are accounted for using the
acquisition method. The consideration transferred in a
business combination is measured at fair value, which is
calculated as the sum of the acquisition-date fair values of the
assets transferred by the Group, liabilities incurred by the
Group to the former owners of the acquiree and the equity
interests issued by the Group in exchange for control of the
acquiree. Acquisition-related costs are generally recognised in
profit or loss as incurred.

Except for certain recognition exemptions, the identifiable
assets acquired and liabilities assumed must meet the
definitions of an asset and a liability in the Framework for the
Preparation and Presentation of Financial Statements (replaced
by the Conceptual Framework for Financial Reporting issued in
October 2010).

REEE(E)
REE S E R RE SRS ER
BB ARGRAE AR  IRAEEKX
LM B A BRI R AR A AR -
ARMmE  ARFEMEELLEH
BRRZWARFAXAAEEBES
EHIEA MG AR REREMER
Hﬁl iR BEASETHEGIZNE
RBEIRLE -

WHRE - HEHEMBARZHHR
® o BESFBRERNEE 2 5K
REB—% -

FABRAEEREZ MR SHEE
PAFIRIERE - BfE s KA -
X RRSRERRGA ARB 2R
s -

EBEH

WiE 5 RIRIEAARR - 2156 6
FrEEAER AR ENE - AFER
WREERASEEREE  AE
AEEEBERKBETIHEBEAZAR
PATe AN 65 B R A R M 8 07 2 4
M BT 2 B 2 480 - U AR RERC AR
—RRELERRBEER -

M THERIAGIN - FTUE 2 AT 551
BERMEEZBEEFERRURIR
S BHMEMERE (B BHR20105F10
A B 9 B 75 BB SR A AE 2R AT ERAR)
FHEERABZES -

DEAESERERAGE /2022 FEH




NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 March 2022 # % 2022F 3 A31 HILFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (Continued)

Business combination (Continued)

At the acquisition date, the identifiable assets acquired and
the liabilities assumed are recognised at their fair value, except

that:

deferred tax assets or liabilities, and assets or liabilities
related to employee benefit arrangements are
recognised and measured in accordance with HKAS 12
Income Taxes ("HKAS 12") and HKAS 19 Employee
Benefits respectively;

liabilities or equity instruments related to share-based
payment arrangements of the acquiree or share-based
payment arrangements of the Group entered into to
replace share-based payment arrangements of the
acquiree are measured in accordance with HKFRS 2 at
the acquisition date (see the accounting policy below);

assets (or disposal groups) that are classified as held for
sale in accordance with HKFRS 5 Non-current Assets Held
for Sale and Discontinued Operations are measured in
accordance with that standard; and

lease liabilities are recognised and measured at the
present value of the remaining lease payments (as
defined in HKFRS 16) as if the acquired leases were new
leases at the acquisition date, except for leases for which
(a) the lease term ends within 12 months of the
acquisition date; or (b) the underlying asset is of low
value. Right-of-use assets are recognised and measured
at the same amount as the relevant lease liabilities,
adjusted to reflect favourable or unfavourable terms of
the lease when compared with market terms.
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GENKEBRRNEREEREAS
HBUGR (8)

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED 3.
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (Continued) 3.2

EFREFEEE)

Business combination (Continued)

Goodwill is measured as the excess of the sum of the
consideration transferred and the fair value of the acquirer’s
previously held equity interest in the acquiree (if any) over the
net amount of the identifiable assets acquired and the
liabilities assumed as at acquisition date. If, after re-assessment,
the net amount of the identifiable assets acquired and
liabilities assumed exceeds the sum of the consideration
transferred. The excess is recognised immediately in profit or
loss as a bargain purchase gain.

Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment are tangible assets that are
held for use in the production or supply of goods or services,
or for administrative purposes. Property, plant and equipment
are stated in the consolidated statement of financial position
at cost less subsequent accumulated depreciation and
subsequent accumulated impairment losses, if any.

Depreciation is recognised so as to write off the cost of assets
less their residual values over their estimated useful lives, using
the straight-line method. The estimated useful lives, residual
value and depreciation method are reviewed at the end of
each reporting period, with the effect of any changes in
estimate accounted for on a prospective basis.

An item of property, plant and equipment is derecognised
upon disposal or when no future economic benefits are
expected to arise from the continued use of the asset. Any
gain or loss arising on the disposal or retirement of an item of
property, plant and equipment is determined as the difference
between the sales proceeds and the carrying amount of the
asset and is recognised in profit or loss.
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 March 2022 # % 2022F 3 A31 HILFE
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3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED 3.
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

indication that these assets have suffered an impairment loss.
If any such indication exists, the recoverable amount of the
relevant asset is estimated in order to determine the extent of
the impairment loss (if any).

The recoverable amount of property, plant and equipment
and right-of-use assets are estimated individually. When it is
not possible to estimate the recoverable amount individually,
the Group estimates the recoverable amount of the cash-
generating unit to which the asset belongs.

In testing a cash-generating unit for impairment, corporate
assets are allocated to the relevant cash-generating unit when
a reasonable and consistent basis of allocation can be
established, or otherwise they are allocated to the smallest
group of cash generating units for which a reasonable and
consistent allocation basis can be established. The recoverable
amount is determined for the cash-generating unit or group
of cash-generating units to which the corporate asset belongs,
and is compared with the carrying amount of the relevant
cash-generating unit or group of cash-generating units.

Recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less costs of
disposal and value in use. In assessing value in use, the
estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present
value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market
assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific
to the asset (or a cash-generating unit) for which the estimates
of future cash flows have not been adjusted.
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3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED 3.
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (Continued) 3.2

EFREFEEE)

Impairment on property, plant and equipment and right-
of-use assets (Continued)

If the recoverable amount of an asset (or a cash-generating
unit) is estimated to be less than its carrying amount, the
carrying amount of the asset (or a cash-generating unit) is
reduced to its recoverable amount. For corporate assets or
portion of corporate assets which cannot be allocated on a
reasonable and consistent basis to a cash-generating unit, the
Group compares the carrying amount of a group of cash-
generating units, including the carrying amounts of the
corporate assets or portion of corporate assets allocated to
that group of cash-generating units, with the recoverable
amount of the group of cash-generating units. In allocating
the impairment loss, the impairment loss is allocated first to
reduce the carrying amount of any goodwill (if applicable) and
then to the other assets on a pro-rata basis based on the
carrying amount of each asset in the unit or the group of cash-
generating units. The carrying amount of an asset is not
reduced below the highest of its fair value less costs of
disposal (if measurable), its value in use (if determinable) and
zero. The amount of the impairment loss that would otherwise
have been allocated to the asset is allocated pro rata to the
other assets of the unit or the group of cash-generating units.
An impairment loss is recognised immediately in profit or loss.

Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the carrying
amount of the asset (or cash-generating unit or a group of
cash-generating units) is increased to the revised estimate of
its recoverable amount, but so that the increased carrying
amount does not exceed the carrying amount that would
have been determined had no impairment loss been
recognised for the asset (or a cash-generating unit or a group
of cash-generating units) in prior years. A reversal of an
impairment loss is recognised immediately in profit or loss.
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 March 2022 # % 2022F 3 A31 HILFE

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable
value. Costs of inventories are determined using the first-in,
first-out method. Net realisable value represents the estimated
selling price for inventories less all costs necessary to make the
sale. Costs necessary to make the sale include incremental
costs directly attributable to the sale non-incremental costs
which the Group must incur to make the sale.

Financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised when a
group entity becomes a party to the contractual provisions of
the instrument.

Financial assets and financial liabilities are initially measured at
fair value except for trade receivables arising from contracts
with customers which are initially measured in accordance
with HKFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers ("HKFRS
15"). Transaction costs that are directly attributable to the
acquisition or issue of financial assets and financial liabilities
(other than financial assets at fair value through profit or loss
("FVTPL")) are added to or deducted from the fair value of the
financial assets or financial liabilities, as appropriate, on initial
recognition. Transaction costs directly attributable to the
acquisition of financial assets at FVTPL are recognised
immediately in profit or loss.

The effective interest method is a method of calculating the
amortised cost of a financial asset or financial liability and of
allocating interest income and interest expense over the
relevant period. The effective interest rate is the rate that
exactly discounts estimated future cash receipts and payments
(including all fees and points paid or received that form an
integral part of the effective interest rate, transaction costs and
other premiums or discounts) through the expected life of the
financial asset or financial liability, or, where appropriate, a
shorter period, to the net carrying amount on initial
recognition.

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED 3. %—?/—\,M&i&%% MWERHBEEREAS
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ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
3.2 Significant accounting policies (Continued) 3.2 FEEHBE®E)
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AR TSR M 5t

For the year ended 31 March 2022 #ZE 2022F 3 A31 HILFE

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
3.2 Significant accounting policies (Continued)
Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets
Classification and subsequent measurement of financial
assets
Financial assets that meet the following conditions are

subsequently measured at amortised cost:

the financial asset is held within a business model
whose objective is to collect contractual cash flows; and

the contractual terms give rise on specified dates to
cash flows that are solely payments of principal and
interest on the principal amount outstanding.

All other financial assets are subsequently measured at FVTPL.

Amortised cost and interest income

Interest income is recognised using the effective
interest method for financial assets measured
subsequently at amortised cost. Interest income is
calculated by applying the effective interest rate to the
gross carrying amount of a financial asset, except for
financial assets that have subsequently become credit-
impaired (see below). For financial assets that have
subsequently become credit-impaired, interest income
is recognised by applying the effective interest rate to
the amortised cost of the financial asset from the next
reporting period. If the credit risk on the credit-impaired
financial instrument improves so that the financial asset
is no longer credit-impaired, interest income is
recognised by applying the effective interest rate to the
gross carrying amount of the financial asset from the
beginning of the reporting period following the
determination that the asset is no longer credit-
impaired.
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NOTES T0 CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AR B IE R R M

For the year ended 31 March 2022 # % 2022F 3 A31 HILFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED 3. GEUBBRNEREERERSE
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT

FT R (1)
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
3.2 Significant accounting policies (Continued) 3.2 FEEHBE®E)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Classification and subsequent measurement of financial
assets (Continued)

(i) Financial assets at FVTPL

Financial assets at FVTPL are measured at fair value at
the end of each reporting period, with any fair value
gains or losses recognised in profit or loss. The net gain
or loss recognised in profit or loss excludes any dividend
or interest earned on the financial asset.

Impairment of financial assets and other item subject to
impairment assessment under HKFRS 9

The Group performs impairment assessment under ECL model
on financial assets (including rental deposits, trade and other
receivables, pledged bank deposit and bank balances) and
lease receivables which are subject to impairment under
HKFRS 9. The amount of ECL is updated at each reporting date
to reflect changes in credit risk since initial recognition.

Lifetime ECL represents the ECL that will result from all
possible default events over the expected life of the relevant
instrument. In contrast, 12-month ECL (“12m ECL") represents
the portion of lifetime ECL that is expected to result from
default events that are possible within 12 months after the
reporting date. Assessment are done based on the Group's
historical credit loss experience, adjusted for factors that are
specific to the debtors, general economic conditions and an
assessment of both the current conditions at the reporting
date as well as the forecast of future conditions.

The Group always recognises lifetime ECL for trade receivables
and lease receivables.

For all other instruments, the Group measures the loss
allowance equal to 12m ECL, unless when there has been a
significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition, the
Group recognises lifetime ECL. The assessment of whether
lifetime ECL should be recognised is based on significant
increases in the likelihood or risk of a default occurring since
initial recognition.
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AR TSR M 5t

For the year ended 31 March 2022 #ZE 2022F 3 A31 HILFE

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
3.2 Significant accounting policies (Continued)
Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets (Continued)
Impairment of financial assets and other item subject to
impairment assessment under HKFRS 9 (Continued)

()

Significant increase in credit risk

In assessing whether the credit risk has increased
significantly since initial recognition, the Group
compares the risk of a default occurring on the financial
instrument as at the reporting date with the risk of a
default occurring on the financial instrument as at the
date of initial recognition. In making this assessment,
the Group considers both quantitative and qualitative
information that is reasonable and supportable,
including historical experience and forward-looking
information that is available without undue cost or
effort.

In particular, the following information is taken into
account when assessing whether credit risk has
increased significantly:

an actual or expected significant deterioration in
the financial instrument’s external (if available) or
internal credit rating;

significant deterioration in external market
indicators of credit risk, e.g. a significant increase
in the credit spread, the credit default swap prices
for the debtor;

existing or forecast adverse changes in business,
financial or economic conditions that are
expected to cause a significant decrease in the
debtor’s ability to meet its debt obligations;

an actual or expected significant deterioration in
the operating results of the debtor; or

an actual or expected significant adverse change
in the regulatory, economic, or technological
environment of the debtor that results in a
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

AR TSR M 5

For the year ended 31 March 2022 # % 2022F 3 A31 HILFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (Continued)
Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets (Continued)
Impairment of financial assets and other item subject to
impairment assessment under HKFRS 9 (Continued)

()

Significant increase in credit risk (Continued)
Irrespective of the outcome of the above assessment,
there is a rebuttable presumption that the credit risk has
increased significantly since initial recognition when
contractual payments are more than 30 days past due,
except for those the Group has reasonable and
supportable information that demonstrates otherwise.

Despite the aforegoing, the Group assumes that the
credit risk on a debt instrument has not increased
significantly since initial recognition if the debt
instrument is determined to have low credit risk at the
reporting date. A debt instrument is determined to have
low credit risk if (i) it has a low risk of default, (ii) the
borrower has a strong capacity to meet its contractual
cash flow obligations in the near term and (jii) adverse
changes in economic and business conditions in the
longer term may, but will not necessarily, reduce the
ability of the borrower to fulfil its contractual cash flow
obligations. The Group considers a debt instrument to
have low credit risk when it has an internal or external
credit rating of “investment grade” as per globally
understood definitions.

The Group regularly monitors the effectiveness of the
criteria used to identify whether there has been a
significant increase in credit risk and revises them as
appropriate to ensure that the criteria are capable of
identifying significant increase in credit risk before the
amount becomes past due.
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AR TSR M 5t

For the year ended 31 March 2022 #ZE 2022F 3 A31 HILFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED 3. RMEMBBRRNGREEREXRS
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT TR (8)
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
3.2 Significant accounting policies (Continued) 32 FEEHER®E)
Financial instruments (Continued) SRMIA(E)
Financial assets (Continued) TEEEE)

ARBEBUBHREEREIHELT
BE A A £ B E R R R B 895

Impairment of financial assets and other item subject to
impairment assessment under HKFRS 9 (Continued)

(i)

(iii)

Definition of default

For internal credit risk management, the Group
considers an event of default occurs when information
developed internally or obtained from external sources
indicates that the debtor is unlikely to pay its creditors,
including the Group, in full (without taking into account
any collaterals held by the Group).

Irrespective of the above, there is rebuttable
presumption that default does not occur later than
when a financial asset is more than 90 days past due
unless the Group has reasonable and supportable
information to demonstrate that a more lagging default
criterion is more appropriate.

Credit-impaired financial assets

A financial asset is credit-impaired when one or more
events that have a detrimental impact on the estimated
future cash flows of that financial asset have occurred.
Evidence that a financial asset is credit-impaired
includes observable data about the following events:

(@) significant financial difficulty of the issuer or the
borrower;

(b)  abreach of contract, such as a default or past due
event;

(c)  the lender(s) of the borrower, for economic or
contractual reasons relating to the borrower's
financial difficulty, having granted to the
borrower a concession(s) that the lender(s) would
not otherwise consider; or

(d) it is becoming probable that the borrower will
enter bankruptcy or other financial
reorganisation.
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

AR TSR M 5

For the year ended 31 March 2022 # % 2022F 3 A31 HILFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (Continued)
Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets (Continued)
Impairment of financial assets and other item subject to
impairment assessment under HKFRS 9 (Continued)

(iv)

Write-off policy

The Group writes off a financial asset when there is
information indicating that the counterparty is in severe
financial difficulty and there is no realistic prospect of
recovery, for example, when the counterparty has been
placed under liquidation or has entered into bankruptcy
proceedings. Financial assets written off may still be
subject to enforcement activities under the Group's
recovery procedures, taking into account legal advice
where appropriate. A write-off constitutes a
derecognition event. Any subsequent recoveries are
recognised in profit or loss.

Measurement and recognition of ECL

The measurement of ECL is a function of the probability
of default, loss given default (i.e. the magnitude of the
loss if there is a default) and the exposure at default. The
assessment of the probability of default and loss given
default is based on historical data adjusted by forward-
looking information. Estimation of ECL reflects an
unbiased and probability-weighted amount that is
determined with the respective risks of default occurring
as the weights.

Generally, the ECL is the difference between all
contractual cash flows that are due to the Group in
accordance with the contract and the cash flows that
the Group expects to receive, discounted at the
effective interest rate determined at initial recognition.
For a lease receivable, the cash flows used for
determining the ECL is consistent with the cash flows
used in measuring the lease receivable in accordance
with HKFRS 16
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AR TSR M 5t

For the year ended 31 March 2022 #ZE 2022F 3 A31 HILFE

Impairment of financial assets and other item subject to
impairment assessment under HKFRS 9 (Continued)

(v)

Measurement and recognition of ECL (Continued)
Lifetime ECL for certain trade receivables and lease
receivables are considered on a collective basis taking
into consideration past due information and relevant
credit information such as forward looking
macroeconomic information.

Where ECL is measured on a collective basis or cater for
cases where evidence at the individual instrument level
may not yet be available, the financial instruments are
grouped with reference to the following basis:

Nature of financial instruments;
Past-due status;

Nature, size and industry of debtors; and

External credit ratings where available.

The grouping is regularly reviewed by management to
ensure the constituents of each group continue to
share similar credit risk characteristics.

Interest income is calculated based on the gross
carrying amount of the financial asset unless the
financial asset is credit-impaired, in which case interest
income is calculated based on amortised cost of the
financial asset.

The Group recognises an impairment gain or loss in
profit or loss for all financial instruments by adjusting
their carrying amount, with the exception of lease
receivables and trade receivables where the
corresponding adjustment is recognised through a loss
allowance account.

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED 3. RMEMBBRRNGREEREXRS
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT HBUGR (8)
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
3.2 Significant accounting policies (Continued) 3.2 FEEHBE®E)
Financial instruments (Continued) EWMITAE(E)
Financial assets (Continued) THEE (&)
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AR B IE R R M

For the year ended 31 March 2022 # % 2022F 3 A31 HILFE

%—?/—\,ﬁﬂiﬁ%ﬁa’ﬂﬁﬁﬂézﬁﬁiﬁé
FHBCR (8)

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED 3.
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

The Group derecognises a financial asset only when the
contractual rights to the cash flows from the asset expire, or
when it transfers the financial asset and substantially all the
risks and rewards of ownership of the asset to another entity.

On derecognition of a financial asset measured at amortised
cost, the difference between the asset’s carrying amount and
the sum of the consideration received and receivable is
recognised in profit or loss.

Financial liabilities and equity

Classification as debt or equity

Debt and equity instruments are classified as either financial
liabilities or as equity in accordance with the substance of the
contractual arrangements and the definitions of a financial
liability and an equity instrument.

Equity instruments

An equity instrument is any contract that evidences a residual
interest in the assets of an entity after deducting all of its
liabilities. Equity instruments issued by the Company are
recognised at the proceeds received, net of direct issue costs.

Financial liabilities at amortised cost

Financial liabilities (including trade and other payables,
borrowings and loans from a related company) are
subsequently measured at amortised cost, using the effective
interest method.

Derecognition of financial liabilities

The Group derecognises financial liabilities when, and only
when, the Group’s obligations are discharged, cancelled or
have expired. The difference between the carrying amount of
the financial liability derecognised and the consideration paid
and payable is recognised in profit or loss.

3.2 Significant accounting policies (Continued) 3.2 FEEHBE®E)
Financial instruments (Continued) SRMIA(E)
Financial assets (Continued) TEEE ()
Derecognition of financial assets BUHERLHMEE
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AR TSR M 5t

For the year ended 31 March 2022 #ZE 2022F 3 A31 HILFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED 3.
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

GENEBRRNEREEREAS
TR (8)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (Continued) 3.2 FEEHBX®E)
Financial instruments (Continued) SETA(E)
Financial liabilities and equity (Continued) 2EEE &)

Changes in the basis for determining the contractual cash
flows as a result of interest rate benchmark reform

For changes in the basis for determining the contractual cash
flows of a financial asset or financial liability to which the
amortised cost measurement applies as a result of interest rate
benchmark reform, the Group applies the practical expedient
to account for these changes by updating the effective
interest rate, such change in effective interest rate normally
has no significant effect on the carrying amount of the
relevant financial asset or financial liability.

A change in the basis for determining the contractual cash
flow is required by interest rate benchmark reform if and only
if both these conditions are met:

the change is necessary as a direct consequence of
interest rate benchmark reform; and

the new basis for determining the contractual cash
flows is economically equivalent to the previous basis
(i.e. the basis immediately preceding the change).
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AR B IE R R M

For the year ended 31 March 2022 # % 2022F 3 A31 HILFE

REMBRENEREERERE
at BUR (48)

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED 3.
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

The Group recognises revenue when (or as) a performance
obligation is satisfied, i.e. when “control” of the goods or
services underlying the particular performance obligation is
transferred to the customer.

A performance obligation represents a good or service (or a
bundle of goods or services) that is distinct or a series of
distinct goods or services that are substantially the same.

Control is transferred over time and revenue is recognised
over time by reference to the progress towards complete
satisfaction of the relevant performance obligation if one of
the following criteria is met:

the customer simultaneously receives and consumes
the benefits provided by the Group’s performance as
the Group performs;

the Group's performance creates or enhances an asset
that the customer controls as the Group performs; or

the Group's performance does not create an asset with
an alternative use to the Group and the Group has an
enforceable right to payment for performance
completed to date.

Otherwise, revenue is recognised at a point in time when the
customer obtains control of the distinct good or service.

A contract asset represents the Group's right to consideration
in exchange for goods or services that the Group has
transferred to a customer that is not yet unconditional. It is
assessed for impairment in accordance with HKFRS 9. In
contrast, a receivable represents the Group’s unconditional
right to consideration, i.e. only the passage of time is required
before payment of that consideration is due.

3.2 Significant accounting policies (Continued) 3.2 FEEHBE®E)
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AR TSR M 5t

For the year ended 31 March 2022 #ZE 2022F 3 A31 HILFE

REMBBRRNEREEREAS
FTBUR (80)

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED 3.
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (Continued) 3.2

EFREFEEE)

Revenue from contracts with customers (Continued)

A contract liability represents the Group's obligation to transfer
goods or services to a customer for which the Group has
received consideration (or an amount of consideration is due)
from the customer.

A contract asset and a contract liability relating to the same
contract are accounted for and presented on a net basis.

Contracts with multiple performance obligations (including
allocation of transaction price)

For contracts that contain more than one performance
obligation (including repair and maintenance services,
installation services and delivery services), the Group allocates
the transaction price to each performance obligation on a
relative stand-alone selling price basis.

The stand-alone selling price of the distinct good or service
underlying each performance obligation is determined at
contract inception. It represents the price at which the Group
would sell a promised good or service separately to a
customer. If a stand-alone selling price is not directly
observable, the Group estimates it using appropriate
techniques such that the transaction price ultimately allocated
to any performance obligation reflects the amount of
consideration to which the Group expects to be entitled in
exchange for transferring the promised goods or services to
the customer.

Over time revenue recognition: measurement of progress towards
complete satisfaction of a performance obligation

Output method

The progress towards complete satisfaction of a performance
obligation is measured based on output method, which is to
recognise revenue on the basis of direct measurements of the
value of the goods or services transferred to the customer to
date relative to the remaining goods or services promised
under the contract, that best depict the Group's performance
in transferring control of goods or services.
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AR B IE R R M

For the year ended 31 March 2022 # % 2022F 3 A31 HILFE

REMBRENEREERERE
at BUR (48)

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED 3.
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

In determining the transaction price, the Group adjusts the
promised amount of consideration for the effects of the time
value of money if the timing of payments agreed (either
explicitly or implicitly) provides the customer or the Group
with a significant benefit of financing the transfer of goods or
services to the customer. In those circumstances, the contract
contains a significant financing component. A significant
financing component may exist regardless of whether the
promise of financing is explicitly stated in the contract or
implied by the payment terms agreed to by the parties to the
contract.

For contracts where the period between payment and transfer
of the associated goods or services is less than one year, the
Group applies the practical expedient of not adjusting the
transaction price for any significant financing component.

Leases

Definition of a lease

A contract is, or contains, a lease if the contract conveys the
right to control the use of an identified asset for a period of
time in exchange for consideration.

For contracts entered into or modified or arising from business
combinations on or after the date of initial application, the
Group assesses whether a contract is or contains a lease based
on the definition under HKFRS 16 at inception, modification
date or acquisition date, as appropriate. Such contract will not
be reassessed unless the terms and conditions of the contract
are subsequently changed.

3.2 Significant accounting policies (Continued) 3.2 FEEHBE®E)
Revenue from contracts with customers (Continued) EFAHNE (58)
Existence of significant financing component HFHREABEKS
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AR TSR M 5t

For the year ended 31 March 2022 #ZE 2022F 3 A31 HILFE

REMBBRRNEREEREAS
FTBUR (80)

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED 3.
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (Continued) 3.2 FEEHBE®E)
Leases (Continued) HE (&)
The Group as a lessee KEFIERBEATAA
Allocation of consideration to components of a contract YEHNHL T EAE
For a contract that contains a lease component and one or MEEHES & —EkZ AN A

more additional lease or non-lease components, the Group
allocates the consideration in the contract to each lease
component on the basis of the relative stand-alone price of
the lease component and the aggregate stand-alone price of
the non-lease components.

Non-lease components are separated from lease component
and are accounted for by applying other applicable standards.

Short-term leases

The Group applies the short-term lease recognition exemption
to leases of rented premises and machineries that have a lease
term of 12 months or less from the commencement date and
do not contain a purchase option. Lease payments on short-
term leases are recognised as expense on a straight-line basis
or another systematic basis over the lease term.

Right-of-use assets
The cost of right-of-use asset includes:

the amount of the initial measurement of the lease
liability;

any lease payments made at or before the
commencement date, less any lease incentives
received;

any initial direct costs incurred by the Group; and

an estimate of costs to be incurred by the Group in
dismantling and removing the underlying assets,
restoring the site on which it is located or restoring the
underlying asset to the condition required by the terms
and conditions of the lease.

Right-of-use assets are measured at cost, less any accumulated
depreciation and impairment losses, and adjusted for any
remeasurement of lease liabilities.
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AR B IE R R M

For the year ended 31 March 2022 # % 2022F 3 A31 HILFE

REMBRENRREERERE
at BUR (4)

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED 3.
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Right-of-use assets are depreciated on a straight-line basis
over the shorter of its estimated useful life and the lease term.

The Group presents right-of-use assets as a separate line item
on the consolidated statement of financial position.

Refundable rental deposits

Refundable rental deposits paid are accounted under HKFRS 9
and initially measured at fair value. Adjustments to fair value at
initial recognition are considered as additional lease payments
and included in the cost of right-of-use assets.

Lease liabilities

At the commencement date of a lease, the Group recognises
and measures the lease liability at the present value of lease
payments that are unpaid at that date. In calculating the
present value of lease payments, the Group uses the
incremental borrowing rate at the lease commencement date
if the interest rate implicit in the lease is not readily
determinable.

The lease payments include:

fixed payments (including in-substance fixed payments)
less any lease incentives receivable;

amounts expected to be payable by the Group under
residual value guarantees; and

payments of penalties for terminating a lease, if the
lease term reflects the Group exercising an option to
terminate the lease.

After the commencement date, lease liabilities are adjusted by
interest accretion and lease payments.

3.2 Significant accounting policies (Continued) 3.2 FEEHBE®E)
Leases (Continued) HEE)
The Group as a lessee (Continued) REEERAHAA (&)
Right-of-use assets (Continued) EAELE (&)
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AR TSR M 5t

For the year ended 31 March 2022 #ZE 2022F 3 A31 HILFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED 3.
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

GENKEBRRNEREEREAS
HBUGR (8)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (Continued) 3.2 FEEHBE®E)
Leases (Continued) HE (&)
The Group as a lessee (Continued) REFERAHAA (&)
Lease liabilities (Continued) HESE(E)

The Group remeasures lease liabilities (and makes a
corresponding adjustment to the related right-of-use assets)
whenever:

the lease term has changed or there is a change in the
assessment of exercise of a purchase option, in which
case the related lease liability is remeasured by
discounting the revised lease payments using a revised
discount rate at the date of reassessment.

the lease payments change due to changes in market
rental rates following a market rent review, in which
cases the related lease liability is remeasured by
discounting the revised lease payments using the initial
discount rate.

The Group presents lease liabilities as a separate line item on
the consolidated statement of financial position.

The Group as a lessor

Classification and measurement of leases

Leases for which the Group is a lessor are classified as finance
or operating leases. Whenever the terms of the lease transfer
substantially all the risks and rewards incidental to ownership
of an underlying asset to the lessee, the contract is classified as
a finance lease. All other leases are classified as operating
leases.

Rental income from operating leases is recognised in profit or
loss on a straight-line basis over the term of the relevant lease.
Initial direct costs incurred in negotiating and arranging an
operating lease are added to the carrying amount of the
leased asset, and such costs are recognised as an expense on
a straight-line basis over the lease term.

Rental income which are derived from the Group’s ordinary
course of business are presented as revenue.
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AR B IE R R M

For the year ended 31 March 2022 # % 2022F 3 A31 HILFE

%A,ﬂiﬂiﬁ%%%ﬁﬁéézﬁ_&iﬁé
FHBGR (8)

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED 3.
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

When a contract includes both leases and non-lease
components, the Group applies HKFRS 15 Revenue from
Contracts with Customers to allocate consideration in a contract
to lease and non-lease components. Non-lease components
are separated from lease component on the basis of their
relative stand-alone selling prices.

Refundable rental deposits
Refundable rental deposits received are accounted for under
HKFRS 9 and initially measured at fair value. Adjustments to
fair value at initial recognition are considered as additional
lease payments from lessees.

Borrowing costs

All borrowing costs are recognised in profit or loss in the
period in which they are incurred as the Group does not have
any qualifying asset, which is asset that necessarily take a
substantial period of time to get ready for its intended use or
sale.

Government grants

Government grants are not recognised until there is
reasonable assurance that the Group will comply with the
conditions attaching to them and that the grants will be
received.

Government grants are recognised in profit or loss on a
systematic basis over the periods in which the Group
recognises as expenses the related costs for which the grants
are intended to compensate.

Government grants related to income that are receivable as
compensation for expenses or losses already incurred or for
the purpose of giving immediate financial support to the
Group with no future related costs are recognised in profit or
loss in the period in which they become receivable.
Government grants relating to compensation of expenses are
deducted from the related expenses, other government grants
are presented under “other income”.

3.2 Significant accounting policies (Continued) 3.2 FEEHBE®E)
Leases (Continued) HEE)
The Group as a lessor (Continued) AEFEZLAEA (&)
Allocation of consideration to components of a contract ¥‘J‘ Aﬁ?ﬁ 77 EAE
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AR TSR M 5t

For the year ended 31 March 2022 &%= 202243 31 HItFE

RAMEBRRNEREERERS
HBUGR (8)

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED 3.
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (Continued) 3.2

EFREFEEE)

Taxation
Income tax expense represents the sum of the tax currently
payable and deferred tax.

The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit for the
year. Taxable profit differs from loss before tax because of
income or expense that are taxable or deductible in other
years and items that are never taxable or deductible. The
Group's liability for current tax is calculated using tax rates that
have been enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the
reporting period.

Deferred tax is recognised on temporary differences between
the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities in the
consolidated statement of financial position and the
corresponding tax base used in the computation of taxable
profit. Deferred tax liabilities are generally recognised for all
taxable temporary differences. Deferred tax assets are
generally recognised for all deductible temporary differences
to the extent that it is probable that taxable profits will be
available against which those deductible temporary
differences can be utilised. Such deferred tax assets and
liabilities are not recognised if the temporary difference arises
from the initial recognition (other than in a business
combination) of assets and liabilities in a transaction that
affects neither the taxable profit nor the accounting profit.
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AR B IE R R M

For the year ended 31 March 2022 # % 2022F 3 A31 HILFE

REMBRENEHREERBAE
T BUR ()

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED 3.
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable temporary
differences associated with investments in subsidiaries, except
where the Group is able to control the reversal of the
temporary difference and it is probable that the temporary
difference will not reverse in the foreseeable future. Deferred
tax assets arising from deductible temporary differences
associated with such investments are only recognised to the
extent that it is probable that there will be sufficient taxable
profits against which to utilise the benefits of the temporary
differences and they are expected to reverse in the foreseeable
future.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at the
end of each reporting period and reduced to the extent that it
is no longer probable that sufficient taxable profits will be
available to allow all or part of the asset to be recovered.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates
that are expected to apply in the period in which the liability is
settled or the asset is realised, based on tax rate (and tax laws)
that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the end
of the reporting period.

The measurement of deferred tax liabilities and assets reflects
the tax consequences that would follow from the manner in
which the Group expects, at the end of the reporting period,
to recover or settle the carrying amount of its assets and
liabilities.

3.2 Significant accounting policies (Continued) 3.2 FEEHBX®E)
Taxation (Continued) HiE (&)
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AR TSR M 5t

For the year ended 31 March 2022 &%= 202243 31 HItFE

GRAMEBRRNEREERERS
HBUGR (8)

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED 3.
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (Continued) 3.2 FEEHBX®E)

Taxation (Continued)

For the purposes of measuring deferred tax for leasing
transactions in which the Group recognises the right-of-use
assets and the related lease liabilities, the Group first
determines whether the tax deductions are attributable to the
right-of-use assets or the lease liabilities.

For leasing transactions in which the tax deductions are
attributable to the lease liabilities, the Group applies HKAS 12
requirements to the leasing transaction as a whole. Temporary
differences relating to right-of-use assets and lease liabilities
are assessed on a net basis. Excess of depreciation on right-of-
use assets over the lease payments for the principal portion of
lease liabilities resulting in net deductible temporary
differences.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is a
legally enforceable right to set off current tax assets against
current tax liabilities and when they relate to income taxes
levied to the same taxable entity by the same taxation
authority.

Current and deferred tax are recognised in profit or loss.

BiE (%)

shEt AR E R E RS E KA

HERENEERZNELEREAM
AKEEAEERBEEERM

‘*ﬁ%%?—ﬂ;ﬁﬁm%ﬁ €

PREERBEZARNENEERS
mE  AEBEHNEREERZSER
ERGAENENRRNER - B
ﬁﬁmféﬁfgﬁfﬂféﬁﬁ’]ﬁﬁﬁ—ir%%ﬁ%
%EE Atfh - MEEREN AT AR
ﬁﬁﬁﬁéﬁ@%ﬁ%&i@%ﬂﬁﬁ
N DA?&EI?DE%E‘\J%EH%%E%E e

BIRITHEAN AR IREE R
BIEARIR B B - ANE SR —F
R R — R E BB HI TS
BRE - EERBREENAGEAEMN
i e

BIEA NORFETR IR MR s rp SR

DR EIERAER AR /2022 FEHR




NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AR B IE R R M

For the year ended 31 March 2022 #{Z= 2022 F3 A31 HILFE

REMBRENEHREERBAE
T BUR ()

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED 3.
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (Continued) 3.2

FEREFEEE)

Foreign currencies

In preparing the financial statements of each individual group
entity, transactions in currencies other than the functional
currency of that entity (foreign currencies) are recognised at
the rates of exchange prevailing on the dates of the
transactions. At the end of the reporting period, monetary
items denominated in foreign currencies are retranslated at
the rates prevailing at that date. Non-monetary items that are
measured in terms of historical cost in a foreign currency are
not retranslated.

Exchange differences arising on the settlement of monetary
items, and on the retranslation of monetary items, are
recognised in profit or loss in the period in which they arise.

For the purpose of presenting the consolidated financial
statements, the assets and liabilities of the Group’s foreign
operations are translated into the presentation currency of the
Group (i.e. HKS) using exchange rates prevailing at the end of
the reporting period. Income and expenses items are
translated at the average exchange rates for the year, unless
exchange rates fluctuate significantly during the period, in
which case, the exchange rates prevailing at the dates of
transactions are used. Exchange differences arising, if any, are
recognised in other comprehensive income and accumulated
in equity under the heading of translation reserve.
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

=N RS ey

For the year ended 31 March 2022 #ZE 2022F 3 A31 HILFE

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (Continued)
Short-term employee benefits
Short-term employee benefits are recognised at the
undiscounted amount of the benefits expected to be paid as
and when employees rendered the services. All short-term
employee benefits are recognised as an expense unless
another HKFRS requires or permits the inclusion of the benefit
in the cost of an asset.

A liability is recognised for benefits accruing to employees
(such as wages and salaries and annual leave) after deducting
any amount already paid.

Retirement benefit costs

Payments to defined contribution retirement benefit plans,
including Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme (the “"MPF”
Scheme) and state-managed retirement benefit schemes, are
recognised as an expense when employees have rendered
service entitling them to the contributions.

KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY

In the application of the Group’s accounting policies, which are
described in note 3, the directors of the Company are required to
make judgements, estimates and assumptions about the carrying
amounts of assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent from
other sources. The estimates and underlying assumptions are based
on historical experience and other factors that are considered to be
relevant. Actual results may differ from these estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an
ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are recognised in
the period in which the estimate is revised if the revision affects only
that period, or in the period of the revision and future periods if the
revision affects both current and future periods.

The following are the key assumptions concerning the future and
other key sources of estimation uncertainty at the end of the
reporting period, that have a significant risk of causing a material
adjustment to the carrying amounts of the assets within the next
financial year.
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For the year ended 31 March 2022 # % 2022F 3 A31 HILFE

KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY
(Continued)

Impairment assessment of trade receivables and lease
receivables

Certain of trade receivables and lease receivables are assessed for
ECL individually. In addition, the Group determines the ECL for the
remaining trade receivables and lease receivables by grouping of
various debtors that have similar risk exposure, after considering
internal credit ratings of lease receivables and trade receivables,
ageing, repayment history and/or past due status and forward-
looking information of respective lease receivables and trade
receivables that is reasonable and supportable available without
undue costs or effort. Estimated losses are based on historical
observed default rates over the expected life of the lease receivables
and trade receivables and are adjusted for forward-looking
information. At every reporting date, the historical observed default
rates are reassessed and changes in the forward-looking information
are considered.

At 31 March 2022, the carrying amount of trade receivables and
lease receivables are HK$1,400,000 (2021: HK$3,152,000) and
HK$30,875,000 (2021: HK$33,498,000), net of allowance for credit loss
of HK$216,000 (2021: HK$179,000) and HK$12,838,000 (2021:
HK$10,620,000) respectively. The provision of ECL is sensitive to
changes in estimates. The information about the ECL and the
Group's trade receivables and lease receivables are disclosed in note
30.
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kB ZEYFENREEEFE - Rk

E%&%J_E&/‘iiﬁﬁﬁﬂﬁﬁu&ﬂiéﬁﬁﬁjT
ENBRARE NS HREKESENREA
&f’i%ﬁ’gﬂﬁlﬁ HEBWAIERABIEANA
EMEFR - et BEREDIREKRESTRIAR
B S RYGRIEN AN F AR BE R ER
BAOEFE  UHATEEERETHE -
EEREEH  BERRINENETKT
BHEHE - Y EEEATEEEREE -

R2022%F 38318 @ & 5 EKRFIE K ER
MEFIBR B BREE 5 5l 4 1,400,000 % 7T
(2021 4 : 3,152,000 JT. ) K& 30,875,000 7T
(20214 : 33498000 ) ' EHMKBREEE
BB D B 5 216,000 7T (2021 6 : 179,000
7T ) 1 12,838,000 7T (2021 £F : 10,620,000
BIr) - MEEEEERE S XM 28K
2 - EREHEEBBEURAEEES
FE U SR TE K E W & IR Y B B B EE 30
W o
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

B 75 Rk P v

For the year ended 31 March 2022 & ZE 202243 A31 BIEFE

5. REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION

(a) Revenue

(i) Disaggregation of revenue from contracts with

customers

Geographical markets 5

Hong Kong BE

Macau R

People’s Republicof A EE AR AFIE
China (‘PRC) (TE))

Singapore AN

Total @t

Timing of revenue  WHBRBH
recoghition

A pointin time FRREEER

Overtime ReRs RRER

Total EH

Sales of
machinery

and parts
BRR
BHEE
HK$'000
TER

17,757

Lease
related
operating
services
HHEER
MR ERRAE
HK$'000
TER

10

529

12,365

e

N

5. WERIBER
e 25

(a)

(i)

BEFEHNRENDSE

For the year ended 31 March 2022
BZ2022F3A31RLFE

Repair and
maintenance
service
BER
RERH
HK$'000
TERL

Delivery Installation
service service Total

RERE — REERB At
HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000
TR TR TER

36,165
623

21
553

37,362
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AR TSR M 5

For the year ended 31 March 2022 # % 2022F 3 A31 HILFE

5. REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued) 5. WHEK 2 EHER (&)
(a) Revenue (Continued) (a) W= (E)
(i) Disaggregation of revenue from contracts with i) FEFEHAWEMNSEE)
customers (Continued)

For the year ended 31 March 2021

B2 F3A31BILER
Lease
Sales of related Repairand
machinery operating  maintenance Delivery  Installation
and parts services service service service Total

HwRL REERH BER

THHE WRERE RERE  ORERE  ZERS a5t
HKS'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TAT TAT TAT TAT TAR TAR

Geographical markets 5

Hong Kong B 27316 12,153 2745 3117 186 45517
Macau bl 199 = 45 152 4 400
PRC m 8 = = = = 8
Singapore il - 624 = 28 - 652
Total @t 27523 12777 2790 3297 190 46,577

Timing of revenue W BRABH

recognition
A point in time X-ER%mER 20523 - - 3297 = 30,820
Overtime BRI RER - 12777 2790 = 190 15757
Total @5t 27523 12777 2790 3297 190 46,577
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AR TSR M 5t

For the year ended 31 March 2022 #{Z= 20223 A31 HIEFE

5. REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued) 5. RBERDIBER (5

(a) Revenue (Continued) (@ W= (&)
(i) Disaggregation of revenue from contracts with i) FEFEHAWEMNSEE)
customers (Continued)
Set out below is the reconciliation of the revenue from TEREIDHERBEENE
contracts with customers disclosed in the segment B H) U R BN B2 [ A8 U 2 )
information with the total revenue of the Group. iR o

2022 2021
2022 F 2021 4F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHBT FAT

Lease related operating services HEEF R IERTS &

and other services H b AR %S 19,054
Trading = 27,523
Revenue from contracts with EREMEFEH WG

customers per segment 46,577
Leasing of equipment HERE 101,873
Total revenue Fel g 148450




NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

AR TSR M 5

For the year ended 31 March 2022 # % 2022F 3 A31 HILFE

5.

REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued)
Revenue (Continued)

(a)

(ii)

Performance obligations for contracts with
customers

Sales of machinery and parts

Revenue from sales of machinery and parts is from
contracts with customers and recognised at a point in
time when the customer obtains control of the goods.

Revenue is recognised when control of the goods has
transferred, being when the goods have been accepted
by the customer. The customer has full discretion over
the usage of the goods, and has the primary
responsibility when on selling the goods and bears the
risks of obsolescence and loss in relation to the goods.
The normal credit term is 0 to 90 days upon invoice
issued.

The Group normally receives 10% to 40% of the contract
value as deposits from customers when it signs the sale
and purchase agreement. The deposits will be
recognised as revenue when the customer obtains
control of the machinery.

All the sales of machinery and parts are completed
within one year. As permitted under HKFRS 15, the
transaction price allocated to these unsatisfied contracts
is not disclosed.

Lease related operating services income

The Group offers equipment operating services in Hong
Kong and other geographical markets by sending
equipment operators to operate the equipment at the
job sites of its customers. Such services are recognised
as a performance obligation satisfied over time as the
customer simultaneously receives and consumes the
benefits provided by the Group's performance as the
Group performs. The normal credit term is 0 to 45 days
upon invoice issued. The invoice is issued upon the
completion of service.

The contract periods for lease related operating service
are one year or less. As permitted under HKFRS 15, the
transaction price allocated to these unsatisfied contracts
is not disclosed.

5.

W=k o EER (&
Wi (8)

(a)

(ii)

BEFENNERNER

W REMIEE

R T HEHENRERER

F&#) THREFPISE ML
I R B R AR o

WamnE AT EEE
MERFEESERKER -
ERU2EMNBERAEFRAE®D
WA - WHRHEE RERE
i%ﬁ&&%?ﬁ&r‘&%%%

B —MEERAREHEE
1§:E’\Joi9oE| °

NEE—RERFITESHE
B 16 2 P W B A 40 & (B B9 10%
ZA4%1ERFTE T2 ER
B EER{S R 7O 12 I R B RE AR
BUES o

PRBEMW LR THHEEAN —F
WK ° EEBPEIRE LR
FISSAFT > WEEESD
REZERTRANNXHE
1% o

HHE B FHAR EIR A

AEBEEB REMMIETS
REUERBRIERY - KERE
RIFREF P THIRIERRME ©
A % P 7 AN 5% (B R 40 B[R] By

B R R AN 5 B B 40 P s 2K
M - B RG R AR

Mk HBOET  —REE
HARABRER0E4I4H - &
ZERRISTEREBFAA -

S E AR IEREH A A
HMA—FHAT - EHFEYT
HEAEISHEMAAFT - I
BERBEIEERZERATHAN

El'\]x L
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANEIAI_ STATEMENTS

I\\/T\

B MR T

For the year ended 31 March 2022 #ZE 2022F 3 A31 HILFE

5. REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued)
(@) Revenue (Continued)
(ii) Performance obligations for contracts with
customers (Continued)
Lease related other services income
The Group's other services income, which arise from
rental arrangements including repair, maintenance,
installation and delivery services. Revenue from delivery
service is recognised when the goods have been
delivered to the customer’s specific location. Revenue
from repair and maintenance service is recognised
when the service rendered is completed. Revenue from
installation service is recognised over time because the
Group's performance creates or enhances an asset that
the customer controls as the asset is created or
enhanced. The normal credit term is 0 to 45 days upon
invoice issued. The invoice is issued upon the
completion of service.

The contract periods for lease related other services are
one year or less. As permitted under HKFRS 15, the
transaction price allocated to these unsatisfied contracts
is not disclosed.

(iii) Leases

5. WHERDIER @)
(a) Wz (&)

(ii)

(iii)

For operating leases: MK EHEMS -
Lease payments that are fixed B HERK

BEFANNBERNEE(E)

HTHE BB E M RN

REBME M REKARE H
Mzh BREgEE RE %
K MORE R o Ik ZU R TIR

ERIREEEFIETE R B
TR f&ﬂ*&ﬁ%ﬁlﬁ%ﬂ’]ﬂiﬁé
R IR AR TS R RER o

PR 75 9 Uk 25 BE BRI RERR, - R
BAEBMHENE %QZEQE—
BEREEHAIEINRKHE
PEHIMNEE - —REEHA
FMAZRZOEL4H - FER
BR7&TER BRI A -

HEE AR H MRS H S K
HA—FHAT - EFEBYTE
HEERBISHEAATT I
BERBEIEERFERATHALN
M BB o

bish-4
2022 2021
2022 F 2021 &
HK$’000 HK$'000
THET FHETT
101,873

For the years ended 31 March 2022 and 2021, there is
no contingent rental recognised.

HZE2022F K2021F3A31H
IEFE - WEERSAES -
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

AR TSR M 5

For the year ended 31 March 2022 &= 202263 A31 HILFE

5. REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued) 5. WHRIHELR @)

(b) Segmentinformation (b) ZBER
For management purpose, the Group is organised based on REBER  AEBRAEEBESHE
its business activities. The Group determines its operating o AEBIRNEXKEETHSE
segments based on these business activities that are reqgularly BN AEFEEREE(BIALD
reviewed by the chief operating decision maker, i.e. the RRITES) THER  UHRER
executive directors of the Company, for the purpose of PEREES

resources allocation and performance assessment.

Specifically, the Group's reportable and operating segments BRmME  A5EREBEESMHERE
under HKFRS 8 Operating Segments are as follows: HEREH (A& 55 M 2| K
KEDERIT
Leasing —  Leasing of equipment, lease related operating HE — HERE HERERE
services, repair and maintenance service, MRS~ B RAIRE RS
delivery service and installation service IR R 2R
Trading —  Sales of machinery and parts BEE — HWREREHHEE
Segment information about these reportable and operating BRLENERNEESTHDIE
segments is presented below: BRTX25 :
Segment revenue and results D EBUN R R FEAE
For the year ended 31 March 2022 BLE2022F3 31 HIEFE
Leasing Trading Total
HE BEE et
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$’000
FET FET FET
Revenue Wz
Segment revenue from REINBEFH
external customers 7 b ER 117,041 : 134,798
Results E
Segment results DEBEE
Unallocated income R BEUWA 78
Unallocated expenses RABLFAX (27,679)
Consolidated loss before tax REBE RS BRTLAT
of the Group ] (4,995)
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5.

(b)

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AR TSR M 5t

For the year ended 31 March 2022 #ZE 2022F 3 A31 HILFE

REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued) 5. Wz R 2 E&E R (4)
Segment information (Continued) (b) ZEMERE)
Segment revenue and results (Continued) EBUL R I 4R ()
For the year ended 31 March 2021 B Z 2021 F3 A31 HIFFE
Leasing Trading Total
HE BE 5T
HKS'000 HKS$'000 HK$'000
FHIT FHIT FHIT
Revenue W=
Segment revenue from R EINER P B B
external customers 120,927 27,523 148,450
Results &
Segment results DEPELE 15,228 2,966 18,194
Unallocated income AP EUWA 995
Unallocated expenses KB (25,725)
Consolidated loss before tax AREBRIGZEBRTIRETE
of the Group (6,536)

The accounting policies of the reportable and operating
segments are the same as the Group'’s accounting policies
described in note 3. Segment results represent the profit
earned by each segment without allocation of interest income
and certain sundry income, exchange gain or loss, and central
administration expenses. This is the measure reported to the
chief operating decision maker for the purposes of resource
allocation and performance assessment.

The chief operating decision maker makes decisions according
to operating results of each segment. No analysis of segment
assets and liabilities are presented as the information is not
regularly reported to the chief operating decision maker for
the purpose of resource allocation and assessment of
performance.

AT 2|PAEE D B AT BRER BT
ST AR B ST BRAAR - D&
FBEEBED FARIAER - TR
B S WA RE THRERA - EX
Wean sk B 18 R R RITERFI X © kY (A
BREEERREERABIEERDE
REHERBEMRMNEERER -

BRZERRERBEES AN MOLZE
FEEHRT - WEZHDEEER
BENDT - REAZZENLEE
Him &R ERREERABIEER
DERFHERS
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

B M iSRRI

For the year ended 31 March 2022 &= 202263 A31 HILFE

n\/T\

5. REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued)

(b)

Segment information (Continued)

Other segment information
For the year ended 31 March 2022

Reversal of impairment losses
recognised on property,
plant and equipment, net
Impairment losses recognised on
lease receivables and trade
receivables, net
Write-down on inventories
Depreciation of property,
plant and equipment

EERME - BAK
REBREERREFE

ERREMHEERER
B 5 UG IRRE
BRFE

nE  BRERENE

5. WmEKkDEMER @)

(b)

Leasing
HE
HK$'000
TER

53,473

DEE R (E)
Hoth o EpEHR
B F 202243 F31 HIFFE

Trading Unallocated

EE A0
HK$'000
7

HK$'000
TERT

Total
st
HK$'000
THER

2,255
630

54,343

Depreciation of right-of-use assets (I EEITE 3,991 4,077
Gain on disposal of property, HEWE - R
plant and equipment BEle 8,698 8,698
For the year ended 31 March 2021 22021 F3 A31 HIEFE
Leasing Trading  Unallocated Total
il BEE ADE st
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TAT TET FAT TAT
Impairment losses recognisedon B HERYE « EM K%
property, plant and equipment BEEE 5363 = = 5363
Reversal of impairment losses BREREKEETIER
recognised on lease receivables B 5 EWFUERE
and trade receivables, net EBREFE 1017 499 = 1516
Depreciation of property, M B RRETE
plant and equipment 65375 40 880 66,295
Depreciation of right-of-use assets (L EITE 2943 = 84 3,027
Gain on disposal of property, HEWE - R
plant and equipment BEle 5,385 = = 5,385
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

5. REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued)

(b)

Segment information (Continued)
Geographical information

The Group's revenue from external customers is mainly

derived from customers located in Hong Kong, Macau, the
PRC and Singapore, which is determined based on the

location of customers.

4o A

AR TSR M 5t

For the year ended 31 March 2022 & 2022 %3 A31 BIEFE

5. WERIWBER @

(b)

External revenue:

Hong Kong
Macau

PRC
Singapore

HhEBUS

RFT
I
N

The Group's non-current assets based on the geographical
location of the group companies owning these assets are as

follows:

Non-current assets:

Hong Kong
Macau

PRC
Singapore

FRBEE :

)
RFT
T
N3

Note: Non-current assets excluded rental deposits, deposit placed for
a life insurance policy and deferred tax assets.

DEER ()
REERBIBEFHRSEERITE
B&® R FERFINEHNE
B REREFMAEMEEE

2022 2021
2022 F 2021 4F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHBT FHT

122,583 140,184
7,004 5,842
1,012 617
4,199 1,807

134,798 148,450

AEENFERDEE(EEBNLEE
ENEBRARMEMBAUES D) E
FET

2022 2021
2022 £ 2021 4F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FE&T FHET

178,980 179,719
4,208 2,895
14,197 9,370
2,230 3,567

199,615 195,551

M ERBEETEEESES SR
REGHEERBEE °
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

AR TSR M 5

For the year ended 31 March 2022 #(Z 202243 31 HILFE

5. REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continved) 5. W& R 2 BER (@)
(b) Segment information (Continued) (b) ZEER(E)
Information about major customers EBEXEREFHESR
Revenue from customer during the year contributing over REFEREE BB 10% 0% P
10% of the total revenue of the Group is as follows: IasE s T
2022 2021
2022 20214
HK$’000 HK$'000
TFHExT FHT
Customer A BFA 28,275
6. OTHER INCOME 6. HlA
2022 2021
2022 FF 2021 4F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FET
Interest income from: FEWAKE :
— bank deposits — RITFH 6
— deposit placed for a life — EBRREFR
insurance policy 94
Storage income BEFIA 429
Government grants (Note) BB (&) 5,677
Sundry income HMIEITA 370
6,576

Note: During the year ended 31 March 2022, the Group recognised
government grants of HK$29,000 in respect of Covid-19-related
subsidies in Singapore under Job Support and Wage Credit Scheme(s)
provided by the Singapore government. The remaining government
grant of HK$136,000 represented the subsidies under ex-gratia
payment scheme provided by the Hong Kong government. During
the year ended 31 March 2021, the Group recognised government
grants of HK$5,457,000, HK$73,000 and HKS$147,000 in respect of
Covid-19-related subsidies provided by the Hong Kong, Macau and
Singapore governments respectively.

Bt : BE2022F3 831 HIEFE  AEEHRE
BHFMERFRENTEIERTIER
o 51 &) %5 37 h03% Covid-19 48 B8 7l B FE R IR
JT #5 8) 29,000 %8 7T © & T BT # BN 136,000
BTIERABBIREEEEYET
BB - BE2021F3 A3 AIEEE - KA
SEFBERE ORI RN EATATIR 4
Covid-1948 8 # 8 5 Bl # R B AT f# Bh
5457,00078 7T * 73,0007 7T & 147,000/ 7T °
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e

N

B 75 Rk P v

For the year ended 31 March 2022 & 2022 %3 A31 BIEFE

7. OTHER GAINS AND LOSSES 7. HiWEREE
2022 2021
2022 F 20214
HK$’000 HK$'000
F#&T FHT
Exchange gain, net b 5 W am B8R 581
Gain on disposal of property, HEWIZE - B &
plant and equipment B 5,385
5,966
8. FINANCE COSTS 8. BERAE
2022 2021
2022 F 2021 4F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FHT
Interest on borrowings (note 22) A B (5 22) 586 734
Interest on trade payables (note 20) B 5 5B A B (5E20) 379 657
Interest on lease liabilities (note 25) HEaENE (MEE25) 136 255
Imputed interest on loans from RE—HEBARZ
arelated company (note 24) ERHHEE RS (FF5E24) 86 177
1,823
TRBAEERERAF /2022 FER 137




NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AR TSR M 5

For the year ended 31 March 2022 # % 2022F 3 A31 HILFE

9. INCOME TAX CREDIT 9. FBHER
2022 2021
2022 F 2021 &
HK$’000 HKS$'000
THET T
Current tax; BIHARR IR :

Hong Kong Profits Tax BEBRFH 219

Overprovision in prior years: W FEBERE
Hong Kong Profits Tax BRENEH -
Deferred tax (note 23) PRI TE (B 5T 23) (1,071)
(852)

Under the two-tiered profits tax rates regime, the first HK$2 million
of profits of the qualifying group entity will be taxed at 8.25%, and
profits above HKS2 million will be taxed at 16.5%. The profits of
group entities not qualifying for the two-tiered profits tax rates
regime will continue to be taxed at a flat rate of 16.5%.

The directors of the Company considered the amount involved upon
implementation of the two-tiered profits tax rates regime as
insignificant to the consolidated financial statements. Hong Kong
Profits Tax is calculated at 16.5% of the estimated assessable profit
for the year ended 31 March 2022.

For the subsidiary registered in Macau, Macau Complementary
Income Tax is calculated at 12% of the estimated assessable profit
exceeding MOP600,000 after the deduction of dividend paid for
both years. No provision for Macau Complementary Income Tax had
been made as it had no assessable profits for the current year.

BEFMESHMARH - GEREEREENE?
BEBITHEMG R 25%HE - MiBE2A
S TTREM B BIZ 165% EF - THFAF)
15 Tt /R AR Il 1 55 B B BE MO0 A A 48 4B iR
16.5% B AT — T8 EHA

AAREERE  BHEANSHMARSATS
N SHEBREAEVBRRTEERBIE -
HZE202F3A3BILEFENRBENEH
HAFHERB R A 165%FTH ©

RARPIFMA LB RARIME @ %M
84 [E /B PIFT S A FERIR PR B IR B AR
B.1& 8 38 600,000 38 P9 7T B9 ff 51 FE 2R 5 i A1
W12%:TE - AR ASEBRANFEILEE
AR - R ET IR PIAT S TR
1%0
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANEIAI_ STATEMENTS

AR TSR M 5t

For the year ended 31 March 2022 &%= 202243 31 HItFE

INCOME TAX CREDIT (Continued)

For subsidiary registered in the PRC, under the Law of the PRC on
Enterprise Income Tax (the “EIT Law”) and Implementation
Regulation of the EIT Law, the tax rate of the PRC subsidiary is 25%.
No provision for EIT had been made as it had no assessable profits
for both years.

For the subsidiary registered in Singapore which is subject to
Singapore income tax at 17% (2021: 17%). No provision for Singapore
income tax had been made as it had no assessable profits for both
years.

The income tax credit for the year can be reconciled from the loss
before tax per the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other

comprehensive income as follows:

FrigBiik® (&)
RRPEFMERINHEBRARMS @ BE
FRMEMEHIE(EERS ﬁlfj)&JL
E¥SHAE RGN - PREMBARER
25% BRI ZEFTIS TR ©

TR DN R M O BB X R ZRHR17% (2021 4F

17%) BB R SRR DN P 1S AT © FRINFERX
MEF RIS EERBUEHN - BORB TR
PTG TR o

AEEHBRESEGABEREMEE
Wgs R FTERR BT IR SRR T

2022 2021

2022 20214

HK$’000 HK$'000

FE T FHET

Loss before tax BR 7% A ES 18 (6,536)

Tax at applicable tax rate of 16.5% RERARE 165% T ERTIE (1,078)
Tax effect of expenses not deductible AAIB AT O 2

for tax purpose 739
Tax effect of income not taxable BARB A BT 52

for tax purpose (868)

Tax effect of tax losses not recognised RERBGEENT ST E 586

Effect of different tax rate of subsidiaries  AEA B)A & B (@ 4F 4 HU B /B

operating in other jurisdiction NRAKREZRNTE (174)

Overprovision in prior years BT ERERE -

Others HAth (57)

Income tax credit for the year REZRERE R (852)
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

B M iSRRI

an\
For the year ended 31 March 2022 B ZE 202243 A 31 B L FE
10. LOSS FOR THE YEAR

10. REEFIE

Loss for the year has been arrived
at after charging:

Auditor's remuneration

Cost of inventories recognised as expenses
Depreciation of property, plant and

equipment
Depreciation of right-of-use assets
Write-down on inventories

Staff costs:

Directors’ emoluments (note 11)

Other staff costs:
— Salaries, allowances and
other benefits

— Retirement benefits scheme

contributions

R TFIAE RAFEEIE

ZEENEN 2
RIERXHFERA
W% - BREREITE

EREEENE

BT :
BEE=ME ()
H 8 T
—#FE R REAMER

Total staff costs

BB TR

2022 2021
2022 F
HK$°000
FHBxT

2021 4F
HK$'000
T

1,630
20,054

66,295
3,027

6,746

37,755

1,432

39,187

45933
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

\\/T\ =

B M SR

For the year ended 31 March 2022 #ZE 2022F 3 A31 HILFE

10. LOSS FOR THE YEAR (Continued)
Note: The Group has established the MPF Scheme for its Hong Kong

employees. The assets of the scheme are held separately in funds
which are under the control of independent trustees. The retirement
benefit scheme contributions recognised in profit or loss represent
contributions paid or payable by the Group to the scheme at 5% of
each of the employees’ monthly relevant income capped at
HK$30,000 (2021: HK$30,000) per month.

The eligible employees of the Company’s subsidiaries in the Macau, the
PRC and Singapore are members of pension schemes operated respective
local governments. The subsidiary in Macau is required to contribute
MOP60 for every employee per month. The subsidiary in the PRC is
required to contribute a certain percentage ranging from 0.2% to 14% of
the relevant cost of the payroll of these employees to the pension schemes
to fund the benefits for both years. The subsidiary in Singapore is required
to contribute 16% of the employee’s monthly gross salary. The only
obligation of the Group with respect to the retirement benefit schemes is
to make the required contribution under the schemes.

The total costs charged to profit or loss for the year of HK$1,561,000 (2021:
HK$1,504,000), comprised HK$66,000 and HK$ 1,495,000 (2021: HK$72,000
and HK$1,432,000) in directors’ emoluments and other staff costs
respectively, and represented contributions paid or payable to the
schemes by the Group in respect of the current year. At the end of the
reporting period, there were no forfeited contributions available to reduce
future obligations.

10. XFEEE®)

BMasE -

AEBE AR BEERUBESTE - 5
EMBENBYIEAEENES TS

FIFE - NBE TR R RS 5T 851
BAREEZE R B 30,0007 7T (2021 F -
30,0007 7)) & LR &I A B8 B % 5% 8 E
SR EATERER o

ANBHERPT « A B RTINS KB A R
NEEREEASENBNERNERS
FTEIKE - RPIMMNBARESARESR
BB HFK60RPIT - REZMEFE - #H
WEBARARRAKE: +§\Jf‘EtleZ#1E,\$ﬁ
BEH S RANTF02% = 14% AT 5D
R ABRFRHEES - %ﬁﬂutﬁlﬁ%
ARIEGEE AFBSEEIIEL 160%HER -
AEBABBRKRENGTEINE —ETEAR
BB FTAERK -

RERNBEINGR 2K AT A 1,561,008
7 (2021 4F : 150400078 7T ) * BED A A
66,0008 7T F2 1,495,000 7 7T (2021 4F © 72,000
B0 X% 1,4320008 0 WEEME REME
TIRA - AAREEFRAFEREELR
BTSRRI o REEHR - WER K
B BLR AT ORR AR SRR B ©
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

AR TSR M 5

For the year ended 31 March 2022 &= 202263 A31 HILFE

11. DIRECTORS’, CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S AND EMPLOYEES’ 11. B - BTBRAERESMS
EMOLUMENTS
Details of the emoluments paid or payable to the directors of the BRREMNARARESHMESFBOT ¢
Company are as follows:

Other emoluments
Hiti &

Basic
salaries, Retirement
allowances benefits
and other scheme
benefits contributions

EXxFHE -
)= 3:1:954 BREF
we His @7l HE FEEA
HKS$'000 HKS'000 HK$'000
BIT FHET FHT

For the year ended 31 March 2022 #Z 202253 H31H

LFE

Executive directors: HITES -

Lau Pong Sing 215K

Chan Kit Mui, Lina BRI
Non-executive director: FEHMTES

Tomokatsu Nakazawa HERR
Independent non-executive directors: By JEHITES -

Li Ping Chi FIRE

Siu Chak Yu mEF

Ho Chung Tai, Raymond &R

For the year ended 31 March 2021  #Z 202153 A31H

LEE

Executive directors: HITES :

Lau Pong Sing ZIFR% - 2,777 36 2813

Chan Kit Mui, Lina &2 - 2,763 36 2,799
Non-executive director: FHOTES -

Tomokatsu Nakazawa PERR - - - -
Independent non-executive directors: B JFHITES :

Li Ping Chi FRE 252 = = 252

Siu Chak Yu BEF 252 - - 252

Ho Chung Tai, Raymond [BE:ES 630 = = 630

1,134 5,540 72 6,746
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NOTES 0 CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AR TSR M 5t

For the year ended 31 March 2022 #ZE 2022F 3 A31 HILFE

DIRECTORS’, CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S AND EMPLOYEES’
EMOLUMENTS (Continued)

Mr. Lau Pong Sing is also the Chief Executive of the Company and his
emoluments disclosed above include those for services rendered by
him as the Chief Executive.

The executive directors’ emoluments shown above were mainly for
their services in connection with the management of the affairs of
the Company and the Group. The independent non-executive
directors’ emoluments shown above were mainly for their services as
directors of the Company. No emoluments were paid to the non-
executive directors for both years. The non-executive director waived
his emoluments in the years ended 31 March 2022 and 2021. There
was no other arrangement under which a director or the Chief
Executive of the Company waived or agreed to other waive any
remuneration for both years.

The Group has been providing accommodation, which is leased
from third party, to Ms. Chan Kit Mui, Lina for use by her and her
family members at no charge. The relevant short term lease expense
is HK$484,000 (2021: HK$492,000).

Of the five individuals with the highest emoluments in the Group for
the year, two (2021: two) of them were directors of the Company,

11.

EE BRETRAERESEMS
(#)
BIMKEENRARTRBITRAR -
XAEBEEME B ERARBITRAR
RERBHOBS -

|_|_

FMSTEEHES T BHERETEARNAA
EAREEZBERMUREER - LB 73
HWITEEWS EBHEARETARAES
RERBERE o ZMEFERERIERT
EEIAME o IERTTE S HEE T 2022
FR22FIANBUEFENHFH - A2
AEFTYAmE=ITHRABRZMEFE AL
ERES R ERET MM EMBLTHE -

rEE—EHEERHAE=HFEAMEE
EERRIEZ T RERFEKREFER - 1HE
= H S M X 54840008 JT (2021 4F ¢
492,000 7T) °

AEE AEEBLERRHFALTTME
(0215 : M%&) RARAESE - HMEE

whose emoluments are included in above. The emoluments of the FAEXR - T=20Q021F: =&) A
remaining three (2021: three) individuals were as follows: THBESLT :
2022 2021
2022 & 2021 4
HK$’000 HKS$'000
THET FET
Basic salaries and allowance and EXRge LEM &
other benefits HEAF 2917
Discretionary bonus E"J’E?EZI 185
Retirement benefits scheme contributions R R FIET 242 54
3,156
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AR TSR M 5

For the year ended 31 March 2022 8% 2022 3 431 HILSFE

11. DIRECTORS’, CHIEF EXECUTIVE’'S AND EMPLOYEES’ 11. E£  ES1THAEREE#MNS

EMOLUMENTS (Continued) (&)
The number of the highest paid employees who are not directors of e FTEERERRRESRSH
the Company whose remuneration within the following band is as BEHBWT :
follows:
2022 2021
2022 2021 4
Number of Number of
individuals individuals
AE ANEL
Nil to HK$1,000,000 % 1,000,000 7T 1
HK$1,000,001 to HK$ 1,500,000 1,000,001 78 7L 2 1,500,000 7 7T 2
No emoluments were paid by the Group to the directors of the AEERMEFETERARTESHA
Company or the five highest paid individuals (including directors EEREHFAT(BREERES)XNME
and employees) as an inducement to join or upon joining the Group 1B 7% 0 B2 7N £ [ o 0 B2 s A A2 B ok B Tk 4
or as compensation for loss of office during both years. g -
12. DIVIDEND 12. RE
No dividend were paid and proposed for the year ended 31 March HE202FK2021F3A3BIEFE - I
2022 and 2021. BEREEKRE
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

AR TSR M 5t

For the year ended 31 March 2022 &% 202243 A 31 B IEFE

13. LOSS PER SHARE 13. BRER
The calculation of the basic loss per share attributable to owners of AREEBEARGEREREBIIERT
the Company is based on the following data: PIBIRFE ¢

2022 2021
2022 & 20214
HK$’000 HK$'000
Fi&x FET

Loss for the year attributable to owners ~ AR EZREREIBAA QT

of the Company for the purpose BB ANEERFEEE
of basic loss per share (4,455) (5,684)
‘000
T i
Number of shares avar4E!
Number of ordinary shares for the ARG ESREREBER
purpose of basic loss per share L mAR IR ER 864,000 864,000
Note: The calculations of the basic loss per share for both years are based on fsx : MIEFENSIREREEDIEANARES
the loss attributable to owners of the Company using the number of ANEEEBRFNEFTROBEE -
shares in issue during the year.
No diluted loss per share is presented for both years as there were no HRIEEEERITEAR  SUEZ7)

potential ordinary shares in issue. ZMEEE o SR EE -
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

AR TSR M 5

For the year ended 31 March 2022 &= 202263 A31 HILFE

14. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 14. Y13 - MW RRE

Furniture
Plant and Office and Leasehold Motor
machinery  equipment fixtures improvements  vehicles Total

RAR HE

BRRRE EE#E VEEA RE I8 )
HK$'000 §' HKS'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HKS'000 HK$'000
E;E ,, BJL BJL %JE/;E BIL %saf’[

CosT R
At T April 2020 R2020E4R1H 440,201 3173 405 5859 14,645 2,040 466,323
Additions NE 23422 265 - 1,036 65 - 24,788
Transfer from inventories BFEER 2,782 = = = 2,189 = 4,971
Disposals huf (13,549) = = (54) (1432) (55 (15090)
Exchange realignment [ AR 1711 = 4 = = = 1715
At 31 March 2021 R2021E3A318 454,567 y 15,467 g 482,707
Additions ANE 63,453 2,599 66,269
Transfer from inventories BFEER 8,324 = 8,324
Disposals HE (33,427) (2,053) (35,482)
Exchange realignment B i A% 679 - 680
At 31 March 2022 R02E3A31H 493,596 y H ) J 522,498
DEPRECIATION AND RERAE

IMPAIRMENT
At T April 2020 R200F4818 208994 2424 312 5351 13,009 1,590 231,680
Provided for the year FERE 64,186 360 53 234 1,304 158 66,295
Impairment losses recognised 2 FME #RER

in profit or loss HEER 5363 - - - - - 5363
Eliminated on disposals HER T (8960) - - (12 (1398) (1) (10382
Exchange realignment B A% 282 = 2 = = = 284
At31 March 2021 R02163A31R 269,865 ) H ] : 293,240
Provided for the year ERTIRR 52,599 54,343
Reversal of impairment losses 2 A8z 2K

recognised in profitorloss — BEER (2,435) - (2,435)
Eliminated on disposal HERTH (14,930) (1,689) (16,620)
Exchange realignment A% 158 - 158
At31 March 2022 R2002%3A31 8 305,257 : 5 ) 1 328,686
CARRYING VALUES IREE
At31 March 2022 R0nE3A31A 188,339 ! 193,812
At 31 March 2021 R0 E3A318 184,702 654 Zy) 1,268 2552 249 189467
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AR TSR M 5t

For the year ended 31 March 2022 #ZE 2022F 3 A31 HILFE

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (Continued)

The above items of property, plant and equipment are depreciated
on a straight-line basis at the following rates per annum after taking
into account the residual values:

Plant and machinery 15% to 30%
Others 20%

The Group as lessor

The Group leases out plant and machinery under operating leases.
The leases typically run for an initial period of one month. None of
the leases includes variable lease payments. These machinery under
operating leases included within plant and machinery.

Impairment assessment

The management of the Group assessed and concluded if there was
indication for impairment by reference to the utilisation and income
generated from the plant and machinery in recent years, and
impairment assessment are conducted on recoverable amounts of
the plant and equipment with impairment indicator. The recoverable
amount of the plant and equipment are estimated individually.

The impairment amount has been recognised and such that the
carrying amount of each plant and machinery is not reduced below
the highest of its fair value less cost of disposal, its value in use and
zero. Value in use is based on the estimation on the future
profitability from leasing the assets, future utilisation and future lease
rates; and fair value less cost of disposal is based on the estimation
on resale values, with reference to the historical disposal values and
cost of disposal, or market transactions. The plant and equipment
was measured at fair value less cost of disposal categorised into level
2. Based on the fair value less cost of disposal, a reversal of
impairment losses of HK$2,435,000 (2021: impairment losses of
HK$5,363,000) has been recognised against the carrying amount of
plant and equipment. The reversal of impairment losses has been
recognised due to indication for impairment losses recognised in
prior years no longer exists or has decreased, and changes in the fair
value less cost of disposal determined with reference to the historical
disposal values and cost of disposal, or market transactions.

As at 31 March 2022, the Group’s accumulated impairment losses of
plant and machinery was HK$5,461,000 (2021: HK$7,896,000).

14.

M - MR RE ()
L% - R REERB G RRBREE
BABAEIL THIFRIFE

T3 K e, 15% & 30%
EAh 20%
AEEAHBA

AEBAREHET L EE LR -
HME-RVIRE—MEA FAEHREST
BEAEHEENK FHKLEHENKM
BT ARERS R A o

B
A REER BTG SR
H R RENERBREAEERA W
REBEDS - U ERET RO K
AR R AT U ] FEHETTRUE AT A M
R AT Bl & BB T IR (B B F A

BESHEOER  URZEMERENR
EEYEHREERNERAEREEKRE
HEMEBERT=ETNESE ERE

BEERBEEE - RREABRERERE
ERMARBFENEHGER  MARE
SR AT ERHEEEEMMBIED -
%%%ﬂ&ﬁﬁﬁﬁ&ﬁgﬁ$ 8T
R - BBRBEBERDEAE_ER
ﬁﬂﬁ@ﬂﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁg ERARER
HERANGTE  ERERERENREE
HE w2 (B /B9 48 1B [0 2,435,000 78 7T (2021 4F ¢
BB &8 5363,000/87T) ° BEEIEEEED
ERERTFEERANBEESEIRT
BEESBRAL M FHER  MAAERD
ERANEH N2 ERLHEBERME
KASKTIERZET °

202283 A31 8 @ N5 B A # 25 K A
2 51 R B E5 18 A 5,461,000 JT (2021 £F ¢
7,896,000 7T ) ©

DEAESERERAGE /2022 FEH




NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

AR TSR M 5

For the year ended 31 March 2022 #(Z 202243 31 HILFE

15. RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS 15. EAEEE

2022 2021
2022 2021 5
HK$'000 HK$'000
FE T FAT

Carrying amount AREE
— leased properties —HEWE 5,663

Depreciation charge heE®
— leased properties —HEWE 3,027
2022 2021
2022 2021 4
HK$'000 HKS$'000
TE T FHTT

Expense relating to short-term leases FASHEENRX

— in respect of rented premises — B@HERAEM 3,696
— in respect of machinery rentals — B A 1,519
Total cash outflow for leases HER SRR 8,780
Additions to right-of-use assets FEREEERNRNE 1,425

For both years, the Group leases warehouses for its operations. The
leases are fixed lease payments. Lease contracts are entered into for
fixed term of two to three years (2021: two to three years). Lease
term are negotiated on an individual basis and contain different
terms and conditions. In determining the lease term and assessing
the length of the non-cancellable period, the Group applies the
definition of a contract and determines the period for which the
contract is enforceable.

The Group regularly entered into short-term leases for rented
premises and machinery. As at 31 March 2022 and 2021, the portfolio
of short-term leases is similar to the portfolio of short-term leases to
which the short-term lease expense disclosed above.

RZMEFE  NEEREEERERE -
HEFTEREEHERE - HEAH HIRE
EME=ZFHQF: WE=ZF)FI °
AR TR BRI EERE R - BB T E R
KGR o BAEE TE A0 B B 5T A 71 BT S aE H R
WERRE  AEEEASAONTES  UE
FE AR HBITA RRVHARA -

65 [ TF HA BE TR PR AR AT R M AR BT 32 AT ER AR
H o R202F K2021F3 318 - 2HIA
EHAE FYEBENEREERIAED
EAFE A AL o
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

AR TSR M 5t

For the year ended 31 March 2022 &%= 202243 31 HItFE

16. DEPOSIT PLACED FOR A LIFE INSURANCE POLICY

16. SRERERFM

2022 2021
2022 F 2021 4F
HK$’000 HK$'000
F#&T T

SRREFK

Deposit placed for a life insurance policy

2,835

The Group entered into a life insurance policy (the “Policy”) with an
insurance company to insure a director of the Company. Under the
Policy, the beneficiary and policy holder is a subsidiary of the
Company and the total insured sum is US$1,000,000 (equivalent to
HK$775,000).

At inception of the Policy, the Group is required to make a single
upfront payment of US$332,000 (equivalent to HK$2,497,000) which
includes a fixed policy premium charge and a deposit. Monthly
policy expense and insurance charges will be incurred over the
insurance period with reference to the terms set out in the Policy.
The insurance company will pay the Group a guaranteed interest
rate of 4.2% for the first year and a variable return per annum
afterwards (with guaranteed minimum interest rate of 2%) during
the effective period of the Policy. The Group may request full
surrender of the Policy at any time and receive cash back based on
the value of the Policy at the date of withdrawal, which is
determined by the gross premium paid plus accumulated interest
earned and minus the policy expense and insurance premium
charge. If such withdrawal is made between the first to eighteenth
policy year, a pre-determined specified surrender charge will be
imposed on the Group.

The directors of the Company consider that the possibility of
terminating the Policy during the first eighteen years was low and
the expected life of the life insurance policy remains unchanged
since its initial recognition. The policy premium, expense and
insurance charges are recognised in profit or loss and any fair value
changes of the deposit placed is recognised in profit or loss.

AEE R ARG ASRIRE([RE]) -
BARNR—BEBHRR - BRIERE - 5
ARREHEANEBARAGKBAR - ML
& 1R 8 51,000,000 3 7T (48 5 72 775,000 7
JL) °

REMIRER  AEEASN—S2/BEN
7K 332,0003 7T (8% R 2,497,000/8 7T) © £
BEEERERTR - FARBEL KRR
FHEEBEHENRR BN BREMBIGHE
o RBRATIBRAAEEL N EFREFN
L42%  WRERBRRELRBRNTF L
A] BB (RIERBFEE2%) o RERA
BERER2BER  TREHESHERAB
HREEE(REMREABE MR EEF
BEUMBREASTRREFEEMET)H
ﬁé HRE—Z2F+\EREFEZM
BIR AEBEEMNETRRFES -

ARAEERB/RET/\BAREFEAR
IFREMATREME - MBRARENTRASE
BHEEREREERFTE - RE  FAX
RRBFEERERER  MAFERFR
MEM R EZB IR TR
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17.

18.

B M iSRRI

For the year ended 31 March 2022 &= 202263 A31 HILFE
INVENTORIES rE
2022 2021
2022 F 2021 4F
HK$'000 HK$'000
F#&xT FET
Equipment B 14,553 21,531
Spare parts T 7,755 9,141
TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES, DEPOSITS AND 18- gf’ RAMBRGE - B2 REN
PREPAYMENTS IH
2022 2021
2022 2021 6
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET T
Lease receivables from: R TIATHESE
— outsiders — 9N AL 43,501 43,906
— a related company — —fEIEEEE A A 212 212
Less: Allowance for expected credit losses 3 : TEAR(= B E B RS (12,838) (10,620)
30,875 33,498
Trade receivables from contracts REEFELR
with customers 2 Z W IR 3331
Less: Allowance for expected credit losses & : TEHA{E BB BE (179)
3,152
Other receivables E b e IR 98
Value added tax recoverable ] U [a] 3G (B F 1,260
Rental deposits paid ENEESES 650
Other deposits and prepayments Eige R HRIE 4,502
43,160
Analysed as: DA
Current bin 42,089
Non-current — prepayment and deposits ~ FE7E) — WBEW % -
paid for acquisition of property, e N SRR
plant and equipment ENEMRERIEZS 2,455 421
Non-current — rental deposits ERE —HEEE 650 650
40,068 43,160
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B MR T

For the year ended 31 March 2022 &%= 202243 31 HItFE

18. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES, DEPOSITS AND

PREPAYMENTS (Continued)

As at 1 April 2020, trade receivables from contracts with customers
amounted to HK$5,161,000.

The following is an aged analysis of lease receivables and trade
receivables, net of allowance for credit losses, presented based on
the invoice date at the end of the reporting period:

18.

BEZRHMERFE RERFEN
H‘AIE\*%‘

R2020F4 418 BEFEHNEEANESE
W FRI8 45,161,000 3 7T

UTARBREHRIZEZAH25 R
MEFRIBARE ZRKFIA(EHRERERE
B RRER AT

2022 2021
2022 2021 4
HK$’000 HK$'000
FEx THETT
Within 30 days 30BR 13,567
31 to 60 days 31HZ60H 12,295
61 to 90 days 61 HE 90 H 4,038
91 to 180 days 91HZE180H 6,222
Over 180 days HB3E 180 H 528
36,650
During both years, the normal credit term of the lease receivables is REMBEEE  FRUEEZENESEE
0 to 90 days upon invoice issued and the normal credit term of the AL BEREERZOZOH  ME 5 EKZ

trade receivables is 0 to 90 days upon invoice issued.

As at 31 March 2022, included in the Group's lease receivables and
trade receivables balances are debtors with aggregate carrying
amount of HK$25,632,000 (2021: HK$29,037,000) which were past
due at the end of the reporting period. Out of the past due balances
as at 31 March 2022, HK$6,494,000 (2021: HK$10,244,000) has been
past due 90 days or more and are not considered as in default as
debtors normally will settle the outstanding balances after 90 days
overdue with reference to the debtors settlement pattern. The
Group does not hold any collateral over these balances.

Details of impairment assessment of trade and other receivables are
set out in note 30.

HEMESEEHAHAZEZ%R0Z0AH -

R2022F3A318  AKEEKRBESERIE

RESREWRIBERBDIELAERERER
25,632,0007% 7T (2021 4F : 29,037,000/ 7T )
WEWKEER  ERREHREAH - R
20224 3 A 31 HE@HAK RS © 6,494,00078
70 (2021 4F 1 10,244,000/ 70) B #8HI 90 B ¢
INEBETERBELY  BEKER RS
frm o0 HE 2B EUIRRZHTIERNEE
REBES AEEVERZSERFTE
Eﬁﬁﬁ#ﬁuu °

BoHMEMEKE
MEE30©

IR AR E R AR B R
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 March 2022 &= 202263 A31 HILFE

19. BANK BALANCES AND CASH/PLEDGED BANK 19. RITEHRRAE SEARTEX
DEPOSIT
At 31 March 2022, bank balances carry interest at market rates of 202243 A31 8 ¢ RITHBRILT 5 FF
0.01%-0.35% per annum (2021: 0.01%-0.35% per annum). #001%-035%(2021 F : FEF|2£0.019%-0.35%)
FTE o
Details of impairment assessment of bank balances and pledged IRITAE R R B IR IR1T 17 SRR B T 55
bank deposit are set out in note 30. TEEFFIFE30
20. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES AND ACCRUED 20. EZRHMENRIERESER
CHARGES
2022 2021
2022 F 2021 4F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FHT
Trade payables = AN 3,302 2,980
Trade payables for acquisition of property, — UXEE¥IZE - ¥ N 2R HY
plant equipment (Note a) Z S EMFE (WiEa) 17,446 22,546
Accrued expenses (Note b) FEETF 2 (FiEED) 12,034 10,468
Other payables (Note c) H A R A FRIE (BT ) 2,057 2,193
34,839 38,187
Analysed as: DI
Current ED 31,158
Non-current FEMED
— trade payable to a shareholder — AR R —ZRER
of the Company B 5 5IA 7,029
34,839 38,187
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANEIAI_ STATEMENTS

B MR T

For the year ended 31 March 2022 #{Z= 20223 A31 HIEFE

20. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES AND ACCRUED
CHARGES (Continued)

Notes:

@)

(b)

As at 31 March 2022, included in trade payables is HK$7,029,000
payable to a shareholder of the Company (2021: HK$14,438,000
payable to a shareholder of the Company). Except for a trade payable
of HK$7,029,000 (2021: HK$14,438,000) carrying on an interest rate of
3.6% per annum and payable by 36 and 32 monthly instalments from
25 March 2020 and 25 June 2020 respectively, other trade payables
are under normal credit term granted by suppliers. The credit period
on trade payables is ranging from 0 to 180 days (2021: 0 to 180 days).

As at 31 March 2022, included in accrued expenses are mainly accrued
staff costs of HKS$7,760,000 (2021: HK$5,205,000).

As at 31 March 2022 and 2021, included in other payables are mainly
professional fee payable, insurance payable and other utility payable.

The following is an aged analysis of trade payables presented based
on the invoice date at the end of the reporting period:

I

RERESTER

J

ZREMEMNE
)

—~ \
i i

M‘Tu

MR202253A31H - BZENRIBRIERE
AR B — R PR R FKIE 7,029,00075 78 (2021
F : EAA R — BT AIFRIE 14,438,000
PBIT) o BR —EFF X B 36%I0 78 B 2020
35258 202096 A 25 B#E D B9 36
K 3218 A < 5 B 5 FE - 5/ I8 7,029,000 7
7T (2021 4F : 14,438,0007% 7T ) b » E i &
SEMFBEREENR TR —REEH
5k - BHENFENEEHNT0E 180
B (20214 : 0180 H) °

2

() R2002F3A3NH BT ERERE
&1 B TR ZR7,760,0007 7T(20214F ¢ 5,205,000
BT °

©  M202FK%20214F3A318 @ EMEAK
BXERRERNEXER  BNHRBRHE
e A HREEA o

TREHNE ZENFIRNHE RRILERA
HZ25|HBRER AT :

2022 2021
2022 4 2021 4

HK$’000 HK$'000

FTERT FET

Within 30 days 30BN 4,651
31 to 60 days 31E60H 1,298
61 to 90 days 61290 A 98
91 to 180 days 91 £ 180 H 3,597
Over 180 days HhiE 180 H 15,882
25,526
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For the year ended 31 March 2022 #(Z 202243 31 HILFE

21. CONTRACT LIABILITIES

BHEE

2022 2021
2022 F 2021 4F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHBxT FHET

Relating to sales of machinery and parts ER A N B E A0

10,583

As at 1 April 2020, contract liabilities amounted to HK$13,233,000.

The Group normally receives 10% to 40% of the contract value as
deposits from customers when it signs that sale and purchase
agreement. The deposits will be recognised as revenue when the
customer obtains control of the machinery and parts.

The following table shows how much of the revenue recognised
relates to carried-forward contract liabilities and how much relates to
performance obligation that were satisfied in prior periods.

R20205F4 18 & % & & A13,233,000
BT e

AEEBEREFPEEEHERRERK

BMAHNEBENI1I0%Z40%EERTSE > 515
lL'H RE P ERS B K T (4 1 722 1 42 B 1
RAWES -

TERETEERNRATZ I REHESH
BEMEBEEZ D EMHEEITHNENEE
el

2022 2021
2022 2021 F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHET FET
Balance at the beginning of the year FHIERTE 13,233
Decrease in contract liabilities as a result of B4 ARERUES (REMETA
recognising revenue during the year that AEHBEB)BEHAEY
were included in the contract liabilities BERLD
at the beginning of the year (13,233)
Increase in contract liabilities as a result E U ER AR N B EHE R
of receiving deposits in respect of sales BREeERE LA EEM
of machinery and parts 10,583
Balance at the end of the year FRERE 10,583
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For the year ended 31 March 2022 & 2022 %3 A31 BIEFE

22. BORROWINGS 22. B

2022 2021
2022 F 2021 4F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHBT FHT

Carrying amounts of borrowings that do not I 8 & /818 B8 FUE

contain a repayment on RZER T 5 EEE AR

demand clause and repayable: HIRRTEAE -

Within one year —FA -
More than one year but not ZR—F  BTZHRME

exceeding two years

Carrying amounts of borrowings that BERRERERIGTNER
contain a repayment on demand (RRBBEETEY])H
clause (shown under current liabilities) %EEE&EE%\T%E%%%WEE
and the maturity analysis based on the BRBHESIBHE TG

scheduled repayment dates set out
in the loan agreements are:

Within one year —FA 10,886 7,054
More than one year but not exceeding ZR—F  BRZRME
two years 6,621 2,576
More than two years but not exceeding ZHME - BAZRAFE
five years 6,123 -
23,630 9,630
27,695 9,630
Less: Amounts due within 12 months B RREABE T2
shown under current liabilities 1218 A W EIEFRIE (25,213) (9,630)
Non-current liabilities ERENEE 2,482 =
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For the year ended 31 March 2022 #(Z 202243 31 HILFE

22.

23.

BORROWINGS (Continued)

At 31 March 2022, included in Group's borrowings of HK$23,630,000
(2021: HK$9,630,000) are fixed-rate borrowings carry interest ranging
from 2.05% to 2.35% (2021: ranging from 2.05% to 3.61%) per
annum. The Group's variable-rate borrowing of HK$4,065,000 (2021:
Nil) carries interest at 3.2% per annum over one-month Hong Kong
Interbank Offered Rate (“HIBOR”) (2021: Nil). Interest is reset every
month.

The secured borrowings of HK$23,630,000 were secured by property,
plant and equipment, deposit placed for a life insurance policy and
pledged bank deposit as disclosed in note 33.

DEFERRED TAX ASSETS/LIABILITIES

For the purpose of presentation in the consolidated statement of
financial position, certain deferred tax assets and liabilities have been
offset. The following is the analysis of the deferred tax balances for
financial reporting purposes:

22,

23.

{ﬂ'/TA(Z""
R202F3 8318 AEBNERE B
23,630,000 7T (2021 4F : 9,630,000/ T ) K
B EFIEEZ - N T2.05% F 2.35% (2021
£ N F205%E361%) FER KR - ANE
E 1) 7 B8 304,065,000 7T (2021 4F + 4 )
TR F B & 320 h— 18 B &R 1T R ERF
BR([BERTAZEFRLE]) (20214 : M)
B FERTAEHRE °

B E 51 23,630,000 78 7T ABT 5 33 AT 5
P - R RE  EREBFRIAR
BB R T SRR -

FEEREEE &8F8
BRGREMBRARNESmE @ &TE
EHEEERBECHEE - LT AR
BwET S WIELET IHAEOT -

2022 2021

2022 F 2021 &

HK$’000 HKS$'000

THET T
Deferred tax assets FEEFRIBEE (138)
Deferred tax liabilities EEIBEE 24,845
24,707
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For the year ended 31 March 2022 & 2022 %3 A31 BIEFE

23. DEFERRED TAX ASSETS/LIABILITIES (Continued)
The following are the major deferred tax liabilities (assets) recognised
by the Group and movements thereon during both years:

Accelerated

tax
depreciation Tax

23. EEMEBELEE BE@)

losses

MEREAE  BUEEH
HK$'000 HK$'000
F7 FA7

At 1 April 2020 M®202054R1RH 29,764
(Credit) charge to GTABR) BER

profit or loss MR (5,046)
At 31 March 2021 R2021 4638318 24,718
Charge (credit) to BRIk

profit or loss (GtABR) 670

At 31 March 2022 R2022%3 8318 25,388

At the end of the reporting period, the Group has unused tax losses
of HK$18,596,000 (2021: HK$9,637,000) available for offset against
future profits. A deferred tax asset has been recognised in respect of
HK$7,452,000 (2021: Nil) of such losses. No deferred tax asset has
been recognised in respect of the remaining HK$11,144,000 (2021:
HK$9,637,000) due to the unpredictability of future profit streams.
Included in unrecognised tax losses are losses of HK$2,832,000 (2021:
HK$2,613,000) that will expire by 5 years from the date of originating.
Other tax losses may be carried forward indefinitely.

(4121)

4121

(1,230)

(1,230)

AT RAEERMEFEAERNEEE

ECL Fair value
provision  adjustments Total
BAEE
BREA #st
HKS$'000 | HK$'000
T BT T

(806) 941 25778

246 (392) (1,071)

24,707

(960)

23,747

RBEHAR A"EEBBERDHANIBEIE
18,596,000/ JT. (2021 4F : 9,637,000/ 7T ) AJ 4
IR IOEH A - W B BEEZFE5 I8 7,452,000
BT (20214 : ) RBELEHRIBEE -
RESEFBR RN SR - A ER AT B
11,144,000 7 7T (2021 £ 1 9,637,000/ 7T ) T
RIEFET H & E ° 2,832,0007% 7T (2021 F ¢
2,613,0007%8 7T ) BB 1B B IR E R HER B B IE
B8 - REEZ BB S FANEIHE o HAF
TE [ 18 ] MR A4t S -
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 March 2022 #(Z 202243 31 HILFE

24. LOANS FROM A RELATED COMPANY 24. RE—EBEBATZEN
The related company is a subsidiary of a shareholder. AR A—BRRN—HEMEB A
As at 31 March 2022, loans from a related company are unsecured 202634318 - ke —HEKQ A8
and interest-free. Included in the carrying amounts is US$360,000, ERREEALEE - REED REAR
equivalent to approximately HK$2.8 million repayable on demand ZRIEER 360000k T (HHERKI28B &
(2021: US$348,684, equivalent to approximately HK$2.7 million and 5 7T) (2021 4F © 348684 E L (M E N4 27
US$38,760, equivalent to approximately HK$0.3 million are repayable BEBIT) &38760% T (MHERK03EE
in October 2021 and August 2021 respectively). L) 2 RIRA2021810 A M 202148 BB ) °
The related company has common directors with the Company. ZABMAREANE R LRESE -
25. LEASE LIABILITIES 25. HE&E
2022 2021
2022 F 2021
HK$'000 HK$'000
FE T FAT
Lease liabilities payable: ENHEERRE :
Within one year —FR 3,525
More than one year but not exceeding ~ ZR—4F » BAZAME
two years 1,874
5,399
Less: Amount due for settlement within 35 : 12 & B A B B 45 & ) 7118
12 months shown under (RRBEETFIR)
current liabilities (3,525)
Amount due for settlement after 128 A& B i E M 308
12 months shown under (RIERBABETHIR)
non-current liabilities 1,874
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AR TSR M 5t

For the year ended 31 March 2022 #ZE 2022F 3 A31 HILFE

26. ISSUED CAPITAL

26. CERITRA

Number of Share
shares capital
RO E [} %N
HK$'000
FHET
Ordinary shares of HK$0.001 each BREE0.001 BTH LR
Authorised: VERE ¢
At 1 April 2020, 31 March 2021 and M2020F4 418 -
31 March 2022 20213 A31B K
202293 A31H 10,000,000,000 10,000
Issued: B 217 :
At 1 April 2020, 31 March 2021 and R2020F4 818
31 March 2022 20213318 K
20223 A31H 864,000,000 864
27. SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS 27. URGAEFRNTR

The Group has adopted the share option scheme (the “Share
Option Scheme’) pursuant to a resolution in writing passed by all
the shareholders in the extraordinary general meeting on 17 March
2016. The Share Option Scheme is a share incentive scheme and is
established to recognise and acknowledge the contributions that
eligible participants had made or may make to the Group.

Under the Share Option Scheme, the board of directors (“the
Board"’) may at its discretion grant options to eligible participants,
including: (i) any director, employee, consultant, professional,
customer, supplier, agent, partner or adviser of or contractor to the
Group or a company in which the Group holds an interest or a
subsidiary of such company (“Affiliate”); or (i) the trustee of any
trust the beneficiary of which or any discretionary trust the
discretionary objects of which include any director, employee,
consultant, professional, customer, supplier, agent, partner or adviser
of or contractor to the Group or an Affiliate; or (iii) a company
beneficially owned by any director, employee, consultant,
professional, customer, supplier, agent, partner, adviser of or
contractor to the Group or an Affiliate.

REBBERBEMBRENR2016F3H 178
MRS FRBEMRERENE
Rt Sl (R RESTEl)) - B E A
B SRENET &l - RSk A Bl S 5 T I B
HEcReeHASEELEBNEGE
BBEE o

ﬁﬁ““ﬁﬁﬁﬁié%iw Exg((E8)UK

ERAER2EERDBERE 2450
AEBEMES B EHA §¥A
T BF #ER K2 ABAXRER
HABRHRAEERAEEN AR RNZR
AR B AR ((BEBALL) @ i) AKXE
BEMES - -EE #F@A EXAL
BE - HER - I &R A SRR SR
BRENEE AL AR E ANEAEFERIA
PRI REEXEANEAEEETEDN
EFEA HAREEMNES  BE - &
AABEAL TP fiER KB
BRA BRIACBIBBALTERE
BHAE
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27.

SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS (Continued)

The exercise price for any share under the Share Option Scheme
shall be a price determined by the Board and notified to each
grantee and shall be not less than the highest of (i) the closing price
of the Company's share as stated in the Stock Exchange'’s daily
quotations sheet on the date of grant of the relevant option, which
must be a business day, (i) an amount equivalent to the average
closing price of the Company’s share as stated in the Stock
Exchange’s daily quotation sheets for the five business days
immediately preceding the date of grant of the relevant option and
(iii) the nominal value of the Company's share on the date of grant.
The exercise price shall also be subject to certain adjustments.

Subject to certain restrictions contained in the Share Option Scheme,
an option may be exercised in accordance with the terms of the
Share Option Scheme and the terms of grant thereof at any time
during the applicable option period, which is not more than ten
years from the date of grant of option.

Under the Share Option Scheme, there is no general requirement on
the minimum period for which an option must be held or the
performance targets which must be achieved before an option can
be exercised under the terms of the Share Option Scheme. However,
at the time of granting any option, the Board may, on a case by case
basis, make such grant subject to such conditions, restrictions or
limitations including (without limitation) those in relation to the
minimum period of the options to be held and/or the performance
targets to be achieved as the Board may determine in its absolute
discretion.

From the date of the adoption of the Share Option Scheme and up
to 31 March 2022, no share option has been granted or agreed to be
granted under the Share Option Scheme.

27. URHBABEBRNSR @)

BT E B TEMRDMOITEESRE
EEEFNBAESEARA @ EZBBRTE
BERATEBENESE  \VREEBEE
REAM(ZAVEREHA) EHMIME
ARERMBARTROKTE : ()BF
REEELEHERER AN AELEEA
B Z T A MERATARQ ARG F
WMENSE  ki)AARBRORIZL B
BAREE © TTEENEEHE THE -

REBRAERT 8IS E TIRHRRT - ATR
PiriE A B AR AR (BB IR BB A A
HERT 1) BER RIBE B BIIGR R B
B L B A Y (R T TR RB A

BIEERETE  YEEEERSAERE
B fx 52 AR sk A AR AR BB AR A 5 B MV IR AT
FRERRERTRE BRI RIA B IZM — AR E ©
AT+ BB G A AR 1A AR A A 4 (R
RIERE L B REERE - AT ARG
% REIZHRR (B (ETRR) ZEHE

EenrERNBEECARABRENS
R R RAERNRIE B IZREE) o

BRI ST 21 ER 40 B HA#E = 2022 5F 3 A 31
AiE WEREBEREFISREKEER
oH B AR AEE o
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For the year ended 31 March 2022 & 2022 %3 A31 BIEFE

28. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF THE
COMPANY AND RESERVES OF THE COMPANY

28. ADQBBMBEMRRRARQTFE

2022 2021
2022 F 2021 4
HK$’000 HKS$'000
THET FHET

Non-current Assets FREBEE
Investments in subsidiaries RETBRRMIEE 138,135 138,135
Loans to a subsidiary BERT—HEHBAR 40,243 52,321
Amounts due from subsidiaries FEU T B A B 5N IE 24,677 23,481
203,055 213,937

Current Assets REBEE
Prepayments TarT IR 224 210
Amounts due from subsidiaries FEU T BB A R TR IE 20,196 19,272
Loans to a subsidiary EXTF—RMHB AR 12,078 11,539
Bank balances and cash SRITERNIES 11,847 4200
44,345 35,221
Current Liability REBBE

Other payables and accrued charges Hih eI R EFE A 1,961 2,016
Net Current Assets REBEEEE 42,384 33,205
Net Assets EEZE 245,439 247,142

Capital and Reserves ERR HE
Issued capital BEITIRA 864 864
Reserves EE 244,575 246,278
Total Equity MR 245,439 247,142
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28. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF THE 28, RXRAMBMRRAKRRAERAFARE
COMPANY AND RESERVES OF THE COMPANY (%)
(Continued)
The followings are the movements of the Company's reserves for TREIMEFEARTNFEEES
both years:
Share Retained
premium profits Total
B3R E RE &R st
HK$'000 HKS'000 HK$'000
FH&T FHT FAT
At1 April 2020 20204 A1 H 232,345 9,167 241,512
Profit and total comprehensive  ZREE % F & 2 E I ES
income for the year R = 4,766 4,766
At 31 March 2021 R2021F3 A31H 232,345 13,933 246,278
Loss and total comprehensive AEEEEAEERY
expense for the year k) = (1,703) (1,703)
At 31 March 2022 M20229F3 A31H 232,345 12,230 244,575
CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT 29. EXERERE

29.

The Group manages its capital to ensure that entities in the Group
will be able to continue as a going concern while maximising the
return to shareholders through the optimisation of the debt and
equity balance. The Group's overall strategy remains unchanged
throughout the year.

The capital structure of the Group consists of net debts, which
include borrowings, loans from a related company, lease liabilities
and cash and cash equivalents and equity attributable to owners of
the Company, comprising issued capital and reserves.

The directors of the Company review the capital structure
periodically. As part of this review, the directors consider the cost of
capital and the risks associated with each class of capital. The
management uses short-term funding to finance its daily operation
to minimise finance costs. Based on recommendations of the
directors, the Group will balance its overall capital structure through
the payment of dividends and new share issues or repayment of
existing debt.

AEEEREEAAERAAEENE R
B EEE - R BB AR RER
Btk BRRFREALE - F7 - A%
BB BEE— AR TE -

AEENEARBERREERFR BT E
EES - RE—RBEBARZER HE
BfE RRASMASZFEMWUARLRRGE
BAELER (BEEBETRARER)

ARBERTERRITERRRE - FRLLR

AR —#D EFEEEAKAREEE

BEAEBENRR EREREREHESRE

NHEAFESL  UKAKEEBFERENK

Ao RBEEFH  AREHBEBNTK
ERBETHBROIEERGEH FEEE
BENRE -
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30. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

a.

30. €T H

Categories of financial instruments a. S@MIAEH
2022 2021
2022 F 2021 4
HK$'000 HK$'000
FTHERT FHET
Financial assets SREE
FVTPL BBBEREAENER 2,835
Amortised cost BIERCR 86,951
Financial liabilities c@masE
Amortised cost BEEHACAR 40,381
Financial risk management objectives and policies b. SREAMREEBERBEK

The major financial instruments of the Group include deposit
placed for a life insurance policy, trade and other receivables,
lease receivables, pledged bank deposit, bank balances and
cash, trade and other payables, borrowings, loans from a
related company and lease liabilities. The risks associated with
these financial instruments include market risk (currency risk
and interest rate risk), credit risk and liquidity risk. The policies
on how to mitigate these risks are set out below. The
management manages and monitors these exposures to
ensure appropriate measures are implemented on a timely
and effective manner.

Market risk

Currency risk

Certain transactions of the Group are denominated in
currencies which are different from the functional currencies
of the relevant group entities and therefore the Group is
exposed to foreign currency risk. The Group currently does not
have a foreign currency hedging policy. However, the
management monitors foreign exchange exposure and will
consider hedging significant foreign currency exposure if
necessary.

AEBMNFEZESHTARESRIRE
T B REMEWKEIE - ERIE
E51E  BEEHRITER - RITER
&fﬁﬁ B 5 &AM ERFKRIE - &
CRE BB AR ERRIEE
Efﬁ B ESaTAERNERE
E 5 R (B8R R R R
EEERBRERBESRER - BN
BRI SRR BEREN T X - BE
[BERRERILERR - ARRKE
MAERETHEE R

™5 AR
B =
REEETRXSARBEEERENY
BEEBLIMERHE - Rt A%KE
EERNE R o AR E B AT ESNE
EHHMBOR - AT BIEEERIMNER
B WA AR EREEE R EAIN
B o
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30. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

b.

Financial risk management objectives and policies
(Continued)

Market risk (Continued)

Currency risk (Continued)

The carrying amounts of the foreign currency denominated
monetary assets and monetary liabilities of the respective
group entities at the end of the reporting period are as follows:

30. €@t
b.

TAE@®E
THEREEREREE@E)
i EkE ()

B (8)

BEEEBERBNREPRASNETHER
EREENERABREENT

Assets Liabilities
8E &

2022 2021 2022 2021

2022 F 2021 4F 20224 2021 4F

HK$'000 HKS$'000 HK$’000 HKS$'000

THET TET THERT THET

Japanese Yen (“JPY”) HE(EBEA]D 2,654 3,803

United States dollars ("US$") ESUE S A)) 2,945 7,861

Euro (‘EUR’) BT (&) 233 149

Singapore dollars ("SG$") FronsgoT ([#g e |) 1,361 613
Sensitivity analysis BRRE DT

The following table details the sensitivity of the Group to a 5%
increase and decrease in foreign currencies against the
relevant functional currencies of the respective group entities.
5% is the sensitivity rate used when reporting foreign currency
risk internally to key management personnel and represents
management’s assessment of the possible change in foreign
exchange rates. The sensitivity analysis includes only
outstanding foreign currency denominated monetary items
and adjusts their translation at the end of the reporting period
for a 5% change in foreign currency rates. A positive number
below indicates a decrease in post-tax loss where the relevant
currencies strengthen 5% against relevant functional
currencies of the respective group entities. For a 5%
weakening of the relevant currencies against the relevant
functional currencies of the respective group entities, there
would be an equal and opposite impact on the post-tax loss.

TERFVNAKEHEREERINES
BRI S HE R LT & T & 5%H)
HRE - SHRABRAETEEEEA
B & SN B B BT R O SRR L
X RRETEEHE XA LB AT
flr - UREDITEBFENIREHRIA
REEINEFHENERIAR - WIAE
REESWIFELAE - TXHIER
BRERER LB THER LT 5%
HIBIREIREE - HERMEB LSS
EERNEMANEERNERTR
5% BHREEBBREFEER
MFE -

AP Rentals Holdings Limited / Annual Report 2022




NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

nﬂi

B M SR

For the year ended 31 March 2022 &%= 202243 31 HItFE

30. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

b.

Financial risk management objectives and policies
(Continued)

Market risk (Continued)

Currency risk (Continued)

Sensitivity analysis (Continued)

30.

JPY against HK$ HE X BT
EUR against HK$ BT H AT
SG$ against HKS g T H AT

EMITE )
cREREEEERBEKR(E)
TS EE ()

Ermb ()
BRE DT (48)
2022 2021
2022 F 2021
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET T
(57)
4
37

For the monetary assets and liabilities denominated in USS,
since HKS is currently pegged to USS, the management
considers that the exchange rate fluctuation is not significant.
Accordingly, no foreign currency sensitivity analysis is
disclosed in the consolidated financial statements in respect
of the USS.

Interest rate risk

The Group is exposed to fair value interest rate risk in relation
to pledged bank deposit, fixed rate trade payables,
borrowings, loans from a related company and lease liabilities.
The Group is also exposed to cash flow interest rate risk in
relation to variable-rate bank balances (see note 19 for details)
and variable-rate bank borrowings (see note 22 for details).
The Group cash flow interest rate risk is mainly concentrated
on the fluctuation of interest rates on bank balances and
HIBOR arising from the Group’s Hong Kong dollar
denominated borrowings. The management will take
appropriate measures to manage interest rate exposure if
interest rate fluctuates significantly. The management
considers the fair value interest rate risk to the Group is
insignificant.

The Group has not entered into any interest rate hedging
contracts or any other interest rate related derivative financial
instruments. However, management monitors the Group's
related interest rate exposure closely and will consider
hedging significant interest rate exposure when the need
arises.

BUAETHENEEEERAGM
= BRBICEATERE T - B

BRABERESHIWAEA - Hi I &
ETTRERA M SRR PR EINE &
RRE DT

T E R iz
RN ERAERBEIPIRITER
ENEREHRENFIA - B KB —
MM AR c ERREEABEEBHN
RAEN KRR - REBE TRARIE R
FERITE R (FE R M E19) &%
SRITER(FE R E22) @6
imuﬂ$ﬂ[§ ﬁ%@fﬁﬁﬁﬂi
bk EEPRNRITAMRIR RAE
@LL%?EEHEE’]F%’(%EEE’J%;%%E
TRZEF S XK o i F X KEK
B EEERRIVEE BT RN
Ff - ERERR/AEENDAET
EREBILTEK °

ZRE BN AT AR R E & K93k
EAEMENEAENITESRT

B A ERBEEAEENENA
MRR - AR ERRREBEIHNE
ARHME @R
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30. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

b.

Financial risk management objectives and policies
(Continued)

Market risk (Continued)

Interest rate risk (Continued)

A fundamental reform of major interest rate benchmarks is
being undertaken globally, including the replacement of some
interbank offered rates (“IBORs") with alternative nearly risk-
free rates. Details of the interest rate benchmark reform are set
out under “interest rate benchmark reform” in this note.

Sensitivity analysis

Sensitivity analysis on variable-rate borrowings, deposit placed
for a life insurance policy and bank balances is not presented
as the management of the Group considers that the Group's
exposure to interest rate fluctuation is insignificant.

In management’s opinion, the sensitivity analysis is
unrepresentative of the interest rate risk inherent in the
financial assets and financial liabilities as the year end exposure
does not reflect the exposure during the year.

Credit risk and impairment assessment

Credit risk refers to the risk that the Group's counterparties
default on their contractual obligations resulting in financial
losses to the Group. The Group’s credit risk exposures are
primarily attributable to deposit placed for a life insurance
policy, trade and other receivables, lease receivables, pledged
bank deposit and bank balances. The Group does not hold any
collateral or other credit enhancements to cover its credit risks
associated with its financial assets.

30. SRTE )

b.

SHEREERERKE (&)
FBER ()
Pl mms ()

RIRIEAH T ENREEEITIRAR
- BRENATERROE AN EE
RETRITAZEFE X ([RITRESR
SK|) o FIEAEERFZNFBFHNRAE
BIGE [FREERE| 2T -

BREDIT
HRAEEERER RN EEHON X
RBERMARE - REE2TIH
BAREFRLRITERNOBERED
il

EERERE  BRESTALARENRE
ﬁﬁﬂﬁﬁ&@ﬁﬂﬁ%ﬂ’]ﬁﬂﬁﬂzﬂ

Sk N o= i NE s S R
WE’\JH&E

Fﬁﬁﬁ&ﬁﬁﬂfﬁ
EERABREARENIZHTFRELN
B LEOMERAEETBEIRN

R - AEENEERBRAELIEHR
REBRRERZRNEFR - BHREAM
JEHSZ KIE - EWARERR - EHEIRR
TERRIRITHEER - AEERFEE

ﬁ?ﬁﬁ?ﬁuu HEMBEAREEGRE
BMEENEERR -
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30. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

b.

Financial risk management objectives and policies
(Continued)

Credit risk and impairment assessment (Continued)

Trade receivables arising from contracts with customers and lease
receivables

In order to minimise the credit risk, the management of the
Group has delegated a team responsible for determination of
credit limits and credit approvals. Before accepting any new
customer, the Group uses an internal credit grading system to
assess the potential customer's credit quality and defines
credit limits by customer. Limits and grading attributed to
customers are reviewed each year. Other monitoring
procedures are in place to ensure that follow-up action is
taken to recover overdue debts. In addition, the management
of the Group estimates the credit-impaired amount of lifetime
ECL of lease receivables and trade receivables based on
individual assessment whereas the remaining balance are
assessed by grouping of various debtors that have similar risk
exposure, after considering internal credit ratings of lease
receivables and trade receivables, ageing, repayment history
and/or past due status and forward-looking information of
respective lease receivables and trade receivables that is
reasonable and supportable available without undue costs or
effort. Estimated losses are based on historical observed
default rates over the expected life of the lease receivables
and trade receivables and are adjusted for forward-looking
information. In this regard, the directors of the Company
consider that the Group's credit risk is significantly reduced.

30. €@ T HE (&)

b.

THEREEREREEE)

FERBRRRERE(E)
KEEFEXE SN EREN
HEFE

AEEREEERR  AEEEERE
EXREKAEEEEEREREE
E4t o EERANEAFESA - AEH
ERABEENYHEHGEESS
MEEEEYREXFPHNEERE -
EFELEREMSDBFHEEMN -
HALBSAEIZF IRE HI5E - ARELRBRER
BAETSHREAHRER - I - KK
BEEEREHEEHRERARES
FEWR IR T TR B BIRF S - (AEHE
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 March 2022 # % 2022F 3 A31 HILFE

30. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

b.

Financial risk management objectives and policies
(Continued)

Credit risk and impairment assessment (Continued)
Rental deposits and other receivables

For rental deposits and other receivables, the directors of the
Company make periodic individual assessment on the
recoverability of other receivables based on historical
settlement records, past experience, and also quantitative and
qualitative information that is reasonable and supportive
forward-looking information. The directors of the Company
believe that there are no significant increase in credit risk of
these amounts since initial recognition and the Group
provided impairment based on 12m ECL. For the year ended
31 March 2022 and 2021, the Group assessed the ECL for other
receivables and rental deposits were insignificant and thus no
loss allowance was recognised.

Deposit placed for a life insurance policy, pledged bank deposit
and bank balances

The credit risk on liquid funds are limited because the
counterparties are banks and an insurance company with high
credit-ratings assigned by international credit-rating agencies.
The Group assessed 12m ECL for deposit placed for a life
insurance policy, pledged bank deposit and bank balances by
reference to information relating to probability of default and
loss given default of the respective credit rating grades
published by external credit rating agencies. Based on the
average loss rates, the 12m ECL on pledged bank deposit,
deposit placed for a life insurance policy and bank balances
are considered to be insignificant.

The Group has concentration of credit risk on liquid funds
which are deposited with several banks with high credit
ratings.

The Group's concentration of credit risk by geographical
locations is mainly in Hong Kong, which accounted for 93%
(2021: 94%) of the lease receivables and trade receivables as at
31 March 2022.

The Group has concentration of credit risk as 10% (2021: 18%)
and 31% (2021: 39%) of the lease receivables and trade
receivables was due from the Group’s largest customer and
the five largest customers respectively within the industry of
the property and infrastructure construction.

30. €@ T HE(®)

b.

cREREEEERBEKR(E)
EERE KRBT (E)
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AR TSR M 5t

For the year ended 31 March 2022 #ZE 2022F 3 A31 HILFE

30. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

b. Financial risk management objectives and policies
(Continued)
Credit risk and impairment assessment (Continued)
Deposit placed for a life insurance policy, pledged bank deposit
and bank balances (Continued)
The Group's internal credit risk grading assessment comprises
the following categories:

30. €@ T HE (&)
b.

TREMEERBRRBE(E

FERBRRRERE(E)
BRIREFH - CEARTIFEHRR
7T/ ts (B)
AEBER A EERBRTRETOF
HEIEATER

Internal credit Trade receivables/
grading Description lease receivables Other financial assets
g RKRE
REEEFR AE P EE R HitemEE
Low risk The counterparty has a low risk of default and Lifetime ECL — 12m ECL
usually settles after due date not credit-impaired
v HEBHRRE  BRERIEHARER PHEHEEESE — NEREHEEEE
WEREERE
Doubtful There have been significant increases in credit risk  Lifetime ECL — Lifetime ECL —
since initial recognition through information not credit-impaired not credit-impaired
developed internally or external resources
KR BEABIMPRRELANER - BULBER  2HEREEEFE — 2HRBEEEE—
PO NEE IR WEREERE VEEERE
Loss There is evidence indicating the asset is credit- Lifetime ECL — Lifetime ECL —
impaired credit-impaired credit-impaired
B BRBETEECREERNE FHEHEEEE — 2HRBEEEE—
EERE EERE
Write-off There is evidence indicating that the debtor is in Amount is written off  Amount is written off
severe financial difficulty and the Group has no
realistic prospect of recovery
s ﬁ SBRESAEBARRRENBINE A%  £EEME SR M

EERARE RN HE
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

AR TSR M 5

For the year ended 31 March 2022 # % 2022F 3 A31 HILFE

30. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)
b. Financial risk management objectives and policies
(Continued)
Credit risk and impairment assessment (Continued)
The table below details the credit risk exposures of the Group’s
financial assets under the Group’s assessment, which are
subject to ECL assessment:

External Internal
credit rating credit rating

MPEEFR  RBEETR

Financial assets at FVTPL

BRREEANEBIRNEMER

Deposit placed for a life insurance policy

SREERER

Financial assets at amortised cost

30. E@MITAE @)
b. L2REMEEEEREEAE)

FE R ERE ()
TRALHAREFENAEE R
EERERBAR(XBHEEER
AHERR) -

12m or lifetime ECL Gross carrying amount
REARGEEHRNZH
RHEEER REAE
HK$'000  HK$'000
TAR TER

RBFERFTIENEREE
Trade receivables — sales of
machinery and parts (Note) Lifetime ECL (not credit-impaired)

BHEWHIE — R T HHE j (B E) 2HASBEEER (YEFERHE)
Loss Credit-impaired
iF | EEHE

Lease receivables (Note) Lifetime ECL (not credit-impaired)

YRS I8 i (Bt E) 2HABFEER (YEFEHE)
Loss Credit-impaired
BER EEHE

Rental deposits N/A Low risk 12m ECL

ke TER &R 2B RREEESR

Other receivables N/A Low risk 12m ECL

Hih fE0R TER EE R 1218 A AHEEEE

Pledge bank deposit Aa2 N/A 12m ECL

BERRITER Aa2 TEA N2EAEHEERA

Bank balances A2 or above N/A 12m ECL

RITHER A2 M ~ER 12EARREEER
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

B M SR

mﬂi
For the year ended 31 March 2022 #ZE 2022F 3 A31 HILFE
30. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued) 30. EIT AR %)
b. Financial risk management objectives and policies b. £HMEMBEEBEERBEEK(E)
(Continued)
Credit risk and impairment assessment (Continued) EEREKRETE(E)
External Internal
2021 Notes  credit rating credit rating 12m or lifetime ECL Gross carrying amount
‘ RERBHEESES2H
2001 fis AMBEETR ANEETR EHEEER FEEE
HK$'000 HK$'000
FAT T
Financial assets at FVTPL
BRBRRAABIRNEREE
Deposit placed for a life insurance policy 16 Aa2 N/A N/A 2835 2,835
SRREER Aa2 T TEA
Financial assets at amortised cost
RBERASIRNEREE
Trade receivables — sales of
machinery and parts 18 N/A (Note) Lifetime ECL (not credit- impaired) 3,245
BIRWHIE — B R T HE @R (FzE) 2 HEBEEEE (T REERE)
Loss Credit-impaired 86 3331
B8 EERE
Lease receivables 18 N/A (Note) Lifetime ECL (not credit-impaired) 36,138
e E500R NER i) 2 HEBEEER (T EEERE)
Loss Credit-impaired 7,980 44118
B EERE
Rental deposits 18 N/A Low risk 12m ECL 650 650
ik disa TER KRR REAESREEER
Other receivables 18 N/A Low risk 12m ECL 98 98
Hith IR TER Vel REAESBEEER
Pledge bank deposit 19 Aa2 N/A 12m ECL 360 360
EHERBRITER Aa2 EA REAEREEER
Bank balances 19 A2 or above N/A 12m ECL 38,334 38,334
RITEER A2 E @A REABHEEER
Note: MsE -
For lease receivables and trade receivables, the Group has HESEWSIAENS  AEEDERESE

applied the simplified approach in HKFRS 9 to measure the loss
allowance at lifetime ECL. Except for debtors that are assessed
individually, the Group determines the ECL on these items by
grouping these items by similar risk exposure, after considering
ageing, repayment history, and/or past due status.

The following table provides information about the exposure
to credit risk for lease receivables and trade receivables which
are assessed based on the collective assessment as at 31 March
2022 by lifetime ECL (not credit-impaired). Debtors with gross
carrying HK$9,478,000 (2021: HK$8,066,000) respectively as at

31 March 2022 were assessed individually.

IR E LR F ORI T AU E
REMEREREBNEIBRE - BRER
HEEVEBA - AEEEBREE BRE
BRERSm i - B AFRLE
bk DETDMA - AEES BEE RS
EEER -

Ti%?m@i\ﬁBﬁﬁéuﬁﬂ%wﬁ&%%m&%ﬂ
BEREERBRKONEE - BRESER
202293 F31H E’]%Hﬁﬁﬁﬂﬁgéﬂ,ﬁ(i’z
EEERE)ETEETE - R202F3
A318 - BRE%E 5 5l 494780007 T
(2021 4F : 8,066,000 745 7T ) K JiE U7 BR X (]
BIFFME -
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

AR TSR M 5

For the year ended 31 March 2022 &= 202263 A31 HILFE

30. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued) 30. @RITAE®
b. Financial risk management objectives and policies b. £HMEMBEEBEERBEK(E)
(Continued)
Credit risk and impairment assessment (Continued) EERRRFEEFME(E)
Gross carrying amount for balances PREREYAREIAE R

Trade
receivables
from sales of
Average machinery Lease
Internal credit grading loss rate and parts receivables

AR

SHEEN
FHEER BEEZERWHRE BREERE R
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TET TET TET

2022
2022 F
Low risk
1K =B
Doubtful
RER

2021
20214

Low risk 7% 3,245 14,964 18,209
1B R B

Doubtful 7% = 21,174 21,174
RER

3,245 36,138 39,383
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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B M SR

For the year ended 31 March 2022 &% 202243 A 31 B IEFE

30. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

b.

Financial risk management objectives and policies
(Continued)

Credit risk and impairment assessment (Continued)

Gross carrying amount for balances (Continued)

The estimated loss rates are estimated based on historical
observed default rates over the expected life of the debtors
and are adjusted for forward-looking information that is
available without undue cost or effort. The grouping is
regularly reviewed by management to ensure relevant
information about specific debtors is updated.

The following table shows the movement in lifetime ECL that
has been recognised for lease receivables and trade
receivables under the simplified approach.

30. SRITE %)

b.

TREMEERBRRBE(E

FERBRRRERE(E)

ERER AR EI AR AR (BB
EETBRXREBEERIMNEHX
R YR KA TRET F BT - AR
ﬂ%ﬁﬁiﬂ;%ﬁﬁi%ﬁ]ﬁﬂ"ﬂ% 9]
AIEMEEREITRE - DABREE
BB HiReT - AMERA B E I
R ER AR E#

TR BB AR OB 5
HOBIRIER(L AN 2 BRI
BEBEE -

At 1 April 2020

Transfer to credit-impaired
Impairment losses recognised
Impairment losses reversed
New financial assets originated

R2020F4 A1 H
EEZEERE
BERREEE
B ERESE
MECREE

At 31 March 2021

Transfer to credit-impaired
Impairment losses recognised
Impairment losses reversed
New financial assets originated

M20213 A31H
EREEEERE
BHERREERE
B EREEE
NEeREE

At 31 March 2022

20223 A31H8

Lifetime ECL
(not credit-
impaired)
ZHIFEH
FEEER

(AEREE
RAE)
HK$'000
T

Lifetime ECL
(credit-
impaired)

2HREBEE
BE(EE
)

HK$'000
TET

#et
HK$'000
TAT

5017 7,298 12,315
(2,702) 2,702 =
295 = 295
(1,357) (2,038) (3,395)
1,480 104 1,584

2,733
(155)
872

(1,100)
1,226

3,576

10,799

872
(1,831)
3,214

13,054
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

AR TSR M 5

For the year ended 31 March 2022 &= 202263 A31 HILFE

30. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued) 30. @RITAE®
b. Financial risk management objectives and policies b. £HEMREEBRBERBEKE)
(Continued)
Credit risk and impairment assessment (Continued) EERRRFEEFME(E)
Changes in the loss allowance for trade receivables and lease B 5 e WO I R Y B RO S R
receivables are mainly due to: HEBHEZEHRR :

Increase (decrease)
in lifetime ECL

2 HFEHEEEEIEMORL)
Not credit- Credit-
impaired impaired
I 45 ERE EERE
HK$'000 HK$'000
FABT FA&TT

2022 2022 F
Trade debtors aged within 1 yearwitha B3t UK E 708 K& B 5 el z0a
gross amount of HK$36,887,000 e SR8 4 48 1 36,887,000 75 TC HY
recognised allowance for lease R R —FRNNE ZRIERR
and trade receivables
Trade debtors aged over 1 year but E RN ERIE KB 5 EYGRIE
not credit impaired with a gross of R B H5 48 (E.8,287,000 B TT Y
HK$8,287,000 recognised allowance BRIt R —FRTEEEREN
for lease and trade receivables B 5 EBERR
Trade debtors transferred to B AR 48 (H 155,000 # TTHY
credit-impaired with a gross FEEREEZERER
carrying amount of HK$155,000 (155)
Settlement in full of trade debtors with a  Z& &A% )5 BR I 42& 34,524,000 78 TTAY
gross carrying amount of HK$34,524,000 & 5 fE U BR 3% (1,100)
2021 2021 5
Trade debtors with a gross amount of B HLFEUTEE 7718 & E 5 FE U IR
HK$41,015,000 recognised allowance R4 E 41,015,000 78 TCHY
for lease and trade receivables B SRR 1,480 104
Trade debtors aged over 1 year but EREREERIERE S EWGRIA
not credit impaired with a gross of TR f5 4R (B0 3,818,000 B T Y
HK$3,818,000 recognised allowance BRiR R IR — FEWEEERED
for lease and trade receivables B 5 EBERR 295 =
Trade debtors transferred to R AA(E 26160008 THEE
credit-impaired with a gross REE 5 AR
carrying amount of HK$2,616,000 (2,616) 2,616
Settlement in full of trade debtors with a  Z& 81443 BE E 428 13,409,000 76 TT &)
gross carrying amount of HK$13,409,000 & 5 fEULBR X (1,357 (2,038)
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

30. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

b.

Financial risk management objectives and policies
(Continued)

Liquidity risk

In the management of the liquidity risk, the Group monitors
and maintains a level of cash and cash equivalents deemed
adequate by the management to finance the operations of
the Group, and mitigate the effects of fluctuations in cash
flows.

The following tables detail the Group's remaining contractual
maturity for its non-derivative financial liabilities. The tables
have been drawn up based on the undiscounted cash flows of
financial liabilities based on the earliest date on which the
Group can be required to pay. Specifically, borrowings with a
repayment on demand clause are included in the earliest time
band regardless of the probability of the banks choosing to
exercise their rights. The maturity dates for other non-
derivative financial liabilities are based on the agreed
repayment dates.

4o A

AR TSR M 5t

For the year ended 31 March 2022 & 2022 %3 A31 BIEFE

30. E@MIAE @)

b.

TREMEERBRRBE(E

RBE S E

BRBETABRNEEMS - AKE
ERMMREREERREANERE R
ReSEBWKFARREENEER
HES  WRERSREBHNTE -

TRAVAKEIFTES R A BN
TADNEEAE - BRZBEASEA
GESSENEN- SR A =R RS
BRARSRARE - RBME - 8
BREREFGFNERERERNES
MERARIA - THwiR1TA 2 AAI8E
BETERSOEN - RMOTES
BEEMNIHANGEERBRSE

Liquidity risk analysis BB EE ST
On
Weighted demand or Total
average less than More than undiscounted Carrying
interest rate 1year  1to2years 2years cash flows amounts
i RERS RAERRS
FF = PME 1-2% SR RELRE REE
% HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
% TEx TER TEx THx THx
31 March 2022 202243 /318
Non-derivative financial iabilities ~ FEfT4 & RAE
Trade and other payables B 5 R EMEMNTE
— interest-bearing —itE U 7,138 7,029
— non-interest bearing —%E 15,776 15,776
Borrowings & 29,551 27,695
Loans from a related company RE—HEBARZER 2,829 2,829
Other item HiER
Lease liabilities HEAE b 3,457 3,438

58,751

56,767
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AR TSR M 5

For the year ended 31 March 2022 #{Z= 2022 F3 A31 HILFE

30. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued) 30. €@ T HE ()
b. Financial risk management objectives and policies b. 2REAKREEBEERBEEEE)
(Continued)
Liquidity risk (Continued) REBESRERE (&)
Liquidity risk analysis (Continued) BB ER ST ()
On
Weighted demand or Total
average less than More than  undiscounted Carrying
interest rate 1 year 1102 years 2 years cash flows amounts
g REKRS KRR
TR = PRI1E 124 SRE MERE REE
% HKS'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HKS'000 HKS'000
% TER TR THT TEL THEL
31 March 2021 2021%3A31H
Non-derivative financial liabilities FHTECRAE
Trade and other payables 85 RAMEMNTE
— interest-bearing —E 360 7787 7138 - 14925 14438
— non-interest bearing —%E - 13,281 - - 13,281 13,281
Borrowings X 233 9630 - - 9,630 9630
Loans from a related company RE—BEBARZER 406 3,100 = = 3,100 3032
Other item HiIEE
Lease liabilities HEAR 39 3640 1,890 - 5530 5399
37438 9028 - 46,466 45,780
The Group's borrowings with a repayment on demand clause FHBIER ST (R ZE ke DR 16 |
are included in the "On demand or less than 1 year” time band FREAERFBEASETEEREX
in the above maturity analysis. At 31 March 2022, the carrying BIRUETRET  B20229F3H318 -
amounts of these borrowings amounted to HK$23,630,000 It & 16 5% 8 BR T (B /& 23,630,000% 7T
(2021: HK$9,630,000). (2021 4F : 9,630,000 7T)
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For the year ended 31 March 2022 &% 202243 A 31 B IEFE

30. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued) 30. EMIAE®)
b. Financial risk management objectives and policies b. £HEMREERBERBEKE)

(Continued)
Liquidity risk (Continued) REBESRER ()
Liquidity risk analysis (Continued) B A & BT (B)
Taking into account the Group’s financial position, the KERAEEBGBANE - EEHE
directors do not believe that it is probable that the RHF PR BA TR ENRIEEE
counterparties will exercise their discretionary rights to SKENERETR - EFREZFETHR
demand immediate repayment. The directors believe that BERIGRSTEENABES
such borrowings will be repaid in accordance with the ERABEEHN T :

scheduled repayment dates set out in the loan agreements,
details of which are set out in the table below:

Maturity Analysis — Borrowings subject to a repayment
on demand clause based on scheduled repayment dates
FHAS — BEEAREREBIER
REFETER B HNER

Total
Less than undiscounted Carrying

oneyear 1to2years 2to5years cashoutflows amounts
SRR

P E 1-2F 25 BHESKH fREE

HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$000

FET FET FHET FET FET

31 March 2022 2022%3A31H 11,616 7,334 6,366 25,316 23,630
31 March 2021 20213 A31H 7,293 2,672 - 9,965 9,630
The amounts included above for variable interest rate i) F B F R ) F Y B IR S ER R EE E
instruments for non-derivative financial liabilities are subject to MAZREABHEZE  AIE8ERE
change if changes in variable interest rates differ to those WMIETE SR ABEIPMNETANS
estimates of interest rates determined at the end of the HeBEMEE -

reporting period.
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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BB ISR M5

For the year ended 31 March 2022 # % 2022F 3 A31 HILFE

30. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

C.

Interest rate benchmark reform

As listed in note 22, the Group's HIBOR borrowing will be
subject to the interest rate benchmark reform. The Group is
closely monitoring the market and managing the transition to
new benchmark interest rates, including announcements
made by the relevant IBOR regulators.

HIBOR

Whilst the Hong Kong Dollar Overnight Index Average
("HONIA") has been identified as an alternative to HIBOR,
there is no plan to discontinue HIBOR. The multi-rate approach
has been adopted in Hong Kong, whereby HIBOR and HONIA
will co-exist.

The following table shows the total amounts of outstanding
bank borrowings and the progress in completing the
transition to alternative benchmark rates as at 31 March 2022.
The amounts of bank borrowings are shown at their carrying
amounts.

30. €M I E @)
« FMREERE

AN E 2258 - REB O EE

RITRI T B R EF T KA
BEHR - AEEIEETYEREMHYL
ERAMELENETNBE - 2FEHNE
BIRITREFR B RN EE#BEE LN
NI

BREBTRRFER

HAETRR IR (BIRBRF
BER) EEBFIAETBRITRENR
BEMERTR - BEAYETIR
LEBBRITRARFER - FE—EHR
RZEMETTE - EBRITRERS
R RATTREFEEE T -

TRETEHZ202F3 A31BAEES
fﬂfoETA?!gE&TDWﬂFE*ﬂJQ%Eg
FIEMEE - RITERESBIREER
B o

Carrying Transition progress for
Financial instruments prior to transition Maturing in amounts financial instruments
RT3l

BEMNERIA AHEIH REE SRIANBREER

HKS$'000

FET
Non-derivative financial liabilities
FOTESREE
Borrowings linked to HIBOR 2023 4,065  HIBOR will continue till maturity
EEBRITRIEF S REENER 2023 %F BRRITAFER DR GES

EEFHIASL
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For the year ended 31 March 2022 #ZE 2022F 3 A31 HILFE

30. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

d.

Fair value measurements of financial instruments
The fair value of financial assets other than deposit placed for
a life insurance policy and financial liabilities are determined in
accordance with generally accepted pricing models based on
a discounted cash flow analysis.

The directors of the Company consider that the carrying
amounts of financial assets and financial liabilities recorded at
amortised cost in the consolidated financial statements
approximate their fair values.

Fair value measurement recognised in the consolidated
statement of financial position

Deposit placed for a life insurance policy is measured at fair
value at the end of the reporting period.

The following table gives information about how the fair
values of these financial assets are determined (in particular,
the valuation technique(s) and inputs used), as well as the
level of the fair value hierarchy into which the fair value
measurements are categorised (levels 1 to 3) based on the
degree to which the inputs to the fair value measurements is
observable.

Level 1 fair value measurements are those quoted prices
(unadjusted) in active market for identical assets or
liabilities;

Level 2 fair value measurements are those derived from
inputs other than quoted prices included within Level 1,
that are observable for the asset or liability, either
directly (i.e. as prices) or indirectly (i.e. derived from
prices); and

Level 3 fair value measurements are those derived from
valuation techniques that include inputs for the asset or
liability that are not based on observable market data
(unobservable inputs).

30. €@ T HE (&)

d.

SRMIANAREE

éwﬂﬁ?éﬁi%rﬂ ERN A ETIRE
AREEBREARURRS RO TE

o

ARBEERRNGEUBRRIZE
HAASIENEREER SR AGR
EEREAAERE -

REEMBRAEREANDAETE

SRRERFS

E°

RN s BRI A S AR

TRARKRENBHEZSEREEN
RREETNTTEGERI—MAMGE
BRI REASE) AR AREBR -
BRAARBEAEFTEMRE AR
BHABRER  BAREAENER
(F—REE=) -

F—MANEFEXREREER
EXBREEEN S EARE

(RIGAE) HETT -
F_RAREFEREFE R

NEERBBEBEAREN
SN A BIRETT - BREBUE
ATHEEG L (ER) KEERF
H (AREEH) « &

F=RAREFEREBGHER
TET - BRI BRI IFIA
ABEMSRBEAEENEE
KBEEHABB(TAEHRE
AHIE) -
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 March 2022 # % 2022F 3 A31 HILFE

30. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued) 30. @EITHE %)
d. Fair value measurements of financial instruments d E£®RIAENAAREFE®E)
(Continued)
Fair value measurement recognised in the consolidated REEHBERRREINAAETE
statement of financial position (Continued) (&)
Financial assets in the Valuation
consolidated statement Fair value techniques and
of financial position Fair value as at hierarchy key inputs
REEHBRARNEREE RUTBEHARE AREEBR MHERGRIEBARE
2022 2021
2022 20215
Deposit placed for a life insurance Assets — Level 3 Discounted cash flows —
policy classified as financial assets HK$2,835,000 reference to expected cash
at FVTPL flows and applied appropriate
discount rate
SERABBBEREAAEYIRS BE— F=R ENREReRE — 8%
SREENSRRETR 2,835,000 7% 7T EHREREREER
31. OPERATING LEASING ARRANGEMENTS 31. KEHERH
The Group as lessor TEBREHEA
Income earned from leasing of equipment during the year is REAEE BHERBEMIRRUAR
HK$97,436,000 (2021: HK$101,873,000). Leases are negotiated on a 97,436,000 7T (2021 €F : 101,873,000 7T ) ©
monthly basis. HERAER -
Undiscounted lease payment receivable on leases are as follows: EAMSNRUCAREREENTAT ¢
2022 2021
2022 2021 F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FERT FHAT
Within one year —FR 2,937
In the second year F_F -
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

=N RS ey

For the year ended 31 March 2022 & 2022 %3 A31 BIEFE

32. CAPITAL COMMITMENTS 32. EXEE
2022 2021
2022 F 20214
HK$'000 HKS$'000
F#ET FAT
Capital expenditure in respect of the FEFTAVERNERE AR R ET
acquisition of property, plant and TR BRI Y -« W AR 1R
equipment contracted for but not H & ANB 2
provided in the consolidated
statement of financial statements 22,479 1,820
33. PLEDGE OF ASSETS 33. EEEH
The following assets were pledged to banks as securities to secure RBEMREERTRITERTEEME
the borrowings and facilities granted to the Group at the end of the BRERkREERRmEENT

reporting period:

2022 2021

2022 2021 4

HK$'000 HK$'000

FHET FAT

Property, plant and equipment L E T YN 6,921 8,602
Deposit placed for a life insurance policy SR EF K 2,919 2,835

Pledged bank deposit BEIRMIRITIF X 360 360

10,200 11,797

TRAEEEEARAE /2022 FE] 181




NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

AR TSR M 5

For the year ended 31 March 2022 &= 202263 A31 HILFE

34. RELATED PARTY DISCLOSURES 34. BHLIE
Other than as disclosed elsewhere, during the year the Group BREMIMOMABEREREN  RAFE - K&E
entered into the following transactions with related parties in which B TEFHEEnEa AT
some directors have beneficial interests: THRS :
2022 2021
2022 F 20215
A subsidiary of A subsidiary of
A shareholder ashareholder of A shareholder a shareholder of
of the Company the Company of the Company the Company
P /NG| iN/NC]
—EREN —HRER
KAR—BRE —ENEAR VA E MEAR
HK$'000 HK$'000 HKS'000 HK$'000
FET BT FHET FET
Interest expenses FEF% 613 -
Other service income H AR A - 126
Storage income 2EFBA - 429
Expenses recharge (a7 - 62
Freight charge BERY 139 -
Short term lease expenses 7 &8t A4 49 55 EA
in respect of rented REMX
machinery - 6
Purchases of inventories LR E = 2,048
Acquisition of property, Y EE¥EE - MR K%
plant and equipment B 2,642 2,635
Balances with related parties are disclosed in the consolidated B 7 iR N R A B ISR R 3R SR AR BB 5T
statement of financial position and related notes. KRR o
The Company's key management personnel are the directors and ARARNFEZEEEBAERESE MES
their remunerations are included in the emoluments disclosed in RS A AMRE 11 TR R HEN -
note 11.
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AR TSR M 5t

For the year ended 31 March 2022 &%= 202243 31 HItFE

35. RECONCILIATION OF LIABILITIES ARISINGFROM 35. RIEEEIEANEEYHE

FINANCING ACTIVITIES
The table below details changes in the Group's liabilities arising from TRIMAEBEAREEDELNAEY
financing activities, including both cash and non-cash changes. FFE BEREKIEREEEH - ES
Liabilities arising from financing activities are those for which cash PELINAEREHARERERRKRE S
flows were, or future cash flows will be, classified in the Group's MEERBRAEELGABEESRERT D
consolidated statement of cash flows as cash flows from financing HARESEHMERETENAE -
activities.
Trade
payable- Loans from
interest arelated Lease
bearing Borrowings company liabilities Total
RE—HE
STEES BA A 7
P RRIE B ZEX HESE wst
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HKS$'000 HK$'000
FHIT FHT FHT T FHT
At 1 April 2020 M2020F 4818 18,475 23,164 4,393 7,284 53,316
Financing cash flows RERESRE (8,444) (14,268) (1,554) (3,565) (27,831)
Finance costs MEKR 657 734 177 255 1,823
Changes in working capital 4184 4 £ &) 3,750 - - - 3,750
New lease entered ¥l - - - 1,425 1,425
Exchange realignment TS - - 16 - 16
At 31 March 2021 7202143 8318 14,438 9,630 3,032 5399 32,499
Financing cash flows MERSRE (7,788) 17,479 (398) (3,971) 5322
Finance costs BMEMKA 379 586 86 136 1,187
New lease entered ¥elE - - = 1,874 1,874
Exchange realignment (R - - 109 - 109
At 31 March 2022 R2022%F3A31H 7,029 27,695 2,829 3,438 40,991




NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
BB HmERMNEE

For the year ended 31 March 2022 # % 2022F 3 A31 HILFE

I\\/T\

36. PARTICULARS OF SUBSIDIARIES
Particulars of the Company’s subsidiaries as at 31 March 2022 and 31

36. MIBARRIFE

R2022%3 A31HKR2021 3 A31H » AR

March 2021 were as follows: GGG ONE
Place of Issued and
incorporation/ fully paid ordinary
registration/ share capital/
Name of subsidiaries operation registered capital Equity interests attributable to the Group Principal activities
BEARAR
EMAL/ LERE/
HWEAR AR B/ EEny AfRA FEEELRE TEEH
Directly Indirectly
B 583
2022 2021 2022 2021
2022F EIEN 20227 kS
AP Rentals (BVI) Holdings Limited  British Virgin Islands USs2 100% - Investment holding
AP Rentals (BV)) Holdings Limited ~ XBRZEE e REER
AP Rentals Limited Hong Kong HK$27,378,000 = 100%  Investment holding, trading and leasing
of equipment, and provision of leased
related operating and other related
services
ERABEERAR i 273780008 T RERR EFREER
MR HEE RS ﬂE&
Rt RRART
AP Equipment Leasing and Macau MOP25,000 - 100%  Leasing of equipment
Engineering Limited
SEARBRAERTE 2P 25000 &M HERB
BRAR
AP Equipment Rentals Singapore SGD100,000 100% - Trading and leasing of equipment, provision
(Singapore) Pte. Ltd. of lease related operating and other
re\ated services
AP Equipment Rentals o 100000 ¥T AT ERHERE  REBEREN
(Singapore) Pte. Ltd. M’E&HWEE’ZHE%
AP Rentals China (BVI) British Virgin Islands US$2 100% - Inactive
Holdings Limited
AP Rentals China (BV/) ABRUHES ES IEEH
Holdings Limited
AP Power Limited Hong Kong HK$10,000 - 100%  Provision of mobile electricity supplies and
solutions and relevant commodities and
accessories and short-term leasing of
equipment
GBAENERAR BB 1000077 RERBHEERRALRARABER
Bl D REHHERE
AP Rentals (China) Limited Hong Kong HK$10,000 - 100%  Inactive
SEARE(RE)BRRE  ER 1000077 TELT
AP Rentals (Shanghai) Limited*  The PRC 152,100,000 - 100%  Leasing of equipment
DRARRTEMM(LE)  hE 2,100000% 7T HERE

BRAH

None of the subsidiaries had issued any debt securities at the end of

the reporting period.

* The subsidiary is a wholly foreign owned enterprise.
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